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CORPORATE PROFILE

Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (“Wuling Motors
Holdings” or the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally
engaged in the businesses of trading and
manufacturing of automotive components, vehicles’
power supply systems and commercial vehicles
assembly. Our Group’s corporate goal is to grasp the
tremendous business opportunities arising from the
rapidly growing global automobile supply chain
industry. We supply power supply products and
automotive components to commercial vehicles and
passenger vehicles. We also manufacture and supply
different types of commercial vehicles, including new
energy vehicles in China. The Group’s main production
facilities are located in Liuzhou, Qingdao, Chongqing,
Jingmen, Nanning, India and Indonesia. We have also
been recognized as one of the Global Top 100
Enterprises of Automotive Components Suppliers.
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PREFACE

In 2023, due to the impact from the extremely
complicated international situations, the reduction in
subsidies for new-energy vehicles in China, the decline in
consumer demand and the stiffer competition in the
automobile market, the Group responded quickly, made
continuous improvements and took various measures to
satisfy and serve the market on one hand, and proactively
sought new opportunities in the electrification and
lightweight market on the other, aimed at continuously
developing in the direction of high-end, intelligent and
green. In addition, the Group had also actively formulated
measures to improve quality and efficiency, diligently
carried out programmes to reduce costs and increase
efficiency, with a view to improving profitability on a
month-by-month basis. Our business generally remained
stable in 2023, with a total revenue of RMB10,483,933,000,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 16.8%. However,
with the exception of the commercial vehicle assembly
division that suffered a decline in business volume due to
the restructuring and business strategy adjustment and the
vehicles’ power supply systems division experienced
certain decline in business volume as a result of the delay
in customers’ orders, the automotive components division
managed to remain stable in business volume in spite of
the adversity.
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REVIEW OF WORK IN 2023

In 2023, the Group proactively responded to unexpected
challenges and changes, centered on the business
strategy of “stabilizing growth and enhancing efficiency”,
adhered to the general tone of “seeking progress while
stabilizing, making progress while making progress, and
promoting high-quality development”, and grasped the
critical window of transformation and upgrading of the
automobile industry, so as to accelerate the accumulation
of new impetus for development, and the continuous
improvement of the quality standard of its operations.

1. Actively opening up markets and establishing a
new development pattern for the components
and parts business

Amid intensified market competition and the decline
in production and sales volumes of SAIC-GM-Wuling,
our major customer, the Group’s components and
parts division adjusted its industrial structure, gradually
shifted to mid-to-high-end components and parts
and developed expanding markets based on a
market-driven strategy. In line with our major
customer SAIC-GM-Wuling in continuously upgrading
its “passenger” and “electric” models, the Group
followed suit to develop passenger vehicle products
and focused on providing supporting products for
new-energy models for the major customer. In
addition, active efforts were made to optimise our
customer composition and continuously exploring
expanding markets, such as Great Wall, Dongfeng
Sokon, Beiqi Foton and Hozon. The Jingmen
production base in Hubei, which engaged in
supporting Great Wall Motor, had gradually
proceeded mass production for 22 new products of
its three new models, of which more than 50% of the
products sold in 2023 were supporting new energy
models, and achieved profitability in 2023. The Hozon
business in Nanning recorded revenue growth in
2023. During the year, our subsidiary in Indonesia
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successfully obtained the business of South Korea’s
Hyundai Motor. Since September, the subsidiary met
the requirements of supplying supporting products,
which brought about steady increases in the business
volume. Thirdly, we had also cultivated new quality
productivity and strived to transform it into new
development momentum. The first domestic ultra-
high-strength steel pipe hot air inflation molding
production line aiming at complying with the
automotive safety regulations and providing solutions
to the “neck” technical difficulties, such as vehicle
lightweight and other industrial issues for technical
realization and transformation had started
commercialisation during the year. Orders from
customers, including the Great Wall, BYD and other
companies, with a total number of more than a
dozen hot air inflation products have been
undertaken in 2023, from which the mass production
of the key components of China’s own brand of high-
end car models was realised. The automotive
components division achieved revenue of
approximately RMB6,129,795,000 in 2023, representing
a slight increase of 1.4% as compared to previous
year.

Taking multiple measures and making
innovations to accelerate the transformation and
upgrading of the powertrain system business

In 2023, the vehicles’ power supply systems division
made active efforts on the research, development
and mass production of engines with high thermal
efficiency and new-energy powertrain systems,
creating a product pattern that integrates the
upgrading of conventional powertrains with the
development of new-energy powertrains. First of all,
the Group continued to actively promote the mass
production of M20A, M20B and other high-themal-
efficiency engines and hybrid systems for our major
customer SAIC-GM-Wuling. The division sold
approximately 124,000 units in 2023. Secondly, we
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tapped into the effective demand in expanding
markets, continuously increased the proportion of
existing mature powertrains sold externally, and
stepped up efforts to explore the expanding markets
like Foton Ollin, Chang’an Kuayue, Dongfeng Haima,
JAC and SAIC Maxus, especially focusing on the
gasoline light-duty and mini truck market. Sale
volume for expanding markets amounted to
approximately 122,000 units in 2023. At the same
time, we also strived to promote the sales growth of
small capacity engines. Thirdly, the fast-growing
casting business became a new growth point. During
the year, a new production line with production
capacity of 600,000 cylinder head roughcast units
per year was completed and started operation. Sale
volume of castings products amounted to 940,000
units in 2023, exceeding the original estimate and
representing a year-on-year increase of
approximately 35%. Finally, Wuling Liuji actively
upgraded to zero-emission and high-efficiency
engines, and achieved major breakthroughs in the
engine products. The 2023 H-series ultra-high-
efficiency engines, methanol engines, and hydrogen
internal combustion engines were successfully
ignited, which facilitated our transformation,
upgrading and green development. The vehicles’
power supply systems division achieved revenue of
approximately RMB2,479,958,000 in 2023, representing
a decrease of 14.4% as compared to previous year.
Nevertheless, the engine business performed solidly,
with sale volume of 246,000 units for 2023,
representing a year-on-year rise of 7.0%.
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Tapping potential, enriching products, and
seeking new breakthroughs in the specialised
vehicle business

Sale volume of refitted vehicles went down due to
the downturn in the automobile industry, the request
for registration of large-tonnage light trucks marked
with small tonnages, the RDE (Real Drive Emission)
directive, and certain repositioning strategies
Nevertheless, the Group’s commercial vehicle
assembly division continued to make further presence
in market segments and expanded our high-value-
added vehicle models. The division promoted
competitive products in domestic and international
markets and sought development opportunities
abroad. Refrigerated trucks, sanitation vehicles, fire
fighting trucks and other high-value specialty vehicles
were delivered to Yunnan, Chongqging, Qingdao and
other places. Wuling sightseeing vehicles, golf carts
and other products were exported to countries
including Vietham and Singapore, Thailand, the USA,
and Australia. Wuling sightseeing vehicles served the
19th Asian (Para) Games Hangzhou and the first
(2023) Student (Youth) Games, two important national
events, which had opened up the field of smart
transportation services integrating drivers, vehicles
and operations. Besides, guided by market demand,
the Group strengthened our capability to customise
speciality products and launched self-developed C
type standing trucks, an upgraded modern stall tool,
which can be customised into luosifen trucks, BBQ
trucks and drink carriers, aiming to meet the diverse
needs of users and explore different operation
models. In the meantime, the division actively
developed the commissioned refitting business of
Foton Xiangling, and successfully completed the
assembling and mass production in 2023. Moreover,
we also successfully delivered the first batch of
intelligent mobile energy storage electric vehicles
with chassis by wire to Taiwan, extending our business
to the field of low-speed intelligent driving. The
commercial vehicle assembly division achieved
revenue of approximately RMB1,838,271,000 in 2023.
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Seizing new opportunities to expand markets
and opening up a new chapter in the new
energy industry

In respect of the new-energy vehicle business, the
Group actively expanded the business of key
components and parts for new energy vehicles, and
had successfully developed and optimised electric
rear axles, motors, electric control systems, range
extenders, hybrid power systems and other products.
After the production and sales of more than 1 million
units of micro electric car axles, the coaxial electric
drive axle was begun to supply to Changan
Kaicheng, Ruichi, Jianghuai and other car
manufacturers, taking the lead in commercialization
in China. Meanwhile, we also obtained orders of
electric car axles from the leading car manufacturers
such as Chery and Geely for their mainstream new
energy commercial vehicles. At the same time, our
engine module business also completed a product
layout of “traditional power technology upgrade +
new energy power integrated development”. The first
reducer assembly for passenger vehicles was mass-
produced and delivered to a main customer in June
2023, demonstrating the upgrade and lightweight
transformation from structural components to the
core components of the drive assembly for passenger
vehicles’ chassis and further accelerating the
electrification. The Group made response to our
major customer’s “1, 2 and 5" project (1 laboratory, 2
million all-electric vehicles and hybrid vehicles, and 5
10-billion-yuan industry clusters), developed electric
drive axles and range extenders for JAC and BAIC
Qingdao, and pushed forward the electrification of
the commercial vehicles of existing customers.

Meanwhile, Wuling New Energy, an associate of the
Group, was affected by the decline in subsidies for
new-energy vehicles, the continuous shrinkage of its
major product segments, resulting in the weaker-than-
expected sales volume in new-energy vehicles
(mainly new-energy logistics vehicles). In this context,
Wuling New Energy actively promoted brand
upgrading, further enriched the new-energy vehicle
product line and expanded key components and
parts for new-energy vehicles. It took multiple
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measures to seek development. It launched a new
product brand called LINXYS, marking the start of a
comprehensive brand upgrade in the hybrid truck
market. Brand upgrade empowered its strategic
development. Additionally, Wuling New Energy
enriched its new-energy vehicle product line, as a
continuous effort to expand domestic and overseas
markets. New products, including LINXYS Gold Truck
and its modified vehicles and LINXYS Gold Van, have
been launched in the growing small truck and
medium-sized vehicle markets. It has also increased
exports to countries and regions, such as the USA,
Europe and Japan, to compensate for the negative
impact of the decline in domestic sale volume due to
the reduction of subsidies. In 2023, the annual sale
volume of new energy logistics vehicles exceeded
10,000 vehicles.

WORK PLAN FOR 2024

Consolidating our competitive strength and
accelerating the layout for the new
development

In review of the past development, the Group has
accumulated ample competitive advantages in the
industry. As a corporation in the automobile industry
in Guangxi with the most complete and
comprehensive industrial chain, we are having the
leading comparative advantages in the mechanical
automobile manufacturing in Guangxi and even the
entire southwest China. Our thermal expansion
technology and full-process and fully independent
spiral bevel gear development capabilities are
among the first tier in the country. Our engine
inteligent manufacturing factory has also passed the
national new generation information technology and
manufacturing integrated development pilot
demonstration certification. At the same time, the
business layout of our power systems, auto parts and
commercial vehicles as supported by our
comprehensive and complete types of products,
essentially provides a synergistic effect in the
industrial chain.
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These comparative advantages have promoted the
development of the Group in terms of products,
quality, cost and scale, and have created a solid
barrier to our resistance from the fierce competition
and winds of the market, which allow us to be
recognized by increasing number of customers,
laying a solid foundation for future sustainable
development. In 2024, the Group will apply these
comparative advantages to continue in
consolidating our competitive strength for
development, forming the high-tech content and
core competitiveness of our high-end fist parts
products, increasing market expansion of high-value
specialized modified vehicles and actively
developing new energy key components and new
energy vehicle business, for accelerating the
construction of a new development pattern.

With the goal of green low-carbon transformation
and high-quality development, in 2024, more electric
car axles and hybrid engines and other core
components will continue to be produced and
launched, in which new business frontiers such as
rotors and battery shells are worth looking forward to,
whereas, high-thermal efficiency engines and new
energy power systems will be further improved and
upgraded. The Group would conscientiously grasp
the technology research and development, improve
product quality and actively develop the market,
based on a comprehensive consideration of target
customer’s product full-life cycle, firmly develop
business segment of new energy vehicles in reaching
the exceeding 50% goals of our business from the
new energy business.
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Accelerating globalization through appropriate
localization

In the wave of electrification of the global
automobile industry, Chinese automobile enterprises
are striving to be the first, and we are not to be
outdone. In the past few years, the Group has
accelerated the pace of going overseas, and our
branch companies in India and Indonesia have
continued to deepen their efforts to actively promote
the localization of new models listed on the market
with major customers, expanding the number of
incremental customers in a fruitful manner, and
bringing our products up to the corresponding
international standard level. Products such as Wuling
sightseeing cars and golf carts have been exported
to Vietnam, Singapore, Thailand, the United States,
Australia and other countries, whereas new energy
logistics vehicles have entered the United States,
Japan, Europe and other traditional automobile
powerhouses regions, which has laid a solid
foundation for us to expand the international market.
In 2024, the Group will further enrich our product lines,
and more parts and components products are
expected to go abroad, so that our vehicles will be
seen in more places around the world. We will also
vigorously develop the international market and
utilize Hong Kong, China as the export channel for
the Group’s new energy business, so as to increase
the overseas export sales volume of new energy
vehicles of the Group and our associated
companies.
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Digging deeper into our potential to
continuously improve the quality of our
operations

Based on a summary of the achievements in the
three-year action plan for the SOE reform at early
stage, the Group will take into account the actual
operation and build an efficiency and benefit-
oriented operation and management mechanism,
strengthen the Party’s leadership in improving
corporate governance, deepen the three-system
reform, improve the quality and effectiveness of the
tenure system and contractual management,
optimise the differentiated performance assessment
and compensation distribution systems, further
improve the organisational structure system and
operation process of our business divisions, optimise
the allocation of internal resources, strengthen
process management and work coordination, push
forward with the fine corporate management, and
enhance the internal vitality and efficiency.

In terms of cost control, the Group will continuously
deepen the “Three Containments”, strengthen total
budget management and enhance refined cost
control. We will strengthen internal management,
optimise the supplier, manufacturing and other
systems, work out reasonable measures and set targets
for cost reduction and efficiency enhancement to
improve operational efficiency and strive for greater
profit margins. In the meantime, the Group will take
measures to integrate business resources and optimise
our labour cost management system. Additionally, the
Group will also step up efforts on the governance of
loss-making companies and seriously adopt a
company-specific approach for loss control.

Enhancing risk control to promote healthy
development

The Group will optimise our collective decision-
making management method and decision-making
list, improve the rules and management systems of
the management, the Party committee and the
board of directors, and promote the establishment
and optimisation of our comprehensive risk
management system. Based on the development
strategy and overall business objectives, we will
establish and improve the comprehensive risk
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management system and operation mechanism that
integrates “risk, process, system, authorisation and
evaluation”. Total budget management will be
conducted and level-to-level control will be carried
out to ensure the realisation of business objectives.
The Group will intensify our efforts to collect accounts
receivable and clear inventory, control debt risks,
tighten control over material risks, and curb the
occurrence of material risk events.

In pursuit of development in a changing environment and
market presents both opportunities and brand-new
challenges. Looking forward to 2024, the Group will make
great achievements in effectively improving the core
competitiveness of the enterprise, accelerating the
development of new productive forces, actively
expanding overseas business and improving global
operating capabilities. While spending conscientious
efforts in promoting the market valuation of the Group, we
would further vigorously improve our management quality
and values of investment proposition, aiming at sharing
our development goals and benefits in the industry with
shareholders.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

REREFE

Yuan Zhijun
REE
Chairman

E2

27 March, 2024
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VEHICLES’ POWER SUPPLY SYSTEMS

Total revenue (based on external sales) of the vehicles’
power supply systems division for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB2,479,958,000, which was
moderately decreased as compared to previous year.

Total number of engines, including the engines applied for
the hybrid power supply systems sold by the subsidiaries,
primarily Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors Company Limited
(“Wuling Liuji”), for the year was approximately 246,000
units, representing a slight increase of approximately 7.0%
as compared to previous year. The business volume was
mainly contributed by the new models of engines and
other power supply systems for the fuel engine vehicles,
whereas, contribution of the products attributable to the
new energy vehicles remained small, because of the
delays of the launches of the new models by the
automobile customers.

Facing the prevailing tough and competitive operating
environment, the division has been committed to
implementing measures to control its operating costs and
expenses. In 2023, the division was able to maintain its
profitable performance and recorded an operating profit
of RMB25,686,000 for the year, as compared to an
operating profit of RMB30,155,000 in 2022.

OPERATION REVIEW
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During the year, sales to SGMW, our core customer in the
vehicles’ power supply systems division, amounted to
approximately RMB1,342,526,000, representing a decrease
of approximately 25.3% as compared to previous year.
Amongst which, a significant portion of the revenue was
generated from the sales of the M20B high thermal
efficiency engine which launched in 2023, whereas, the
rest was mainly attributable to the new energy vehicle’s
business, which covered the sale revenue from the hybrid
power supply systems and the electric motor control
system and related components.

Meanwhile, sales to other customers, which comprised
mainly sales of the engine sets to Foton Motors, SAIC
Maxus, Dongfeng Motor and Chang’an Automobile, etc
and the engine’s cylinder components for BYD, were
moderately increased to approximately RMB1,137,432,000
for the year, and accounted for approximately 45.9% of
the total revenue of this division. The sales were mainly
contributed from the successful launches of new products
to the customers. Among them, the division actively
tapped into the incremental market demand and
expanded the proportion of existing mature models of
powertrains selling to other customers, with a volume of
122,000 units sold in the markets of other customers. The
division had also promoted the growth of sales of small
capacity engines during the year.

Facing the imminent shift of the automobile industry in

China focusing on new energy vehicles, the division has
formulated strategy in positioning itself as a
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multidimensional vehicles’ power supply system supplier,
which has completed a product layout of “traditional
power technology upgrade + new energy power
integrated development”. On one hand, the division will
continue to develop high efficiency and low emission
engines to the traditional fuel engine vehicles’
manufacturer. Meanwhile, it would also promote its
products, including engines, electric motor control system
and related components for the electric vehicles, as well
as different types of hybrid model vehicles. For instances,
out of the 22 key business development projects
implemented in 2023, 9 of which were specifically
targeted at the new energy vehicles segment.

At the same time, the division pursued upgrading
measures on zero-emission and high-efficiency. With the
successful completion of the new generation of H-series
ultra-high-efficiency engines, methanol engines and
hydrogen internal combustion engines, marked the
successful development of the Group’s alcohol-hydrogen-
oil-gas multi-fuel engine platform, which is the first of its
kind in China, and represents a step forward of the Group
in realizing the goal of “Double Carbon”.

OPERATION REVIEW
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Considering the dynamic business environment and the
strengthening of the competitiveness in the market, over
the past few years, in implementing the production
capacity expansion programmes, special emphasis has
been placed by the division on the scalability of the
production facilities such that the production and
economic efficiency could be maintained in serving the
market demands from different types of customers
notwithstanding their different range of models and size of
orders.

To further expand the product range and to achieve
higher technical capability, Wuling Liuji has actively
undertaken development projects for the production of
the upgraded high efficiency and low emission engine
products in serving different needs of the customers,
especially targeting at the passenger vehicles as well as
the new energy vehicles segment. In addition to the
upgrading projects which are implemented for the
regulatory compliance policies, enhancement projects for
the existing models and the new models are also
formulated aiming at expanding our customer bases in
the commercial and passenger vehicles segment.
Following the scale operation of the newly developed
high thermal efficiency Atkinson engines of the division
during the year, the market position of Wuling Liuji has
been further strengthened by having a comprehensive
range of products ranging from 1.0L to 2.0L with the
essential vertical integration elements, i.e., the in-house
manufacturing of the foundry components, where a new
600,000 cylinder head roughcast units production line was
completed and started operational in June 2023. Sale of
castings products in 2023 amounted to 940,000 units,
representing an increase of 35% on a year-on-year basis.

In terms of products, the M20B high thermal efficiency
engine developed by Wuling Liuji has been successfully
launched to the market in 2023 and has become the main
stream products of the division in applying on a number of
vehicle models of the customers. The division is confident
this business momentum from the M20B will continue in the
coming years and will contribute to the business
performance of the division.

Meanwhile, the high-efficiency and cost effective HEV
hybrid assembly units developed by Wuling Liuji has also
gradually gained orders from customers. The launch of the
HEV hybrid assembly units marked the successful
breakthrough of the division from a traditional fuel engine
manufacturer to a multi-dimensional vehicles’ power
system supplier extending to the business segment of
different types of new energy vehicle. Through the
construction of the core development capabilities of the
two electric motors (motors and motor controllers), the
division has laid out a comprehensive plan for power
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integration products which covers the platform of HEV,
PHEV, REEV, and BEV technical routes, from which
advanced, efficient, and fuel-efficient hybrid drive system
products would be developed in accordance with the
needs of the automobile manufacturers. As compared
with traditional fuel engine vehicles with same level of
capacity, based on initial study, fuel consumption of the
division’s HEV hybrid solution could have a saving of more
than 30%.

As mentioned eatrlier, the market launch of the division’s
HEV hybrid solution has also enable the Group to be
recognized as the first supplier in the Guangxi region
having the hybrid power integration capabilities
empowered by its the three main components’ production
and technical capabillity, i.e., engine, electric motor, and
motor controller system. Indeed, the division inaugurated
the launch of its HEV hybrid solution with an encouraging
reception from the market.

Driven by the business opportunities from the development
trend of the “New Four Modernization” in the automotive
industry, coupled with the long standing business position
in the vehicle’s engines segment, the Group is confident
that the profitability of the vehicles’ power supply systems
division would be continued in the coming years.

Going forward, the division will continue to focus on the
research and development, as well as the marketing
programmes of its existing and new products, including
the products applicable for the new energy vehicles, so as
to maintain its competitiveness in this market segment. The
Group believes the increasing applications of the
successfully launched higher-end models to the vehicles
(including new energy vehicles) of SGMW and other new
customers, including the Group’s associates, Liuzhou
Wuling New Energy Motors Company Limited (“Wuling
New Energy”) and the introduction of other new higher-
end products will enhance the business potential and the
technical capability of the division, which will contribute to
its profitability in the coming years.
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AUTOMOTIVE COMPONENTS AND OTHER
INDUSTRIAL SERVICES

Total revenue (based on external sales) of the automotive
components and other industrial services division for the
year ended 31 December 2023 was RMB6,129,795,000,
representing a slight increase of approximately 1.4% as
compared to previous year, which was mainly due to
growing businesses contributed by the new customers
despite a decrease in the business volume from SGMW as
affected by the tough and keen competitive business
environment during the year.

Meanwhile, resulting from the positive factors of a lower
cost of raw materials and cost control measures, where
the division’s expenditures in the aspects of primarily
general and administrative, and research and
development had been effectively contained, profitability
performance of the division was further improved from
which an operating profit of RMB91,444,000 was recorded
for the year, representing a significant increase of
approximately 73.4% as compared to the results in 2022.

OPERATION REVIEW
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The automotive components and other industrial services
division, undertaken by our subsidiary, Liuzhou Wuling
Motors Industrial Company Limited (“Wuling Industrial”),
continued to be the key supplier for supplying a majority
portion of the key automotive components to SGMW,
including their EV models. During the year, sales to SGMW
through the Group or our associated companies,
comprised the range of products including the brake and
the chassis assembly components, car axles, body parts,
interior and exterior trims such as, seat sets, cockpits,
bumpers, etc, experienced a moderate decrease as a
result of the general unfavourable business condition, but
continued to contribute to a significant portion of the
revenue of the division and the associated companies.
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For further expansion and diversification, the division
continued to undertake various business expansion
programmes in promoting its components to other
customers such as Great Wall Motors, Beigi Foton Motors,
Chery Automobile, Dongfeng Sokon, etc, which were
progressing satisfactorily during the year and were able to
register a mild increase as compared to previous year.
During the year under review, sales to expanding
customers were steadily increased to more than
RMB2,300,000,000 and accounted for approximately 38%
of the total revenue of the division.

With our long and established industry experiences, the
automotive components and other industrial services
division of the Group has accumulated the comparative
advantage of a leading mechanical automotive
manufacturer in Guangxi and even the entire southwest
China. Our capability in supplying a wide range of
products provides a one-stop shop services to the
customers, whereas, the scalability of its production
facilities ensures the particular needs of our customers can
be properly taken care of. At the same time, the division
has continued to develop in the direction of high-end,
intelligent and green, and actively explored the market,
and has achieved stage-by-stage results.

Meanwhile, as explained above, through continuous
efforts of market diversification, the division actively made
unremitting efforts in optimizing our product and customer
structure, firmly grasped the opportunities from the trend
of automobile transformation to the new energy era, and
put utmost effort on the added value of products to open
up the market of high-end car models and new energy
car models. The initial responses from these diversification
projects were all encouraging. After the production and
sales of over one million units of micro-electric car axles,
the division further consolidated its advantages in
traditional fuel axles and optimized the performance of
electric car axles. Being the exclusive supplier of subframe,
rear torsion beam and speed reducer products of SGMW's
star product, Wuling Splendid, the division has also swiftly
realised the steps of commercialisation through supplying
its coaxial electric drive axle to Changan, Ruichi, JAC and
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other automobile enterprises. Meanwhile, we also
obtained orders of electric car axles from the leading car
manufacturers such as Chery and Geely for their
mainstream new energy commercial vehicles. While the
drum EPB has been nationalized, the in-line control
product has also made a breakthrough from 0 to 1, which
product has been installed in Foton and is expected to
achieve break through to mass production. The front and
rear axles for pickup trucks and non-load-bearing SUVs
have also been mass-produced in mainstream markets
such as Great Wall and Foton. For instances, the multilink
silent high-end integral fuel axle was firstly used in high-end
pickup trucks such as the Tank series.

Over the past few years, the Group has taken strategic
steps in the PRC to transform from a single production
point operation in Liuzhou into an interprovincial
production group with facilities in Guangxi, Shandong,
Chongging and Hubei in accomplishing a synchronized
expansion and improvement in terms of corporate size
and core competitiveness, meanwhile establishing a
sound foundation for the Group’s business growth and
sustainable development in the future, at the back of the
division’s current consolidated annual production capacity
of more than 2 million units of automotive components.

24

R 237 & SHNFEMBEEE TR
e REAEEYREER F S EPBER
BIE(L - AR¥2 I B ah 71 B 3R (0B 1A SRS -
EERARERE FERWEBE KR
AFH A SUVHIRET - RBEMCEERY 2 H
EXIRMESEERA -MZENTHFENS N
ERAMMBEEHIERRIEFRHM R

RBEHF AEEERPERNBE TSR
NEWMNNE - LCERKEEERERBEE
EEE RNEA LR BEEMAILRETIR
BREZ D MRERBBEE00E5ETEHTH
HHEAFEEBTEE REXRE K
DEF AT ERGRE SRR & ER HTF
B RARERENEBERRAFERR
BERBERER-



AEREEMERERAT > — S5 5K

To further extending its products and services to other
customers, the Group has also recently set up production
facilities in Jingmen, in the Hubei province. The production
facilities in Jingmen which has started operational in the
second half of 2022 is primarily set up for supplying
automotive components to another prominent car
manufacturer, Great Wall Motors, of which more than 50%
of the products sold in 2023 were supplied for the new
energy models, which is expected to have promising
business potential.
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The division is also committed to promptly congregating
the new momentum driven by new industries, new formats
and new models to support and spearhead our business
goal of high quality development. The Group possesses a
full range of manufacturing technologies including
casting, machining, heat treatment, stamping, welding,
spraying and assembling, which are of leading standards.
In terms of stamping process, which is one of the car body
manufacturing technologies, the division has been
awarded the “High-end CNC Machine Tools and Basic
Manufacturing Equipment” by the Ministry of Industry and
Information Technology of the People’s Republic of China
through competition. The first domestic production line for
the thermal inflation molding of ultra-high-strength steel
tubes was completed in 2020, which filled the gaps in the
domestic market and solve the industry’s “stranglehold”
technological problems. In terms of processing, the division
has the ability to develop the whole process of fully
independent spiral bevel gears, recognised as a first tier
standard in the country. The engine intelligent
manufacturing plant has also passed the national new
generation of information technology and manufacturing
industry integration development pilot demonstration
certification, in which only three operators were required
in the cylinder block cylinder head workshop, where its
processing accuracy and the degree of intelligence is
remarkable. The Group’s manufacturing quality has
reached the higher standards of the international
automobile enterprises, while at the same time enjoying
an advantage from the cost perspective.
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Meanwhile, the Group’s overseas production plants in
Indonesia and India continued to deliver sets of
satisfactory results for the year. Benefited from the growing
demands from customers, the production plant in
Indonesia, which comprises a number of welding,
stamping and assembly production lines for
manufacturing of the automotive components for the rear
suspension, front axle parts of vehicles continued to
generate a profitable result in the year 2023. The Group is
optimistic that being the fourth largest population country
in the world and in consideration of its recent economic
development, there is great business potential for the
automobile industry in Indonesia and considers that the
business performance of the Group’s automotive
components businesses in Indonesia will continue to
benefit from this positive business environment.

The production plant of the Group in India, which has a
smaller scale of operation and targeted for the
automotive component business of a renowned PRC car
manufacturer also continued to maintain its profitability in
the year 2023.

Looking ahead, the automotive components division will
actively support the transformation of medium- and high-
end vehicles and new energy vehicles, continue to
optimize the customer structure, comprehensively consider
the early deployment of the entire life cycle of the target
customer products from the whole series of car models,
pay close attention to technological research and
development, improve product quality, and actively open
up markets, to ensure the transformation and upgrading in
achieving a substainable and healthy development.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLES ASSEMBLY

Total revenue (based on external sales) of the commercial
vehicles assembly division undertaken by Wuling Industrial
for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB1,838,271,000, representing a significant decrease of
approximately 49.2% as compared to previous year.

During the year, business volume of the commercial
vehicles assembly division has been adversely affected by
the general unfavourable economic environment at
which the market demand was severely weak. Apart from
this, completion of the restructure exercise of the business
of the Group’s new energy vehicles in late 2022, where the
assembly business of the Group’s new energy vehicles
were transferred to the Group’s associate, Wuling New
Energy, and the Group’s repositioning strategy on the
refitted vehicles since the second half of 2023, where the
Group began to focus more on the modification services
had also resulted in a direct reduction of the business
volume of the division.

During the year under review, Wuling Industrial sold
approximately 33,800 different models of vehicles,
representing a significant decrease of 50.0% as compared
to the sale volume of 67,600 as reported in 2022. Amongst
which, the sale volume of refitted vehicles and other types
of vehicles (primarily sightseeing vehicles) decreased to
approximately 30,500 vehicles and 3,300 vehicles
respectively. The decline in respect of the refitted vehicles
was mainly due to the Group’s repositioning strategy as
below mentioned, whereas, the weak market demand
resulting from the general unfavourable economic
environment had also given rise to certain adverse impact
during the year.
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Following the completion of the restructure exercise of the
business of the Group’s new energy vehicles in late 2022,
where part of the production facilities were transferred to
Wuling New Energy and the faster than expected
application of the new energy vehicles in the market, the
division had been cautiously considering its business
strategy on the fuel engine refitted vehicles, which in turn
slow down further investments in this particular business
segment. As a result, the business volume of the refitted
vehicles was severely affected in the second half of the
year. The Group is in the process of formulating
appropriate business strategy for the refitted vehicles,
which may involve possible collaboration with other
business divisions and the customers.

Despite a decline in the business volume, benefited from
lower cost of raw materials and a substantial reduction in
the division’s expenditure resulting the effective
implementation of certain restructure exercise and cost
control measures, the division was managed to deliver a
set of profitable results for the year, from which an
operating profit of RMB62,782,000 was recorded for the
year as compared to the operating profit of
RMB21,950,000 as recorded in previous year.
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The commercial vehicles assembly division operates
comprehensive car assembly lines which covers the
production processes of welding, painting and assembly.
The division has capability to produce various types of
specially designed vehicles which serves the different
needs of market, such as sightseeing bus, golf cart,
container wagon, refrigerator vehicle, police car, fire truck
and electric logistic vehicle, etc. The customers range
from government departments, public institutes, private
enterprises with different size of operation to private
individuals. Products are mainly sold in the domestic
market covering the major provinces and cities across the
country and the overseas markets.

The capability of the commercial vehicles assembly
division is originated from the long standing industry
experiences of Wuling, where a strong comprehensive
capability of “multi-mix, small batch and specialization”
has been established. In fact, the models designed and
developed by the Group are mainly branded as “Wuling”,
which is a benchmark of quality products and services in
the market in itself. Over the years, the Group had
unremittingly developed new models of vehicles for
commercial use with improved quality and added
features in response to market demands and enhanced
regulatory standards, such as the hot-selling side-open
container wagon (stall car), electric logistic vehicle and
the refrigerated truck. The Group is confident that the
launches of these new models will be beneficial to the
business performance of the division. Currently, production
facilities of the commercial vehicles assembly division of
the Group are situated in Liuzhou, Qingdao and
Chongging.
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Indeed, prior to the below mentioned restructure exercise,
the division had made significant breakthroughs in the
new energy vehicle market segment. Furthermore, it had
also gradually built up a nationwide distribution network
across the country. More remarkably, the division had also
extended its products to overseas markets including
Japan and the United States, which are renowned as the
leaders in the global automobile industry. Sale volume of
these orders, where the division continued to act as the
principal sale agent, are expected to be gradually
increased in coming years.

These solid business platforms and experiences in the new
energy vehicles segment essentially paved the way for the
restructure exercise of the business of the Group’s new
energy vehicles which took place in 2022 as below
mentioned.
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In order to accelerate the expansion of the Group’s new
energy vehicle business in meeting the increasing business
opportunities arisen from the new energy vehicle market
segment, the Group, including Company and Wuling
Industrial formed a joint venture with Guangxi Automobile
and established Wuling New Energy which started
operational in 2022 for pursuing the businesses focusing on
the research and development, manufacture and sale of
new energy vehicles, including the highly competitive
electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid new energy vehicles and
other new energy smart travel products. The setup of
Wuling New Energy enables the Group, including the
Company and Wuling Industrial and Guangxi Automobile,
to have an advance and sizable production facilities for
implementing the business strategies and programmes
arising from the new energy vehicles segment, and at the
same time benefits the operation of Wuling Industrial and
its subsidiaries serving as the strategic key suppliers to
Wuling New Energy by supplying automotive components
and patrts for its production of new energy vehicles.

The Group believes that operation of Wuling New Energy
will not only provide a solid foundation to Wuling New
Energy for implementing future business projects in the
new energy vehicles segment, but also provide Wuling
Industrial with the opportunity to further streamline its
existing operation in the commercial vehicles assembly
division which will be conducive to business performance
of the division in future.
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For the year under review, Wuling New Energy operated
as an associate of the Group and the Group'’s principal
business entity in the new energy vehicles business, of
which its business performance for the year ended 31
December 2023 is described in the section “Performance
of Joint Ventures and Associates” below.

The Group would strive to maintain a prominent market
share of our existing popular models, and at the same
time, explore the opportunity for future growth potential to
further improving the profitability of the commercial
vehicles assembly division, through implementation of
active business strategies in promoting new models,
including different models of non-road vehicles and other
special purpose vehicles, focusing on market
segmentation and specialization, enhancing the ability of
professional customization of unique products, developing
high-value products, intensifying market development
efforts, and solidly increasing sales volume, on the back of
the favourable government policy and the specific needs
in the market. The Group considers vertical integration of
the key automotive components in its commercial vehicles
assembly business will provide a solid back up and
enhance our competitive strength in the industry. Indeed,
the launches of various upgraded models of non-road
vehicles, such as sight-seeing buses and golf carts had all
received satisfactory reception from the overseas markets
which have tremendous business potential.

34

REEFEE AEFHERUNEENE S D
BINAEEFERAEESNEIEZEREE
LE HEE T -_=F+_-_A=+—HL
FENEBRAINTXIAERA L&
NEIMKRIR] —F-

AEBBENEFRMARERAPIEL 2 A E
mIZ0HE RS RRAREREN ZHKE
NE—TRESBEABEIH 22BN B
BEWER XS XA MW ME
RAREEREXTEHREN HEREEE
o MATSERAENE LERAKHE £F
MEOBRFREETISHERK T HEEHEE
(BRETRESEANIFERSER R EMEER
HEW) AKERS EEBARBEEKS
FHEAMRTETHASRABRENKRE
WIEBRHRPIETETINRFEN -FEL
HEZHEEREFRR MBEAEL RS
MAME HESEITEHNRERE X5
BREX -



AEREEEERERAE > —BE-=F 5K

Besides, the division has also commenced the production
of motor cycles during the year, aiming at providing a
wide range of motor cycle products in serving the specific
needs of different customers.

Going forward, the commercial vehicles assembly division
will continue to undertake research and development
projects for new product, technical and capability
improvement with the support from the other divisions,
namely the vehicles’ power supply systems division and
the automotive components and other industrial services
division. Whilst the Group envisages the challenges facing
this division, it remains confident in the long term business
potential of this business segment in view of our long
standing competitive strength in the industry.

PERFORMANCE OF JOINT VENTURES AND
ASSOCIATES

Wuling New Energy

Wuling New Energy which was owned as to 13.5% by the
Company and 13.26% by Wuling Industrial as at 31
December 2023 and formed with Guangxi Automobile for
pursuing the new energy vehicles business, including the
highly competitive electric vehicles, plug-in hybrid new
energy vehicles and other new energy smart travel
products, as more fully described under the “Commercial
Vehicles Assembly” business segment has become the
Group’s associate following the completion of this exercise
on 30 November 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Wuling New
Energy developed and launched several new models on
the basis of the original G100 series models. In June 2023, it
released the “Lingshi Brand” and launched the first plug-in
hybrid small card “Lingshi Gold Card”. Amongst them,
G050 model electric logistic vehicle, recognized as the
groundbreaking EV of the Guangxi Province under the
RCEP for the international market, the first batch of orders
has been delivered to Japanese customers. At the same
time, Wuling New Energy also further accelerated the
pace of development in the global market by supplying
various types of new energy logistics vehicles to large
international logistics companies in Europe and North
America. During the year, Wuling New Energy sold more
than 10,000 new energy vehicles, mainly contributing to
the G100 model vehicles. Benefited from the successful
launches of new models G050, Lingshi Gold card, etc to
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the market both locally and internationally since the
second half of 2023, it is expected the volume will be
substantially increased in the near future.

During the year under review, Wuling New Energy
achieved total revenue of RMB785,475,000, representing
an increase of approximately 63.6% as compared to
previous year and incurred a net operating loss of
RMB298,110,000 as it was still operating at the
development stage, in which loss attributable to the
Group amounted to RMB79,774,000.

Subsequent to the reporting period, in January 2024,
Wuling New Energy completed a fund raising exercise
amounted to RMB390 million in total. Amongst which,
RMB360 million was contributed by three prominent third
party investors including fFEM & RIEBREBBR A=
(Xuchang Jintou Holding Group Co., Ltd.*), EFi & Z Al £ %
EAINDEE (BRA¥) (Guangxi Ruiling Venture Capital
Partnership (Limited Partnership)*) and & 78 & &L & &
LAEBNLE(ARAE) (Guangxi Guangtou Incubation
Investment Fund Partnership (Limited Partnership)*)
whereas, the Company contributed the remaining RMB30
million. The Company considered the participation of
these investors in Wuling New Energy will be beneficial to
its long term business development. Details of this fund
raising exercise were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 16 January 2024 and 28
September 2023.
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Other Material Joint Ventures and Associates

Guangxi Weixiang Machinery Company Limited (“Guangxi
Weixiang”), which is owned as to 50% by Wuling Industrial
and formed with Guangxi Liugong Machinery Company
Limited for developing and pursuing the businesses of
engineering machinery and other industrial vehicles
products maintained its profitability during the year by
registering a total revenue of RMB504,721,000, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 16% as compared to previous
year, due to a decrease in the business volume as caused
by the general unfavourable economic environment
during the year. Accordingly, net operating profit was
decreased by 33.6% to RMB8,393,000 (as compared to the
net operating profit of RMB14,090,000 as achieved in
previous year), in which profit of RMB4,196,000 was
attributable to the Group.

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automobile Seating Co., Limited (“FL
Seating”) which is owned as to 50% each by Wuling
Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the business of
car seat products in the PRC has entered into the sixth
year of operation in 2023. The cooperation with Faurecia
Group, being a global leading manufacturer in the
business of automotive parts and components will provide
essential technical support to the Wuling Industrial in
further promoting its business opportunities in the car seat
businesses for the existing customers as well as other new
customers. During the year, due to a decline in the
business volume from SGMW, total revenue of FL Seating
was moderately decreased by 10.9% to RMB275,562,000
(2022: RMB309,412,000) for the full year under review.
Taking into account of a provision arising from some
commercial disputes amounting to approximately
RMB49,000,000, an operating loss of RMB36,489,000 was
recorded, in which loss of RMB18,245,000 was attributable
to the Group.
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Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automobile Interior System Co., Limited
(“FL Interior”), which is owned as to 50% each by Wuling
Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the business of
automotive interior system, its related parts and
accessories, including cockpit, instrument panel, auxiliary
instrument panel, door trim panel, acoustics and soft trim
in the PRC has also entered the sixth year operation in
2023. The co-operation with Faurecia Group will provide
essential technical support to the Wuling Industrial in
further promoting its business opportunities in these types
of products from SGMW as well as other new customers.
During the year, despite the unfavourable factors as
mentioned above, FL Seating was managed to maintain
its business volume by registering a total revenue of
RMB369,991,000, representing a slight increase of 1% as
compared to previous year (2022: RMB367,590,000).
Meanwhile, benefited from an impressive recovery of
business, especially in the second half of 2023 and the
continuous improvement in the gross profit margin, net
operating profit was increased significantly by 121% to
RMB42,368,000 (2022: RMB19,130,000), in which profit of
RMB21,184,000 was attributable to the Group.

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Emission Control Technologies Co.,
Limited (“FL Emission”), which is owned as to 50% each by
Wuling Industrial and Faurecia Group for pursuing the
business of automotive emissions control system products
and related parts and components in the PRC has entered
the fifth year operation in 2023. The cooperation with
Faurecia Group will provide essential technical support to
the Group in further promoting its business opportunities in
these types of products from SGMW as well as other new
customers. During the year under review, decrease in
business volume as affected by abovementioned adverse
factors continued to hit the business performance of FL
Emission, where total revenue reduced by 16.6% as
compared to previous year to RMB384,273,000 (2022:
RMB460,512,000). However, benefited from an impressive
recovery of business, especially in the second half of 2023
and the continuous improvement in the gross profit
margin, the profitability performance of FL Emission was
also managed to be significantly improved by registering
a net operating profit of RMB4,798,000, representing an
increase of 105% as compared to previous year (2022:
RMB2,342,000), in which profit of RMB2,399,000 was
attributable to the Group.
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Liuzhou AAM Automotive Transmission System Co., Ltd
(“AAM JV”"), which is owned as to 50% by Wuling Industrial
and 50% by American Axle & Manufacturing, Inc. (*“AAM
International”) for the purpose of developing and pursuing
the business of the manufacturing and sales of driveline
products business, which includes the independent drive
axles, propshafts and other driveline products, driveheads
for high-end Salisbury axles or banjo axles, e-drive units for
new energy vehicles, and other driveline components for
motor vehicles continued to incurred operating loss for the
year under review as affected by the adverse factors,
which amounted to RMB6,474,000, in which loss of
RMB3,237,000 was attributable to the Group. Given that
the loss making situation of AAM JV was unlikely to be
turned around in the near future, the partners of the joint
venture had been in discussion to sort out certain
restructure plan for AAM JV in safeguarding the interests of
the parties under this uncertain and difficult business
environment.

Meanwhile, Qingdao Lanqi Liuji Motors Technology
Company Limited (“Qingdao Lanqgi”) and Liuzhou Leadrive
Electronic Control Technology Co., Ltd. (“Liuzhou
Leadrive”) in which the Group interested in 23.08% and
40% respectively, were both at the early stage of
operation and business development during the year
under review and therefore respective operating losses of
RMB21,815,000 and RMB19,076,000 were incurred, in which
RMB5,035,000 and RMB7,630,000 were attributable to the
Group respectively for the year.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Group'’s total revenue for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB10,483,933,000, representing a decrease of
16.8% as compared to previous year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the moderate decrease in revenue
of the vehicles’ power supply systems division because of
the delays of the launches of the new models by the
automobile customers and the Group’s repositioning
strategy on the refitted vehicles since the second half of
2023, which had resulted in a direct reduction of the
business volume of the commercial vehicle assembly
division. Meanwhile, the automotive components and
other industrial services division was managed to register a
moderate increase in revenue, which was mainly
attributable to growing businesses contributed by the new
customers despite a decrease in the business volume from
SGMW as affected by the tough and keen competitive
business environment during the year.

Gross profit for the year under review was RMB1,036,999,000,
representing an impressive improvement of 14.1% as
compared to previous year. Despite the abovementioned
declines in the business volume, resulting from the positive
factors of a lower cost of raw materials and appropriate
cost control measures, profitability performance of the
Group had been significantly improved during the year.
Meanwhile, gradual recovery of business had also resulted
in a moderate improvement in the gross profit margin in the
second half of the year, from which the gross profit margin
achieved by the Group was remarkably improved to 9.9%
for the full year under review as compared to the 7.2% as
recorded for previous year.
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Due to the abovementioned improvement in the gross
profits, the Group reported a net profit of RMB69,456,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023, which was
increased by 73.5% as compared to the net profit of
RMB40,038,000 recorded for previous year, whereas, the
profit attributable to the owners of the Company also
improved to RMB23,477,000, representing an increase of
3.8% as compared to the profit attributable to the owners
of the Company of RMB22,611,000 for previous year. Profit
attributable to the owners of the Company was increased
at a lesser extent primarily due to the substantial increase
in share of losses of Wuling New Energy which was still at its
initial stage of operation during the year 2023.

Accordingly, basic earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2023 was RMBO0.71 cent, which marked a
continuous improvement as compared to the basic
earnings per share of RMB0.69 cent as recorded in
previous year, whereas, fully diluted earnings per share for
the year under review was RMBO0.71 cent as there is no
dilution effect for the year.

Other income comprised primarily bank interest income,
government grants and subsidies, sales of scrap materials
and parts and other sundry income was in aggregate
RMB214,407,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023,
maintaining at a similar level as compared to previous
year, in which the increases in income from sale of scrap
materials and government grants were offset by a
substantial decrease in income from transfer of patents.

Other gains and losses amounted to a net aggregate gain
of RMB5,095,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which comprised primarily the combined results of the
decrease in fair value of investment properties amounting
to approximately RMB6,144,000, gain on debt forgiveness
amounting to RMB10,353,000, loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment amounting to approximately
RMB883,000, gain on fair value change of financial assets/
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss of RMB2,819,000
and net exchange loss of RMB1,087,000.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
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Share of results of associates reported a total net loss of
RMB82,066,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023
representing primarily combined results of the net
operating profits attributable to FL Interior and FL Emission
and the net operating losses incurred by Wuling New
Energy, FL Seating and Liuzhou Leadrive. During the year,
despite a decline in the business volume from SGMW,
thanked to an impressive recovery of business, especially
in the second half of 2023 and the continuous
improvement in the their respective profitability
performance, FL Interior and FL Emission were all managed
to maintain their respective business volume and deliver
set of profitable results for the year. Meanwhile, Wuling
New Energy and Liuzhou Leadrive were loss making due to
them still being in the early stage of operation and
development. Whereas, FL Seating recorded net
operating losses due to a specific provision made on
certain commercial disputes.

Share of results of joint ventures reported an aggregate
net loss of RMB3,116,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023, which were mainly attributable to the net operating
losses of AAMJV and Qingdao Langi, which was due to its
early stage of operation. Meanwhile, the business of
Guangxi Weixiang and Liuzhou Wuda continued to be
solid and was able to remain profitable for the year under
review.

Selling and distribution costs of the Group comprised
primarily warranty expenses and other marketing expenses
were in aggregate RMB139,653,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023, representing an increase of 20.0% as
compared to previous year, which was mainly due to an
increase in the warranty expenses resulting from the
launches of new products during the year.
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General and administrative expenses of the Group
comprised primarily salary and allowances, various
insurance expenses, rental expenses and other
administrative expenses were in aggregate
RMB498,263,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023,
representing a moderate increase of 2.1% as compared
to previous year, which was mainly attributable to the
commencement of operation of the new production
facilities during the year. Facing the tough and highly
competitive business environment, the Group would
continue to implement various cost control measures in
containing the general and administrative expenses of the
Group aiming at alleviating the pricing pressure from the
market and in promoting competitiveness and efficiency.

Research and development expenses for the year ended
31 December 2023 amounted to RMB306,556,000,
representing a decrease of 4.0% as compared to previous
year, which was in line with the business level of the Group.
The Group will continue to prudently carry out appropriate
research and development projects in accordance with
the strategic plan in furthering its future business
opportunities.

Finance costs for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to RMB120,508,000, which was increased by
3.1% as compared to previous year resulting from an
increase in the finance costs associated with the bank
borrowing of the Group for the year under review.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION

As at 31 December 2023, total assets and total liabilities
of the Group stood at RMB15,050,774,000 and
RMB12,100,067,000 respectively.

Non-current assets amounted to RMB4,502,186,000
comprised mainly property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, investment properties, right-of-use assets,
interests in joint ventures and associates, etc. The total
carrying values of the property, plant and equipment had
taken into account of the total capital expenditure of
RMB276,721,000 arising from the acquisition of property,
plant and equipment, depreciation charge of
RMB410,198,000 and the decrease in fair value of
investment properties of RMB6,144,000 incurred for the
year under review.
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Current assets amounted to RMB10,548,588,000 comprised
mainly inventories of RMB806,403,000, trade and other
receivables of RMB2,926,814,000, bills receivable at fair
value through other comprehensive income of
RMB3,669,416,000 (inclusive of bills receivable discounted
with recourse but not yet matured amounting to
RMB3,263,321,000), pledged bank deposits of
RMB528,997,000 and bank balances and cash of
RMB2,616,795,000. Amount due from SGMW, a related
company and a key customer in the, vehicles’ power
supply system and automotive components businesses of
the Group amounted to RMB1,460,360,000 was recorded
as trade and other receivables in the consolidated
statement of financial position. These receivables
balances were subject to normal commercial settlement
terms.

Current liabilities amounted to RMB11,025,659,000,
comprised mainly trade and other payables of
RMB6,169,357,000, contract liabilities of RMB143,368,000,
lease liabilities of RMB57,183,000, provision for warranty of
RMB105,481,000, bank borrowings — due within one year
of RMB1,276,201,000 and advances drawn on bills
receivable discounted with recourse of RMB3,274,069,000.
The corresponding bills receivable discounted with
recourse to these advances amounting to
RMB3,263,321,000 were recorded as bills receivable at fair
value through other comprehensive income as at 31
December 2023, which would be offset against upon
maturity.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of
RMB477,071,000 as at 31 December 2023, which was
decreased as compared to the net current liabilities of
RMB932,681,000 as at 31 December 2022. The decrease
was mainly due to the raising of certain long term bank
borrowings during the year.

Non-current liabilities amounted to RMB1,074,408,000
comprised mainly bank borrowings of RMB1,034,598,000,
lease liabilities of RMB103,000, contract liabilities of
RMB6,540,000 and deferred tax liability of RMB33,167,000.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the operating
and investing activities of the Group were mainly satisfied
by the financing activities of the Group through the
drawdown of bank borrowings and the bills receivable
discounted.

The Group considers the application of alternative means
of financing, i.e. bank borrowings and bill discounting
activities in terms of the respective finance cost
consideration. Besides, to contain finance costs of the
Group, Guangxi Automobile provided sources of finance
to the Group through bill discounting activities at the most
favourable terms offered in the market.

As at 31 December 2023, total bank borrowings amounted
to RMB2,310,799,000 which maintained at a similar level as
compared to the position as at 31 December 2022, in
which RMB1,034,598,000 were having repayment terms of
more than one year. Meanwhile, the outstanding
advances drawn on bills receivable discounted with
recourse decreased moderately to RMB3,274,069,000. The
corresponding bills receivable discounted with recourse to
these advances amounting to RMB3,263,321,000 were
recorded as bills receivable at fair value through other
comprehensive income which would be offset against
upon maturity. During the year under review, the Group
discounted total bills receivables amounting to
approximately RMB6,864,858,000 for providing the
necessary fundings for its daily operations, in which
approximately RMB226,255,000 were discounted to
Guangxi Automobile.

As at 31 December 2023, the cash at bank balances
(together with the pledged bank deposits) were increased
by 21.8% to RMB3,145,792,000 as compared to the position
as at 31 December 2022.

Total equity attributable to the shareholders of the
Company, comprised primarily the share premium,
statutory reserve, contributed surplus, capital reserve,
other reserves and retained profits, amounted to
RMB1,934,858,000 as at 31 December 2023. Net asset
value per share was approximately RMB58.7 cents as at 31
December 2023.
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In view of the dynamic business environment and the risks
and exposures associated with the automobile industry,
the Group had been and would cautiously implement its
strategic and business plans such that the financial
position in terms of the net assets of the Group and
attributable to the owners of the Company, the amount of
net current liabilities and the gearing ratio of the Group
would be sustained in a financial healthy position. The
Directors consider the current financial position of the
Group will enable it to withstand the risks and challenges
under the current market environment.

In this regard, the Group will continue to closely monitor
the liquidity and financial position of the Group, as well as
the market environment (including the unprecedented
adverse issues) and the financial market from time to time
in order to arrive at an appropriate financial strategy for
the Group.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2023, bank deposits amounting to
RMB528,997,000 held by the Group (2022: RMB608,076,000)
and bills receivable discounted with recourse amounting
to RMB3,263,321,000 (2022: RMB3,384,607,000) were
pledged to the banks and Guangxi Automobile mainly to
secure certain banking and bills discounting facilities
offered to the Group.
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EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE
RATES

At 31 December 2023, the Group maintained Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar trade and other payables
equivalent to an aggregate amount of RMB79,544,000
and Hong Kong dollar, United States dollar and Indonesia
shield bank deposits and trade and other receivables
equivalent to an aggregate amount of RMB94,616,000. In
comparison with the relative size of the Group’s assets,
liabilities and main transactions which are denominated in
RMB, the Group regarded its exposure to fluctuations in
exchange rates and currencies to be reasonable and
would monitor the foreigh exchange exposures of the
Group as well as the prevailing market condition in arriving
at appropriate strategy.

COMMITMENTS

At 31 December 2023, the Group has outstanding
commitments, contracted but not provided for in the
financial statements, in respect of the acquisitions of
property, plant and equipment amounting to
RMB174,987,000 (2022: RMB222,832,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any
contingent liabilities (2022: Nil).
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

EENSREEASHT

YUAN Zhijun

Mr. Yuan Zhijun, aged 57, Chairman of the Board and the
Nomination Committee, a member of the ESG Committee, was
appointed as Executive Director on 4 November 2016. Mr. Yuan
graduated from the Huazhong University of Science and
Technology with a master degree in business administration in
2003 and is a professor level senior engineer. Mr. Yuan holds
directorships of a number of subsidiaries and member companies
of the Group. He is currently a director and the chief executive of
our principal subsidiary, Liuzhou Wuling Motors Industrial Company
Limited (M1 A Z/RE T E AR 2D A) (“Wuling Industrial”), a joint-
venture enterprise owned by the Company and Guangxi
Automobile Holdings Limited (EF/AE £ BB R A F) (‘Guangxi
Automobile”) — the ultimate holding company of the Company.
Mr. Yuan is also currently the vice chairman of the board of
directors and chief executive of Guangxi Automobile. He is also a
director of Wuling (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited and Wuling
Motors (Hong Kong) Company Limited respectively, the
immediate holding company and the intermediate holding
company of the Company. Since his joining to the group of
Guangxi Automobile in 1987, Mr. Yuan has held various positions
within the group of Guangxi Automobile and has over 30 years’ of
extensive experience in the production, product design and
development, human resources and corporate management of
the automobile industry. Mr. Yuan has also served in a number of
senior positions of SAIC-GM-Wuling Automobile Co. Limited
(“SGMW") since February 2003. He is currently a director of SGMW,
which is a joint venture formed among Shanghai Automobile
Industry (Group) Company Limited, GM (China) Investment
Company Limited and Guangxi Automobile and is currently a
major customer of the Group’s businesses in vehicles’ power
supply systems and automotive components.
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MR. YANG JIANYONG
BRIEEE
Executive Director

HITES

YANG Jianyong 15 81 B

Mr. Yang, aged 56, was appointed as Executive Director
on 4 November 2016. Mr. Yang holds directorships of a
number of subsidiaries and member companies of the
Group. Mr. Yang graduated with an accounting degree
from the Faculty of Accounting in the Central South
University in China and also holds a master degree in
Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
Mr. Yang is currently a director of Wuling Industrial. Mr.
Yang is also a director and chief accountant of Guangxi
Automobile in charge of the finance department. He is
also a director of Wuling (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited
and Wuling Motors (Hong Kong) Company Limited,
respectively the immediate holding company and the
intermediate holding company of the Company. Mr.
Yang joined the group of Guangxi Automobile in 1989
and has over 30 years’ of extensive experience in the
finance, accounting, legal and corporate financial
system institutionalization aspects of the automobile
industry. Mr. Yang also served in the senior position of the
finance department of SGMW from December 2003 to
April 2009, and has been the supervisor of SGMW since
July 2016.
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MR. WEI MINGFENG
EHREE

Executive Director

HTES

WEI Mingfeng Z8 R

Mr. Wei, aged 49, was appointed as Executive Director on
24 March 2021. Mr. Wei is currently a deputy general
manager of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary,
supervising Safety and Environmental Protection
Department, Operation Department, assisting in the
management of technical center, quality Department.
Mr. Wei is also currently a director of Liuzhou Wuling Liuji
Motors Company Limited (#0)| B Z#i&B) HBR A ), a
subsidiary of Wuling Industrial. Mr. Wei is also the chairman
of the board of directors of Faurecia (Liuzhou) Emission
Control Technologies Co., Limited (18 2 28 (#01) HE &2
H¥ 1T B R A F)) associated companies of the Group.
Besides, Mr. Wei is currently the vice chief executive of
Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Wei graduated from Tianjin University
majoring in Chemical Mechanical Engineering and holds
a master degree in business administration of Huazhong
University of Science and Technology and holds the
profession as a senior engineer. Mr. Wei joined the group
of Guangxi Automobile in 1996 and has over 25 years’ of
extensive experience in business operations, production
management, quality control, purchasing and supply
chain management of the automotive components
industry.
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MR. LI ZHENG
FIEFKE

Non-executive Director

FPTES

LI Zheng Z1E

Mr. Li, aged 80, was appointed as Non-executive
Director on 24 August 2022. Mr. Li graduated from South
China Normal University in 1967 majoring in Physics. He
worked in various organisations relating to the field of
medical technology, including well-known university
research centre, national medical engineering
technology research centre, focusing on promoting the
improvement of medical technology in the PRC. Besides,
he also worked in the science and technology
development organisations, trust funds and investment
organisations. Mr. Li has over 50 years’ of extensive
experience in physics, biomedical engineering and
international finance. Mr. Li is the brother of the late Mr.
Lee Shing, who was the former vice-chairman of the
Board, the former chief executive officer and a former
executive Director of the Company and the former
beneficial owner of Dragon Hill Development Limited, a
substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Li is
currently a member of each of the Nomination
Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee
and ESG Committee of the Company.
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MR. YE XIANG
EA%kE
Independent Non-executive Director

BAFHTES

YE Xiang ¥

Mr. Ye, aged 60, was appointed as Independent Non-
executive Director on 10 October 2008. Mr. Ye is the
founder and managing director of Vision Gain Capital
Limited (“Vision Gain”), a company engages in the fund
management and investment advisory business. Mr. Ye is
a chartered financial analyst and holds a doctorate
degree in finance. He has more than 20 years’ of
experience in the monetary and finance industry and
has extensive exposures in the banking and regulatory
aspects. Prior to his founding of Vision Gain, Mr. Ye was
the director of China Affairs of the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ye is currently the
chairman of the Audit Committee and the ESG
Committee, and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
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EERSREEASGHT

MR. WANG YUBEN
IRAEE

Independent Non-executive Director

B FHTES

WANG Yuben E A

Mr. Wang, aged 68, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director on 20 March 2015. Mr. Wang
obtained a doctorate degree in economic law from the
school of law of the Renmin University of China. He is
currently an arbitrator of Beijing Arbitration Commission.
Mr. Wang has more than 38 years of teaching
experiences in a number of universities in the PRC. He is
also at present a professor in the Capital University of
Economics & Business. Mr. Wang is currently a member
of each of the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.
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MR. XU JINLI
#BEHhxEE
Independent Non-executive Director

BUFHTES

XU Jinli % 1

Mr. Xu, aged 58, studied at Wuhan University of
Technology (& Z# T K2) (formerly known as Wuhan
Technology College (H Z T 2Pt ) majoring in
mechanical engineering and received a bachelor’s
degree, a master's degree at Wuhan University and a
doctor’s degree in engineering at Wuhan University of
Technology. Mr. Xu has engaged in the fields of
mechanical engineering and education for more than
30 years. He started his teaching career as a teacher at
Hubei No.1 Mechanical Industrial School (1t & 5 — i
W I E2K) from July 1987 to August 1999. From
September 1999 onwards, he served as a lecturer, an
associate professor and a professor respectively at
Wuhan University of Technology (/£ T X 2). Besides,
since March 2019, Mr. Xu has also served as an external
director of Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited
(“Guangxi Automobile”), the ultimate holding company
of the Company. His appointment as the external
director of Guangxi Automobile is subject to the
requirements of (EREEBREIIBEEEREITINE)
issued by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the People’s Government
of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (& i A & B A
BEARBNBEEEELEERZES).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. WEI Hongwen

Mr. Wei, aged 61, served as Executive Director from 10
September 2007 to 4 November 2016 and as the Chairman
of the Board and a member of the Nomination Committee
(redesignated as chairman from 20 March 2015) from 31
October 2014 to 4 November 2016. Mr. Wei is currently the
secretary of the party committee, chairman of the board
of directors and legal representative of Guangxi
Automobile, the ultimate holding company of the
Company. Mr. Wei is also the secretary of the party
committee, chairman of the board of director and legal
representative of Wuling Industrial, a principal subsidiary of
the Company. Mr. Wei obtained a master degree in
economics from Sun Yat-Sen University in 1995 and is a
professor level senior engineer. Mr. Wei has more than 30
years' of extensive experience in the automobile
manufacturing industry. Mr. Wei is also the vice chairman
of SGMW.

Mr. SONG Wei

Mr. Song, aged 38, was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 29 March 2023 and is also
currently manager of Wuling Motors (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, the intermediate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Song holds an undergraduate degree
in Thermal energy and Power engineering (automotive).
Mr. Song is currently studying EMBA at Huazhong University
of Science and Technology. Prior to his present position,
Mr. Song was the executive vice president of the
Company from August 2019 to March 2023. In addition, he
served as the general manager of Beijing Lingyun
Technology Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of Guangxi Automobile.
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EERSREEASGHT

Mr. LAl Shi Hong, Edward

Mr. Lai, aged 59, currently chief financial officer and
company secretary of the Company, is responsible for
overseeing our finance, accounting and company
secretarial functions. He is also a director of Wuling
Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Lai has more than 30
years’ of experience in finance, accounting and business
management. Mr. Lai graduated from the University of
Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Baptist University and
holds a Bachelor of Arts degree and a Master of Science
degree in Corporate Governance and Directorship
respectively. He is currently a fellow member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Mr. WANG Xu

Mr. Wang, aged 54, is currently the deputy secretary of
the party committee, chairman of the labour union and
the supervisor of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary.
He is also currently the staff-nominated director, deputy
party secretary and chairman of the labour union of
Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate holding company of
the Company. Mr. Wang graduated from Hubei University
of Technology in mechanical and electrical engineering.
He also holds a master degree in engineering from Wuhan
University of Technology. His profession is senior engineer.
Mr. Wang has been engaged in the automobile industry in
China since his joining to Guangxi Automobile in 1994. Mr.
Wang has over 30 years’ of extensive experience in the
production management and human resources
management of the automobile industry.
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Mr. CHEN Xiaofeng

Mr. Chen, aged 49, is currently the deputy general
manager of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr.
Chen is also the deputy vice president of Guangxi
Automobile, the ultimate holding company of the
Company. Mr. Chen graduated from Metal Pressure
Technician of Chongging University. He obtained a master
degree in Public Administration from Wuhan University of
Science and Technology. His profession is senior engineer.
Mr. Chen has been engaged in the automobile industry in
China since his joining to Guangxi Automobile Group in
1997. He has over 20 years' of extensive experience in the
production operation, sales, purchasing and supply chain
management of the car assembly and automotive
components industry.

Mr. LIU Yourong

Mr. Liu, aged 52, is currently the deputy general manager
and chief financial officer of Wuling Industrial, our principal
subsidiary. Mr. Liu graduated from China University of
Mining majoring in Accounting and holds a master degree
in business administration of Huazhong University of
Science and Technology. His profession is senior
accountant. Mr Liu has over 20 years’ of extensive
experience in cost management and institutionalization of
the financial system.

Mr. ZHAN Qiangmin

Mr. Zhan, aged 53, is currently the deputy general
manager of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr.
Zhan graduated from Department of Mechanical
Manufacturing and Technology of Guangxi University, and
holds a master degree in business administration of
Huazhong University of Science and Technology. His
profession is senior engineer. Mr. Zhan has over 20 years’ of
extensive experience in the production management,
quality control and efficiency of the automotive
components industry.
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Mr. LUO Liguo

Mr Luo, aged 49, is currently the deputy general manager
of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary and the
general manager of Wuling Liuji, a subsidiary of Wuling
Industrial. Mr Luo graduated from Department of welding
process and equipment major of Wuhan University of
Technology. His profession is economist. Mr Luo has over 20
years of extensive experience in production management,
purchasing and logistic of vehicle components industry.

Ms. QIN Jiaoling

Ms. Qin, aged 48, is currently the chief financial officer,
general counsel and an assistant to general manager of
Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Ms Qin
graduated from Guangxi University and holds a master
degree in Business Administration. Her profession is senior
accountant. Ms. Qin has over 20 years’ of extensive
experience in cost management, financial management
and institutionalization of the financial system.

Mr. XIE Haihong

Mr. Xie, aged 46, is currently the deputy general manager
of Wuling Industrial, our principal subsidiary. Mr. Xie
graduated from Chongqging University in pressure
processing. His profession is economist. Mr. Xie has over 20
years’ of extensive experience in the production and
operation, quality improvement of the automotive
components industry.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board of directors (“Board”) of the Company is
pleased to present this corporate governance report in
the Company’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2023.

INTRODUCTION

The Company recognizes the importance of good
corporate governance to the Company’s healthy growth
and has devoted considerable efforts identifying,
formulating and monitoring corporate governance
practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.

The corporate governance code (“CG Code”) contained
in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) sets out the principles of
good corporate governance (“Principles”) and two levels
of corporate governance practices:

a) code provisions (“Code Provisions”) which listed
issuers are expected to comply with and to give
considered reasons for any deviation; and

b) recommended best practices (‘Recommended Best
Practices”) for guidance only, which listed issuers are
encouraged to comply with or give considered
reasons for deviation.

The Company has currently applied the Principles and
reviewed regularly its corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance with the CG Code. During the
financial year ended 31 December 2023, save as the
matters relating to the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company as more fully
disclosed below, the Company confirmed that it has fully
complied with all the Code Provisions and certain
Recommended Best Practices as set out in the CG Code
and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.
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CORPORATE MISSION AND CULTURE OF
WULING

Being a long and established enterprise in the automobile
industry in China, the Group continues to grasp the
increasing opportunities arising from “electrification,
intelligence, networking and sharing” in the automobile
industry through innovation-driven development, actively
launch new businesses, step up efforts on key projects,
strictly take actions to ensure production safety in pursuit
of a balanced and sustainable growth for the Group and
the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

When implementing its business strategies and policies, the
Group is committed to the new development philosophy,
continuously raised development awareness, and
followed the general principle of “seeking progress while
maintaining stability, obtaining certain results while making
progress and promoting high-quality development”, in a
bid to achieve the annual operation targets.

With our established corporate culture of perseverance for
Wuling Group, from top to bottom, the Group adhere to
our corporate spirit of Hard-Working and Self-Reliance and
strive to provide quality goods to every customer through
our united, efficient and harmonious team efforts.

The objectives and values of our corporate culture are
summavized below:

Corporate Spirit — Hard-Working and Self-Reliance

Corporate Mission — Cultivating Excellent Staff;
Manufacturing Customers’ Favourite Vehicles; and Building
a Responsible and Sustainable Enterprise

Core Values — Wuling Development Foremost; Pursue
Learning and Innovation; Customers First; People-Oriented;
and Teamwaork

Behavioural Guidance — Teamwork, High Efficiency, and
Harmony Responsible, Pursue Team Success, Quick
Reaction and Continual Improvement for Creating Value
for Customers
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties. During the year ended 31 December
2023, the Board, inter alia,

1.

reviewed the policy and practices on corporate
governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

assessed training and continuous professional
development to Directors and the Management;

reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices in compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

monitored the compliance with the Company’s own
code of conduct regarding director’s dealings in the
Company’s securities (the “Own Code”) on term no
less exacting than the Model Code (defined below)
under the Listing Rules;

reviewed the compliance with the code provision of
the CG Code and this corporate government report;
and

co-ordinated with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee (“‘ESG Committee”) to
ensure an effective implication of appropriate
policies and measures of the environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) issues of the Group.

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Company fully acknowledges the important role of its
Board in providing effective leadership and direction to its
business, and ensuring transparency and accountability of
its operations.
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EXREL|E

The overall management of the Company’s business is
currently vested in the Board, which assumes the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company
and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All
directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) should take
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Board takes responsibility for all major decisions of the
Group including the approval of all policy matters, the
Group’s business, strategies directions and financial
performance, setting the Company’s value and standards;
formulating strategies; overseeing corporate governance;
monitoring performance and other significant financial
and operational decisions of the Group.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance
coverage for all Directors, including company securities,
employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation,
etc, which is reviewed by the Board on a regular basis.

All Directors currently have full and timely access to all
relevant information of the Company, with a view to
ensure that Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations in Bermuda and Hong Kong are followed.

The Company has also established relevant mechanisms
to ensure independent views and input are available to
the Board. The Company has adopted related procedures
which allows the Directors to seek, at the Group’s expense,
independent professional advice reasonably necessary for
discharging their duties as Directors. The Company
Secretary will make necessary arrangements when the
Directors wish to seek such independent professional
advice. The implementation and effectiveness of these
mechanisms has been reviewed by the Board on an
annual basis.

The day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group are normally delegated to the
senior management of the Group (the “Management”)
and the delegated functions and work tasks have been
formalized and regularized respectively and periodically
reviewed by the Board and the Management. Approval
has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions, related parties transactions, arrangements
and/or contracts entered into by the Management.
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The Board has the full support of the Management to
discharge its responsibilities and duties as required by the
applicable rules and regulation in Bermuda and Hong
Kong.

Composition

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee” or “NC”") ensures the composition
of the Board a balance of skills, experiences, knowledges,
qualifications and diversity of perspective appropriate to
the requirements of the business and development of the
Company.

Due to his reaching the retirement age, Mr. Mi Jianguo
(“Mr. Mi”) resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee” or “RC"),
member of each of the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee” or “AC”) and the Nomination
Committee, all with effect from the close of the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 9 June 2023
(the “2023 AGM"). To fill the causal vacancy from the
resignation of Mr. Mi, Mr. Xu Jinli (“Mr. Xu”) has been
appointed an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of Remuneration Committee, a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the ESG Committee of the Company, all with effect
from the close of the 2023 AGM. Further details in relation
to Mr. Mi’s resignation and Mr. Xu’'s appointment were
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 June
2023.
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Following the aforementioned resignation and
appointment, the current composition of the Board
comprises three executive Directors, one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors
who can effectively exercise independent judgment to
the policies, strategies, business and development of the
Company. The Board will continue to make appropriate
proposals in relation to its composition in due course to
ensure a balanced composition and strong independent
element, as well as to facilitate an appropriate board
diversity policy, which will be subject to review and
discussion by the Board and the Nomination Committee.
Timely announcements with the background and details
and of the proposed new appointments will be made by
the Company as and when appropriate in accordance
with the Listing Rules. The Directors during the year and up
to the date of this report are:

Current Executive Directors
Mr. Yuan Zhijun (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Jianyong

Mr. Wei Mingfeng

Current Non-Executive Director
Mr. Li Zheng

Current Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Wang Yuben
Mr. Xu Jinli
(appointed on 9 June 2023)

Past Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Mi Jianguo
(resigned on 9 June 2023)

Mr. Yuan Zhijun and Mr. Yang Jianyong (who were
appointed as executive Directors on 4 November 2016)
and Mr. Wei Mingfeng (who was appointed as executive
Director on 24 March 2021), were respectively nominated
by E7 )98 £ B A R A 7 (Guangxi Automobile Holdings
Limited* “Guangxi Automobile”), the ultimate controlling
Shareholder. All of them are currently acting as directors
and/or senior executives of Guangxi Automobile or its
member group.
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Mr. Li Zheng, who was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 24 August 2022, is the brother of the late Mr.
Lee Shing, the former vice-chairman of the Board, the
former chief executive officer and a former executive
Director of the Company and the former beneficial owner
of Dragon Hill Development Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Xu Jinli, who was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 9 June 2023, has also served as an
external director of Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate
controlling Shareholder since March 2019. His appointment
as the external director of Guangxi Automobile is subject
to the requirements of (B AR EBLH¥INLEFTERET
#i5%) issued by the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the People’s Government of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region* (E AL IE B8R A
RENEFEELEEREZER).

Save as abovementioned, the Board members has no
financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other.

The Board has a balanced composition and strong
independent element. The biographical details of all the
current Directors are set out in the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT S BIOGRAPHIES”
from pages 48 to 52 in this annual report and are available
on the Company ' s website (www.wuling.com.hk), which
demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise, experience and
qualifications of the composition of the Board.

The current composition of the Board is stated in the
section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION” in this
annual report. The list of current Directors identifying their
roles, functions and titles is also disclosed in this
annual report and all corporate communications
issued by the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules from
time to time. The Company also maintains on its website
(www.wuling.com.hk) and on the Stock Exchange’s
website (www.hkexnews.hk) an updated list of current
Directors (by category) identifying their role and function.
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The Company has currently complied with Rules 3.10 and
3.10A of the Listing Rules that (i) the Board includes three
independent non-executive Directors; (ii) one of the
independent non-executive Directors has appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and related
financial management expertise; and (iii) number of
independent non-executive Directors represent more than
one-third of the Board.

The Company has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director of his
independence for the year ended 31 December 2023
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as amended
from time to time. The Board and the Nomination
Committee has considered and agreed all independent
non-executive Directors are independent during the year
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out
in the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as amended from time
to time.

Appointment, Re-election and Resignation of Directors

NC has been set up by the Board and NC has established
formal, considered and transparent policies, procedures
and criteria for the appointment, re-election, resignation,
re-designation, retirement, rotation and/or removal of the
Director(s) in accordance with the Company’s bye-laws,
the Listing Rules and all applicable laws in Bermuda and
Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and/or the Code
Provisions of the Listing Rules, at each annual general
meeting of the Company not less than one-third of the
Directors (including those appointed for a specific term)
for the time being shall retire from the Board by rotation
provided that each Director shall be subject to retrement
by rotation at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting of the Company
after he was last elected or re-elected in the general
meeting of the Company (i.e. the term of appointment of
all Directors, including the non-executive Directors, is
effectively three years) and each Director be appointed
to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director by the
Board is subject to re-election by the Shareholders at the
next following annual general meeting of the Company
following his appointment.
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At the 2023 AGM held on 9 June 2023, Mr. Wei Mingfeng,
being executive Director, and Mr. Ye Xiang, being
independent non-executive Director, retired from the
Board by rotation. Both of them were then re-elected as
executive Director and independent non-executive
Director respectively by the Shareholders at the 2023
AGM.

Besides, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law 91,
Mr. Li Zheng, being appointed as a non-executive Director
by the Board with the recommendation from NC to fill the
causal vacancy on 24 August 2022, was also retired from
the Board at the 2023 AGM, who was then also re-elected
as a non-executive Director by the Shareholders at the
2023 AGM.

In accordance with the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
and the bye-law 99(B) of the Company, Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
being executive Director and Mr. Wang Yuben, being
independent non-executive Director, will retire from the
Board by rotation at the conclusion of annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 14 June
2024 (the “2024 AGM”) and Mr. Yuan Zhijun and Mr. Wang
Yuben, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Director by respective separate resolutions to be passed
by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.

For independent non-executive Director who has served
the Company for more than nine years, his further
appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company and the papers to the
Shareholders accompanying the reasons why the Board
believes he is still independent and should be re-elected.
Mr. Wang Yuben, who was appointed to the Board on 20
March 2015, has served as an independent non- executive
Director for more than nine years in his further re-election
as Director at the forthcoming 2024 AGM. Mr. Wang
Yuben has made a written annual confirmation of
independence for the year ended 31 December 2023
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as amended from
time to time.
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Besides, it is also considered that Mr. Wang Yuben has not
engaged in any executive management of the Group.
Alongside with the other independent non-executive
Directors, he contributed to ensuring the interests of the
Company and all the Shareholders. He made objective
decisions and contributed to the Board with his valuable
experiences for promoting the best interests of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole, and he
demonstrated a firm commitment to his roles. The
Nomination Committee and the Board considered that
the long service of Mr. Wang Yuben with the Company
would not affect his exercise of independent judgements
and is satisfied that Mr. Wang Yuben has the required
character, integrity, experiences and profound
knowledges to continue fulfilling the role of independent
non-executive Director effectively. It is also believed that
Mr. Wang Yuben’s continued tenure would bring
considerable stability to the Board. Taking into
consideration of the above factors, the Nomination
Committee and the Board considered Mr. Wang Yuben to
be independent under the Listing Rules despite the fact
that he has served the Company for more than 9 years.

Meanwhile, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law
91, Mr. Xu Jinli, duly appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by the Board with the recommendation
from NC to fill the causal vacancy on 9 June 2023, will also
retire from the Board as Director at the 2024 AGM, who
being eligible, offer himself for re-election as Director by a
separate resolution to be passed by the Shareholders at
the 2024 AGM.

The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed
and recommended the re-election of Mr. Yuan Zhijun, Mr.
Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli standing for re-election at
the 2024 AGM.

Detailed information of Mr. Yuan Zhijun, Mr. Wang Yuben
and Mr. Xu Jinli standing for re-election at the 2024 AGM
will be stated in the Company’s circular as per the Listing
Rules to be dispatched to Shareholders in due course.
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The Company has entered into service contracts with all
current non-executive Directors, including non-executive
Director, Mr. Li Zheng and three independent non-
executive Directors namely Messrs. Ye Xiang, Wang Yuben
and Xu Jinli, for a specific term of three years who are also
required to retire from the Board by rotation and then re-
election by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company in accordance with the
Company'’s bye-laws and the Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules. Apart from their appointments as non-executive
Directors, none of them has any form of service contract
with the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for determining
the policy for the nomination of Directors, reviewing the
Board composition and diversity of the Board, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures, processes and
criteria for selection and recommendation of candidates
for directorship, monitoring the re-appointment and
succession planning of the Directors and assessing the
independence of each independent non-executive
Director, etc.

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy, which is
more fully described in the section headed “Nomination
Committee” of this report. The board diversity policy has
also posted on the Company’s website (www.wuling.com.hk).
The Nomination Committee has been delegated by the
Board to review and recommend the size, structure,
composition and diversification of the Board on an annual
basis.

The Board adopted the policy for nomination of Directors
(including the nomination procedures and criteria for
selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship) in accordance with the CG Code.
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Training for Directors

Each newly appointed Director should receive
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has
appropriate understanding of the group structure, Board
procedures, business, management, operations, financial
and values of the Company, as well as rules and
regulations under the Company’s bye-laws, the Securities
and Futures Ordinance, the Listing Rules and relevant
applicable regulatory requirements in Bermuda and Hong
Kong.

An induction programme covering the abovementioned
matters was therefore arranged for Mr. Xu Jinli, an
independent non-executive Director, when he joined the
Board in June 2023, that helped him fully aware of his
responsibilities and the obligations in the Company and
under the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a whole day
training course conducted by a professional firm which
covered the updated Listing Rules and other relevant
applicable regulatory and compliance requirements was
arranged by the Company which were attended by all
Directors and other senior executives of the Group.
Besides, chief financial officer of the Company, who is also
the Company Secretary, and the Management keeps
circulating articles, news and monthly reports, which are
related to the Group’s financial information, business,
economy, market change, development of the Company
as well as the change in rules and regulations, if any, to
Directors from time to time to update, refresh and
strengthen Directors’ knowledge and skills. Furthermore, all
Directors are also encouraged to attend other relevant
training courses at the Company’s expense. The Company
Secretary is responsible to keep records of training taken
by each Director.
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During the year, the record of trainings of the Directors, on  RFER  EEZRNE ISR MRH I TER:
named basis, is set out in the table below:

Directors’ Attendance Record ESHERH

Attended whole day training Reading journals,

course conducted by articles, news,

A professional firm Receiving monthly materials and

which covered reports related to updates related to

updated Listing Rules and the Group’s  business, economy,

other relevant applicable operation market change and

regulatory and performance and change in rules and

compliance requirement development regulations

HERERER pELES SR

IR R0 F B3R mISE AR ERR

AERHLEHRA BREAEE RBSENEE

REAHEER REXERBR 97 X2 -#78-

Directors EERAHARAE FHNAERS MRREHER
Executive Directors BITES

Mr. Yuan Zhijun RESLE 4 v v

Mr. Yang Jianyong BRIBLE 4 v v

Mr. Wei Mingfeng ERELE v v v

Non-executive Director I {TEE

Mr. Li Zheng EN v v v
Independent Non- BYEHTES
executive Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang 1 v v v
Mr. Wang Yuben IWARE v % v
Mr. Mi Jianguo! KEE A NA v v
Mr. Xu Jinli Bk v 4 v
Notes: Ktat:
1.  Resigned on 9 June 2023. 1. R-E-_=FXANLB&E-
2. Appointed on 9 June 2023. 2. RIZZ=FANAEZfF-
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BOARD MEETINGS
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year
at approximate quarterly interval for reviewing and
approving financial statements, operating performance of
the core business and budgets of the Group, monitoring
the progress of the various on-going projects, the overall
strategies and policies of the Company. The Board meets
more frequently, as and when required, to approve
transactions of the Company, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company, as well as other ad hoc
projects.

The Board requires Directors to devote sufficient time and
attention to discharge their duties and responsibilities.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, a total number
of seven (7) Board meetings (including four (4) regular
meetings), two (2) meetings of the Audit Committee, two
(2) meetings of the Nomination Committee, two (2)
meetings of the Remuneration Committee and two (2)
meetings of ESG Committee were held by the Company.

During the year, the Board has regularly reviewed the
contributions from each Director and confirmed that they
have spent sufficient time performing their duties and
responsibilities to the Company. The individual attendance
records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee, as well
as the Shareholder’'s meetings (including the 2023 AGM)
held during the year ended 31 December 2023 are set out
below:
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Directors’ Attendance Record

ERERME

EEHERE

Attendance record of Directors at the meetings in 2023

REB-=FEBHRERZOHE

SGM
V]
Name of Directors REIXE
No. of meeting & X4 1 1
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Yuan Zhijun REERE 1 01
Mr. Yang Jianyong BREBLE 11 01
Mr. Wei Mingfeng? ZHREEE 11 11
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. Li Zheng ZEEE n 11
Independent Non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang! s 1 11
Mr. Wang Yuben IRREE n n
Mr. Mi Jianguo? R %A 11 01
Mr. Xiu Jinli B"YNRE NA NA
A T
Notes:

1. One of the meetings was attended by alternate.
2. Resigned on 9 June 2023.

3. Appointed on 9 June 2023.
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each
meeting of the Board and each committee of the Board
(“Committee(s)”) are normally made available to Directors
and Committees’ members in advance. Notices and
Agenda of regular Board meetings are served to all
Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. Directors
may include any of his concerns in the agenda. For other
Board and the Committees meeting, reasonable notice is
generally given to the Directors and members of each
Committee.

ESG
Committee

7 2 2 2 2
mn NA NA 212 212

TER  ER
nn NA NA NA NA
rER  MER TER TER
nn NA NA NA NA
TER  TER TER TER
nn 212 22 212 212
mn 22 22 212 212
mn 22 22 212 212
313 171 22 22 NA
A
4/4 171 NA NA 171

rER o TER
Ftat -
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Board and Committees papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent
to all Directors and Committees’ members within a
reasonable period of time in advance of the intended
meeting or at least 3 days before each Board meeting
and Committee meeting to keep the Directors and
Committees’ members studied and apprised of the current
developments and/or financial position and/or other
major issues of the Group and enable them to make
informed decisions in the best interest of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole. All Directors have
unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary, who did and would ensure that the
Board and Committees receive appropriate and timely
information and that Board and Committees procedures,
and all applicable rules and regulations in respect of the
meeting, are being followed. The Board and each Director
and Committees’ member also have separate and
independent access to the Management for making
enquiries and to obtain further information of the Group
when required.

The responsible Management currently attends Board
meetings and each Committee meetings to advise on
and answer the queries of the business developments,
operation performance of the core business, various
ongoing projects, financial and accounting matters,
statutory compliance, corporate governance and other
major aspects of the Company and the Group.

The responsible Management or the Company Secretary
take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Committee meetings as well as all written resolutions. Draft
minutes record in sufficient details the matters discussed
and resolved, and these minutes and written resolutions
are normally circulated to all the Directors and
Committees’ members for comments (if any) and/or
approval within a reasonable time after each meeting
and the final version is open for Directors’ and Committees
members’ inspection.

The Management currently provide all Directors with
monthly updated and detailed financial position,
operation performance of the core business and
prospects of the Group and the progress of the various
ongoing projects to enable them closely monitor the
performance and operation of the Company.
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The Company’s bye-laws and the Listing Rules contain
provisions require Directors to disclose their interest (if any)
and abstain (if appropriate) from voting and not to be
counted in the quorum at Board and/or Committees’
meetings for approving transactions, arrangements and/
or contracts in which such Directors, committees members
or any of their associates have a material interest in the
agreements and/or transactions and independent non-
executive Directors would take lead when potential
conflicts of interest arise. Independent Board Committee
comprising all independent non-executive Directors would
be formed, where appropriate, to advise the independent
Shareholders on those connected transactions that prior
approval by the independent Shareholders at the special
general meetings of the Company be required.

CHAIRMAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
DIRECTORS

The Company observes the principle that there should be
a clear division of duties and responsibilities at the head of
the Company between the running of the Board and the
executive duties and responsibility of the running of the
Company’s business, so as to ensure a balance of power
and authority and to avoid the concentration of power
and responsibilities on one individual.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the chairman
of the Board is Mr. Yuan Zhijun. As the chairman of the
Board, Mr. Yuan Zhijun has executive responsibilities and
provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing
policies, strategies and business directions of the
Company. He ensures that the Board works effectively
and performs its duties and responsibilities, and that all key
and appropriate issues are discussed by the Board in a
timely manner. He also ensures all Directors are properly
briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. He
takes primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures are
established and followed. He did and would encourage
all Directors to make a full and active contribution to the
Board'’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the
Shareholders as a whole.
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Prior to his passing away on 23 January 2022, the late Mr.
Lee Shing, former chief executive officer and executive
Director had been delegated with the authorities for the
overall operations and the executive responsibilities of the
Group and full implementation of the directions and
policies established by the Board. Following the passing
away of the late Mr. Lee Shing, these duties were
temporarily delegated to the chairman of the Board, Mr.
Yuan Zhijun and the Company Secretary, Mr. Lai Shi Hong
Edward. The Board considers that accountability and
independence have not been compromised despite the
temporary delegation of the duties and role of the
Company’s chief executive officer to the chairman of the
Board having considered: (i) with over half of the Board
comprising non-executive Directors (including three
independent non-executive Directors), the Board is of the
view that there is a sufficient element of independence
and adequate safeguards against a concentration of
power in one single person; (i) formal procedures are in
place to ensure decisions arrived at by the Board are
being made following a deliberated thought-out process
so as to ensure that the decision making process of the
Group would not be unnecessarily hindered; and (iii) the
corporate and business strategies based on the Group’s
corporate objectives, together with the associated
financial and operational policies of the Company are
made collectively after thorough discussion and
evaluation at the level of the Board and the
management. On 29 March 2023, Mr. Song Wei was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company
who is responsible for the running of the executive
functions of the Company. His appointment has helped to
ensure the management of the Company would have a
balance of power and authority and to avoid the
concentration of power and responsibilities on one
individual of the Company. Further details regarding to the
appointment of Mr. Song Wei as the chief executive
officer of the Company have been disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2023.
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, the
chairman of the Board has held one meeting with the
non-executive Directors (including one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors)
without the other executive Directors present. The
chairman of the Board did and would encourage all the
Directors with different views to voice their concerns,
allowed sufficient time for discussion of issues raised and
ensured that Board decisions fairly reflect Board consensus.
The chairman of the Board supported a culture of
openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of the non-executive Directors in particular
and ensuring constructive relations between executive
and non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Board
keeps effective communication channel with the
Shareholders and ensure the Shareholders’ views are
communicated to the Board as a whole.

The other executive Directors of the Company are
delegated with responsibility and duty to oversee and
monitor the operations of specific business areas and to
implement the strategies and policies set by the Board.

The non-executive Directors (including one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors)
keep bringing a wide range of business and financial
expertise, skills, experiences, knowledges and
independent judgment on the issues of strategies, policies,
performance accountability, operation, management,
development, resources, key appointments, connected
transactions and standards of conduct to the Board of the
Company. Through regular attendance and active
participation in meetings of the Board and Committees
and/or general meetings of the Company, studying
monthly reports, taking the lead in managing issues
involving potential conflict of interests among Directors
and serving on Committees, all non-executive Directors
did and would make various contributions to the effective
performance, operation, direction and development of
the Company. Independent Board Committee comprising
all independent non-executive Directors did and would
be formed, where appropriate, to advise the independent
Shareholders on those connected transactions approved
and to be approved by the independent Shareholders at
the special general meeting of the Company. One of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The non-
executive Directors (including three independent non-
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executive Directors) are also members of various
Committees and devote sufficient amount of time and
attention to the affairs of the Company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four Committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the ESG Committee for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company'’s affairs.

The members of the Audit Committee and the
Remuneration Committee are currently all non-executive
Directors (including one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors), whereas, the
majority members of Nomination Committee comprises
independent non-executive Directors. The list of the
current chairman and members of each Committee is set
out in the section headed “CORPORATE INFORMATION” in
this annual report.

The Committees are currently provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable
request, are able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances, at Company’s expenses.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee, which has been
established in compliance with the Listing Rules, currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors
including Mr. Xu Jinli (Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, who was appointed on 9 June 2023 in
replacement of Mr. Mi Jianguo), Mr. Ye Xiang and Mr.
Wang Yuben, as well as non-executive Director, Mr. Li
Zheng.

Its terms of reference which has been updated in
compliance with the Listing Rules is currently disclosed in
the websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available
to Shareholders upon request.
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The Remuneration Committee normally meets at least
once a year. The primary objectives of the Remuneration
Committee pursuant to its term of reference include
making recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure and remuneration
packages of all Directors and the Management with
reference to those companies in similar industries of the
Company. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing a formal and transparent
procedures for developing such remuneration policy and
structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
be participated in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration be determined by reference to the duties
and responsibilities of Directors, business performance and
profitability of the Group and market conditions. The
Human Resources Department is responsible for the
collection and administration of the human resources
data and making recommendations to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration and assessment. The
Remuneration Committee consults the chairman of the
Board about these recommendations on remuneration
policy and structure as well as the remuneration
packages.

The Remuneration Committee held two (2) meetings
during the year ended 31 December 2023 to, inter alia,

1. review the summary of remuneration package paid
to each Directors and senior management of the
Company;

2. study the current remuneration package, policy and
structure of all Directors (including appointment(s),
resignation(s) and retirement(s), if any, during the
year);

3. propose remuneration packages with reference to
the duties and responsibilities of Directors and senior
management, business performance and profitability
of the Group and market conditions, the corporate
objective and goal set by the Board and a report of
salaries paid by the comparable companies to
directors and senior management;

4.  consider the service contract(s) to be entered with
the non-executive Director(s) (including independent
non-executive Director(s)) and/or the Director(s) (if

any);
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5. review the remuneration policy, procedures and
structure for fixing the remuneration packages; and

6. recommend the salary arrangement of the
independent non-executive Director newly
appointed during the year.

The attendance records of the meeting of the
Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
December 2023 are set out under the section of “BOARD
MEETINGS” on page 71.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee, which has been established in
compliance with the Listing Rules, currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Ye Xiang (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang
Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli (appointed on 9 June 2023 in
replacement of Mr. Mi Jianguo), as well as non-executive
Director, Mr. Li Zheng. Among them, one independent
non-executive Director possesses the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by the Listing
Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee was
a former partner of the Company’s existing external
auditors.

The Audit Committee operates pursuant to its terms of
reference which main duties include the followings:

a) To review the financial statements and reports of the
Company and consider any significant or unusual
items raised by the responsible staff of accounting
and financial report function, compliance officer (if
any), internal auditor or external auditors of the
Company before submission to the Board;

b) To review the relationship with the external auditors
of the Company and its independence by reference
to the work performed and services provided by the
external auditors of the Company, their fees, their
firm’s standards and practices and terms of
engagement and make recommendation to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of external auditors of the Company;
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To review the continuing connected transactions as
disclosed in the annual report and confirm that those
transactions entered into by the Group were (i) in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) either on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the respective agreements
governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders as
a whole; and

To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated
procedures.

Its terms of reference is currently disclosed in the websites
of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available to
Shareholders upon request.

The Audit Committee held two (2) meetings during the
year ended 31 December 2023 to, inter alia,

a)

b)

c)

review and approve the draft audited consolidated
financial statement and the draft unaudited
consolidated financial statement together with and
the respective draft result announcements, including
changes in accounting policies and practices; major
judgmental areas; significant adjustments resulting
from the audit (if any); the going concern
assumption; compliance with accounting and
auditing standards and compliance with the Listing
Rules and legal requirements in relation to financial
reporting to the Board for consideration and
approval;

assess the independence of the external auditor of
the Company and the objective and effectiveness
of audit process;

review the relationship with the external auditor and
then recommend the re-appointment of the external
auditor of the Company and recommend its
remuneration;
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d) evaluate the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Group’s system of internal control and risk
management which covered all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance
together with the associated procedures;

e) review and approve the internal audit programme,
review the internal audit reports and discuss any
significant issues with the Management;

f) review the reports prepared by the compliance
department responsible for the whistleblowing and
anti-corruption policies;

g) study the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staffs of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget; and

h) review the new and current continuing connected
transactions.

The attendance records of the meetings of AC during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out under the
section of “BOARD MEETINGS” on page 71.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee, which has been established
in compliance with the Listing Rules, currently comprises
Mr. Yuan Zhijun, Chairman of the Board, (Chairman of the
Nomination Committee), three independent non-
executive Directors including Mr. Ye Xiang, Mr. Wang
Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli (appointed on 9 June 2023 in
replacement of Mr. Mi Jianguo), as well as non-executive
Director, Mr. Li Zheng.

Its terms of reference is currently disclosed in the websites
of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and are available to
Shareholders upon request.
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The primary objectives of the Nomination Committee
pursuant to its term of reference include reviewing the
structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board, making
recommendations on the any proposed changes to the
Board composition, proposing the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships, assessing the independence
of independent non-executive Directors; reviewing the
board diversity with reference to the board diversity policy
of the Company and commenting the Directors’ rotation
from the Board in each annual general meeting of the
Company and office succession planning for Directors in
particular the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer.

The Company has adopted below the policy for
nomination of Directors (including the selection criteria,
the nomination procedures and the board diversity policy)
in accordance with the CG Code, amended from time to
time.

Policy for Nomination of Directors

Nomination Committee shall nominate suitable
candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to the Shareholders for election as
Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill
casual vacancies. Nomination Committee may, as it
considers appropriate, nominate a number of candidates
more than the number of the Directors to be appointed or
re-appointed at a general meeting, or the number of
casual vacancies to be filled.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by
the Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate:

- reputation for integrity;

- accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in
the principal business of the Group, from time to time;

- commitment in respect of available time and
relevant interest; and
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- diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age (18 years old or above), cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be
exhaustive and decisive. The NC has the discretion to
nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

Upon nomination, proposed candidates will be asked to
submit the necessary personal information, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and to
the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or
in relation to their standing for election as a Director. The
Nomination Committee may also request candidates to
provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary.

Nomination Procedures

The Secretary of the Nomination Committee shall call a
meeting of the Nomination Committee, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any,
for consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its
meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put
forward candidates who are not nominated by Board
members. For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. For proposing candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

Board Diversity Policy

Currently, the Company maintains a board diversity policy

(“BDP”) in compliance with the CG Code, which covers,

inter alia, the followings:

(a) any measurable objectives that it has set for
implementing the policy, and progress on achieving
those objectives;

(b) disclose and explain:

(i) how and when gender diversity will be
achieved in respect of the board,;
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(i)  the numerical targets and timelines set for
achieving gender diversity on its board; and

(i) what measures the issuer has adopted to
develop a pipeline of potential successors to
the board to achieve gender diversity.

disclose and explain the gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management), any plans
or measureable objectives the issuer has set for
achieving gender diversity and any mitigating factors
or circumstances which make achieving gender
diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.

The Company has adopted a BDP which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board, the summary
of which are set out below:

a)

b)

c)

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees increasing diversity
at the Board level as an essential element in
supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development;

In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity
has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;
and

All Board appointments be based on meritocracy,
and candidates be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

The Company has embraced all aspects of diversity in the
current Board composition. Although there is currently no
female director appointed to the Board, the Board
recognises the importance and value of gender diversity.
The Board, with the assistance of the NC, has put in place
a BDP to address the gender issue, with the target to
nominate one female director, with suitable skills and
experience, to the Board by end of the year 2024. Related
recruitment and selection processes is now in progress and
is expected to be completed in due course.
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A summary of the gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) of the Group as at 31 December
2023 is disclosed in the ESG report of the Company. At
present, the Group does not set any targets for achieving
gender diversity in the workforce. Nevertheless, the
Group’s human resources policies in the formulation and
implementation of recruitment and promotion will ensure
the proposed candidates or employees of the Group will
be assessed based on the objective factors such as their
experiences and performance, vocational and academic
qualifications, relevant product knowledge and technical
skills, irrespective of their gender, race and religion, to
facilitate a fair and equal working environment and
opportunities.

The Nomination Committee held two (2) meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2023 to, inter alia,

1. review the duties of Nomination Committee set out in
the terms of reference and the policy for the
nomination of Directors;

2. assess the structure, size and composition of the
Board and analyse the implementation and
effectiveness of the diversity of the Board with
reference to the BDP adopted by the Board,;

3. evaluate the performance of the Board with
reference to the board performance report;

4.  study the independence of each independent non-
executive Director under the Listing Rules;

5. identify those Directors to be retired from the Board
by rotation in the annual general meeting and then
be re-elected as Director in the same meeting in
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws and the
Listing Rules;

6. propose the maximum number of Directors of the
Board in each of annual general meeting of the
Company;

7. review the service contract(s) entered and to be

entered with the non-executive Directors, including
independent non-executive Directors; and
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8. consider and recommend the appointment of the
new independent non-executive Director.

The attendance records of the meeting of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out under the section of “BOARD MEETINGS” on page
71.

ESG Committee

The ESG Committee which was established on 30
December 2020, currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors including Mr. Ye Xiang (chairman
of the ESG Committee), Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli
(appointed on 9 June 2023), as well as Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
chairman of the Board and Mr. Li Zheng, non-executive
Director.

In order to effectively follow the strategies in sustainable
development and to generate long term returns for
stakeholders, the ESG Committee was established for the
principal objectives of monitoring the formulation and
reporting work of the Group'’s strategies in relation to the
ESG issues, as well as assessing and defining the Group’s
risks in the aspects of ESG, so as to ensure the
establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk
management measures and an internal control system.
Through the internal reviewing procedures, the Board, with
the assistance of the ESG Committee regularly arranges
independent assessments and analyses the effectiveness
and comprehensiveness of the related systems and
procedures, so as to enhance the Group’s ESG
governance.

The ESG Committee operates pursuant to its terms of
reference which duties include the followings:

1. To develop and review a Board statement in relation
to ESG issues for Board’s consideration and approval,
including (i) the Board’s oversight role of ESG issues; (i)
the process used to identify, evaluate and manage
material ESG-related issues; and (iii) how the Board
reviews progress made against ESG related goals
and targets;

2. To provide vision, long term guidance and report to
the Board on the Group-level sustainability goals,
strategies and priorities;
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3. To report to the Board key trends in legislation,
regulation, litigation and public debate as regards
social, environmental and ethical standards of
corporate behavior, and recommend anticipatory
measures and plans for the Company;

4. To assess ESG risks, advise on those of strategic
significance to the Company and provide
anticipatory and mitigation plans;

5. To review material interests of the key stakeholders of
the Company and report their point-of-views on
material issues to the Company in order to secure
correct long term strategic direction;

6. To review and report to the Board the Group’s
sustainability performance vs. declared key
performance indicators and goals, relative to
comparable peers or other benchmarked
companies on a regional and global basis;

7. To review and report to the Board the relevance of
sustainability stock/ESG indices, and the performance
of the Group relative to the requirements of those
indices and the desirability of the Group inclusion in
those indices;

8. To review/approve related Group policies and make
recommendations to the Board on any changes to
those partnerships, strategies and policies;

9. To review and report to the Board on other related
recommendations and submissions for ESG; and

10. To review and advise the Board on the Company’s
public reporting regarding its performance on
sustainability, approving the ESG report before
submitting to the Board for final endorsement.

The attendance records of the meeting of the ESG
Committee during the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out under the section of “BOARD MEETINGS” on page
71.

Further details of the matters in relation to the ESG-related
issues of, together with the work done and related statistics
reported by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023 would be reported in the Company’s ESG
report for the year 2023.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Own Code on terms no
less exacting than the Model Code for Securities
Transaction by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended from
time to time, (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry has been made of all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the Own Code and the Model Code throughout the
year.

The Company has also established written guidelines on
no less exacting terms than the Model Code (the
“Employees Written Guidelines”) and Policy on disclosure
of inside information for securities transactions by relevant
employees of the Company who are likely to be in
possession of unpublished price sensitive information of the
Company.

No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written
Guidelines by the employees of the Group was noted by
the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear
and understandable assessment of annual and interim
reports, price-sensitive announcements and other
disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
regulatory requirements.

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 by the
auditors of the Company, KPMG, about their reporting
responsibilities. In preparing the financial statements, the
generally accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong
have been adopted, appropriate accounting policies
have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable
and prudent judgements and estimates have been made.
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The Board currently receives from the Management
monthly management accounts, explanation and analysis
of the operation performance and development of the
Group together with relevant information which enable
the Board to make an informed assessment of the current
financial positions and the status of the Group.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the “INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S
REPORT” on pages 137 to 145 in this annual report.

Apart from the provision of audit services, KPMG, the
Company’s external auditor, also carried out interim
review of the Group’s results and provided other financial
services in compliance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules and other statutory requirements.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, KPMG, the
external auditor of the Company, received the following
remuneration from the Group in connection with the
provision of audit and non-audit services to the Group:

Annual audit services FEEZRS
Interim review services FhHAZE B AR 7%
Other services H b AR 7

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for maintaining an adequate
internal control and risk management system to safeguard
the Shareholder investments and the Group’s assets, and
reviewing the effectiveness of such on an annual basis
with participation of the Audit Committee.
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The Group has maintained a tailored governance
structure with defined lines of responsibility and
appropriate delegation of responsibility and authority to
the Management. The internal control and risk
management systems of the Group are designed to
identify and evaluate the significant risks and to minimize
the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risks of failure to
achieve business objective, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatements or losses.

The Group which currently engages in the businesses of
the manufacturing and trading of vehicles’ power supply
system products, automotive components and
accessories and commercial vehicles assembly business,
trading of raw materials, and provision of water and
power supply, has established internal control and risk
management systems which are designed and structured
in accordance with its specific business and operation
functions.

The main features of the internal control and risk
management systems of the Group comprise primarily: (i)
the setting of objectives, budgets and targets, subject to
the close monitoring and periodic update and evaluation
by the responsible departments, Management and the
Directors; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of
financial information supplemented by other regular and
ad hoc reports for review and appraisal by the
Management and the Directors on a timely manner to
ensure the Management and Directors are supplied with
all the requested information to assess the business
performances of the Group in arriving at appropriate
plans and actions; (iii) the delegation of authority and
establishment of clear lines of accountabillity to ensure an
effective day-to-day management, administration and
operation of the Group; and (iv) the periodic review and
evaluation of the systems and control procedures to
ensure their appropriateness to the changing business and
operation environment as well as to identify any areas of
material risks and weaknesses for the purpose of proper
mitigation and improvement.
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The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk
management and internal controls. An internal audit
department is also maintained to carry out the internal
audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the
internal control and risk management system to identify
the potential risks which may arise in the operation
and financial aspects of the Group’s business for
implementation of appropriate measures and policies on
a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit plan
of the internal audit department for the year ended 31
December 2023, which are formulated based on a risk
assessment approach and focuses on areas with relatively
higher perceived risks, are reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee in conjunction with the Management.
The internal audit department executes their functions
based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for their
assignments. These reports are submitted to the
Management, the Board and the Audit Committee for
review on a regular basis.

During the year under review, the Board, through the Audit
Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness
of the internal control and risk management system and
the internal audit functions of Group. The review covers all
material controls, including financial reporting system,
operational and compliance controls and risk
management system as well as the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experiences of staffs of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting system,
and their training programmes and budget. The Board
and the Audit Committee confirmed that during the year
under review, there were no significant control failings or
weaknesses identified which might have a material
impact on the Company’s financial performance or
operation and the required procedures and human
resources are in place to ensure adequate internal
controls within the Group.
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ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLE BLOWING

The Group regards the high standards of ethical and
honest behaviours as the foundation of healthy
development. We strictly comply with the laws and
regulations such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in
Hong Kong the Criminal Law of the People’ s Republic of
China, Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the
People’s Republic of China. The Group has also established
an internal management system to monitor the integrity
performance and to construct a corporate culture of
integrity, so as to regulate the behaviours of employees.
Employees are required to sign an undertaking for
integrity, anti-corruption, honesty, anti-fraud and discipline,
so that they are alerted to comply with the national and
the Group’s regulations related to integrity. We have also
set up a reporting system to enable the Group’s
commission for discipline inspection to monitor the
reporting through e-mails (jw@wuling.com.cn and
whistleblowing@wuling.com.hk), as well as to set up a
report box in the canteen to encourage employees and
third parties to report corruption to us through different
channels. The identity of the reporting persons will be kept
confidential.

The Group has also established management measures
for supervision, management measures for employee
discipline and management measures for submission and
registration of present and gift-money to strictly manage
the behaviours of directors and all employees. If any
violations of the anti-corruption rules are found, we will act
according to the anti-corruption rules and discipline
measures of the Regulation of the Communist Party of
China on Disciplinary Actions, and take actions or
necessary disciplinary actions based on the severity of the
violations. In the meantime, we strive to maintain integrity
in cooperation relationship with our business partners, and
hence we have signed agreements of integrity with our
business partners. Both parties need to agree to maintain
a style of integrity and self-discipline in business activities,
as well as adhere to the principles of obeying the law,
maintaining fairness and integrity, so as to prevent any
behaviours against the law and to assure the legal rights
of both parties. A monitoring department is also
established to conduct integrity reviews and to visit the
business partners to investigate and understand the
implementation of the integrity work.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the reports prepared
by the compliance department for the year ended 31
December 2023 with no material irregularities being noted.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside
Information Disclosure Policy (the “Policy”) for the
Company for monitoring inside information to ensure
compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance. The procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information as set
out in the Policy are summarized below:

Handling of Inside Information

1. Inside information shall be announced as soon as
reasonably practicable after it becomes known to
the Board and/or is the subject of a decision by the
Board in accordance with the Listing Rules. In cases
where a decision by the Board is pending or in cases
of incomplete negotiations, the Group shall
implement the procedures set out in the Policy to
maintain the confidentiality of information. Until an
announcement is made, the Directors and the
Management should ensure that such information is
kept strictly confidential. If the confidentiality cannot
be maintained, an announcement shall be made as
soon as practicable.

2. Each department shall keep inside information on
transactions confidential. If there is a leakage of
inside information, they shall inform the Directors, the
chief financial officer, who is also the Company
Secretary, immediately so that remedial actions,
including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest
opportunity.

3. The Group’s Finance Department shall keep track of
the Group’s threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to
the size tests and other disclosure requirements under
the Listing Rules, so that an announcement can be
made as soon as practicable.
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Dissemination of Inside Information

Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
the Company (www.wuling.com.hk). The electronic
publication system of the Stock Exchange is the first
channel of dissemination of the Group’s information
before any other channel.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders should direct their questions about their
shareholdings to the Company’s Hong Kong branch
registrar and transfer office, namely, Tricor Tengis Limited,
whose contact details are stated in the section headed
“CORPORATE INFORMATION” of this annual report.

Shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company may deposit a requisition to
convene a special general meeting of the Company and
state the purpose therefore at the Company’s registered
office in Bermuda at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Street, Hamilton HM 10, Bermuda.

The Board is welcome to Shareholders for their comments
and/or enquiries about the Company. Shareholders who
wish to send their comments and/or enquiries to the Board
and/or put forward proposal for the Company’s
consideration at the general meetings of the Company
can send their proposal to the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
as stated in the section headed “CORPORATE
INFORMATION” of this annual report.

Pursuant to bye-law 89 of the Company, if a Shareholder
wish to propose a person other than retiring Directors for
election as a Director at a general meeting of the
Company, the Shareholder should deposit a written notice
of nomination which shall be given to the head office of
the Company at the within the 7-day period commencing
the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
(or such other period as may be determined and
announced by the Directors from time to time). The
relevant procedures is posted on the Company’s website
(www.wuling.com.hk).

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the
Company’s information to the extent such information is
publicly available.
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EXREL|E

Corporate communication of the Company did and
would be provided to Shareholders in plain language and
in both English and Chinese versions to facilitate
Shareholder’s understanding.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company acknowledges the importance of
maintaining effective communication with the
Shareholders and the investment community and has
adopted communications policy with Shareholders and
investors of the Company (the “Communication Policy”)
that provide ready, equal and timely access to
understandable information about the Company. The
Communication Policy is posted on the Company’s
website (www.wuling.com.hk) and reviewed on a regular
basis to ensure its effectiveness.

Each general meeting of the Company provides a forum
for communication between the Board and the
Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of Shareholders’
rights, significant issues, including the election of Directors,
are dealt with under separate resolutions at general
meetings.

During the year, non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng and
all of the independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Ye Xiang, Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Mi Jianguo
(resigned on 9 June 2023) had attended the Shareholders’
meetings held by the Company. Each Director will use his
endeavours to attend all future shareholders’ meetings of
the Company.

The chairman of the Board did and would arrange for the
chairman and/or member of the Audit Committee
together with the external auditor of the Company be
available to answer questions about the conduct of the
audit, the preparation and content of the auditors’ report,
the accounting policies and auditor independence and
others in each annual general meeting of the Company.
Moreover, as for the connected transactions, the
continuing connected transactions or any other
transactions that are subject to independent Shareholders’
approval, the chairman or a member of the independent
board committee did and would also be available to
answer questions at special general meetings of the
Company.
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Most resolutions would be passed by way of poll at each
of the general meeting of the Company. Shareholders
who are unable to attend general meetings of the
Company can appoint proxies to attend and vote at
general meetings of the Company. The chairman of
general meetings of the Company or the Company
Secretary would provide explanation of the detailed
procedures for conducting a poll and then would answer
questions (if any) from the Shareholders regarding voting
by way of poll. The Company would send notices of the
annual general meetings of the Company to the
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before each
annual general meeting of the Company and at least 10
clear business days before all other general meetings of
the Company.

The Company’s website (www.wuling.com.hk) contains
important corporate information, annual and interim
reports, announcements and circulars issued by the
Company, as well as the respective terms of reference of
each Committee and policies to enable the Shareholders
and the investor community to have timely access to
updated information about the Group.

The Company continues to enhance communications
and relationships with its investors. Designated senior
management maintains regular dialogue with institutional
investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are
dealt with in an informative and timely manner.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the
Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company'’s affairs. He is reporting to the chairman of the
Board. For the year ended 31 December 2023, the
Company Secretary has complied with the Listing Rules by
taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training. All Directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure the Board
procedures, and all applicable law, rules and regulations,
are followed.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) present their
annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
41 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report. There were no significant changes in the nature of
the Group’s principal activities during the year. Further
discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622), including a discussion of the principal risks and
uncertainties facing the Group and an indication of likely
future development in the Group’s business, can be found
in the sections of “CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT", “OPERATION
REVIEW” and “FINANCIAL REVIEW” set out on pages 2 to 47
of this annual report. These sections form part of this Report
of the Directors.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 are set out in the sections of “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF PROFIT OR LOSS” and “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME” of this
annual report on pages 146 and 147 respectively.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HKDO.5 cent (2022: HKDO.3 cent) per ordinary
share of the Company (the “Share(s)”) for the year ended
31 December 2023 (the “Final Dividend”) to the members
of the Company (the “Shareholder(s)”), whose names shall
be on the register of members of the Company on Friday,
28 June 2024, amounting to approximately HKD16,491,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB15,180,000), subject to
the approval by the Shareholders in the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Friday, 14 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM”).
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For Attendance of 2024 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 11 June 2024 to Friday, 14 June 2024 (both
dates inclusive) (the “1st Book Close Period”), for the
purpose of determining the Shareholders’ eligibility to
attend and vote at the 2024 AGM and during the 1st Book
Close Period no transfer of the Shares will be effected. In
order to qualify for attendance of the 2024 AGM, all
completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates of the Company must be lodged with
the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 7
June 2024.

For Entitlement to Final Dividend

The register of members of the Company will be closed
from Tuesday, 25 June 2024 to Friday, 28 June 2024 (both
days inclusive) (the “2nd Book Close Period”), for the
purpose of determining the Shareholders’ entittement to
the Final Dividend and during the 2nd Book Close Period
no transfer of the Shares will be effected. In order to
qualify for entittement to the Final Dividend, all completed
transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share
certificates of the Company must be lodged with the
Company'’s branch share registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong
Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 24 June 2024.
Subject to the approval of the Final Dividend by the
Shareholders in the 2024 AGM, the dividend warrants of
the Final Dividend will be dispatched to the Shareholders
on or before 31 July 2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Directors propose any dividend by the Company in
accordance with the dividend policy of the Company
(“Dividend Policy”) which essential features are
summarized below:

Purpose

The Dividend Policy sets out the principles and guidelines
of the Company in relation to the distribution of dividend
to the Shareholders.

The objective of the Dividend Policy is to reward the
Shareholders by sharing a portion of profits/earning, while
also ensuring that enough funds are retained for the future
growth and prospects of the Company.

Factors when considering the distribution of dividend

The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject
to the discretion of the board of the Directors (the “Board”),
which normally did/would take into account of the
following factors:

- The financial results of the Company;

- Interests of the Shareholders;

- General business conditions and strategies;

- The capital requirements of the Group;

- Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends
by the Company to the Shareholders or by the
subsidiaries to the Company, if any;

- Taxation considerations;

- Possible effects on the creditworthiness of the
Company;

- Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

- Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount,

or any dividend at all, will be declared and paid in the
future.
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Provisions with regard to distribution of dividend

Any distribution of dividend for a financial year shall be
subject to the approval by the Shareholders. Shareholders
at an annual general meeting of the Company can
approve any distribution of final dividend, which should
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

All of the Shareholders have equal rights to dividend.

Dividend may be distributed in the form of cash and/or in
specie of Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must
be approved by the Shareholders.

The Board may from time to time to declare the special,
quarterly and/or interim dividends as appear to the Board
to be justified.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during
the year are set out in the “CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY” of this annual report on pages 150 to
151.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended from
time to time), contributed surplus is available for
distribution to the Shareholders. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution
out of contributed surplus, if:

a) the Company is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or

b) the realizable value of the Company’s assets would
thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities
and its issued share capital and share premium
accounts.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five (5) financial years, as
extracted from the respective audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out below. This

R EES

ATRAEEBRERDG) BN BRFE 2B %
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REZEAVBHRER - UHEY NEBKAF
W eMBmRZ—&D:

summary does not form part of the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report:

2023
—E-=
RMB'000
ARETT
Revenue WA 10483933 12595607 14408507 15382213 14,237,305
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAER/ (B8 77461 46597  (45914)  (25624)  (181,894)
Income tax (expense)/credit FifEf(R%)/ % (8,005) (6,559) 54 3,757 15,279
Profit/(loss) for the year ENgEH/ (B8) 69,456 40,038 (45,860)  (21,867)  (166,615)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: WA T & A E(EERET/(BHE) :
Owner of the Company FAREAA 23477 22,611 (24,148)  (33403)  (124,026)
Non-controlling interests kgD 45,979 17,427 (21,712) 11,536 (42,589)
69,456 40,038 (45860)  (21,867)  (166,615)
Total assets BEE 15050,774 15545416 15021524 15403024 15,692,556
Total liabilties waE (12,100,067) (12,665,535) (12,188,354) (12,909,988) (13,387,233)
Net assets FEE 2950707 2,879,881 2833170 249303 2305323
Net assets attributable to: ATEFEIEFEE
Owner of the Company RRATHEBA 1934858 1913112 1880635 1474565 12310604
Non-controlling interests kR 1,015,849 966,769 952535 1018471 994,719
2,950,707 2,879,881 2833170 2493036 2,305,323

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-
OF-USE ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group revalued its investment properties at the year
ended on 31 December 2023. The net decrease in fair
value of the investment properties of the Group, which has
been charged directly to consolidated income statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
amounted to RMB6,144,000 (2022: net decrease of
RMB1,745,000).

Details of these and other movements during the year in
the property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 12,
13 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report, respectively.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital
of the Company are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION AND SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under
the Company’s bye-laws or the laws in Bermuda which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to the current Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the
year ended 31 December 2023, save for the share options
disclosed in the paragraph “SHARE OPTION SCHEME”
disclosed below and others, if any, disclosed in this annual
report.

BORROWINGS

Details of the bank and other borrowings of the Group are
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements
of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the aggregate
sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer and five
(5) largest customers taken together accounted for
respectively 49.3% (2022: 47.9%) and 63.2% (2022: 55.9%) of
the Group’s total revenue for the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
largest supplier and the five (5) largest suppliers taken
together accounted for respectively 24.4% (2022: 21.4%)
and 33.3% (2022: 35.4%) of the Group’s total purchases for
the year.
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FABARZEASERHERAFSA IC-GM-Wuling
Automobile Co., Ltd.* (“SGMW"), in which, B /5= £ E 4
B2 7] (" EPERE") Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited*
("Guangxi Automobile”), the ultimate controlling
Shareholder, holds 5.8% of its registered capital, was the
Group’s largest customer and largest supplier for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their
close associates or, so far as the Directors are aware, any
Shareholder who owns more than 5% of the issued share
capital of the Company has any interests in any of the
aforesaid top five (5) customers and/or suppliers of the
Group for the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this
report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Zhijun (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Jianyong

Mr. Wei Mingfeng

Non-Executive Director
Mr. Li Zheng

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Ye Xiang
Mr. Wang Yuben
Mr. Xu Jinli
(appointed on 9 June 2023)

Past Independent Non-Executive Director
Mr. Mi Jianguo
(resigned on 9 June 2023)

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out
on pages 48 to 52 of this annual report.
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Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws and/or the Listing
Rules at each annual general meeting of the Company
not less than one-third of the Directors (including those
appointed for a specific term) for the time being shall
retire from the Board by rotation and each Director shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years at the conclusion of annual general meeting
of the Company after he was last elected or re-elected in
the general meeting of the Company (i.e. the term of
appointment of all Directors, including the non-executive
Directors, is effectively three years) and each Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional
Director by the Board is subject to re-election by the
Shareholders at the next annual general meeting of the
Company following his appointment.

Besides, for independent non-executive Director who has
served the Company for more than nine years, his further
appointment will be subject to a separate resolution to be
approved by the Shareholders at the annual general
meeting of the Company and the papers to the
Shareholders accompanying the reasons why the Board
believes he is still independent and should be re-elected.

In accordance with the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules
and the bye-law 99(B) of the Company, Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
being executive Director and Mr. Wang Yuben, being
independent non-executive Director, will retire from the
Board by rotation at the conclusion of annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 14 June
2024 (the “2024 AGM”) and Mr. Yuan Zhijun and Mr. Wang
Yuben, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Director by respective separate resolutions to be passed
by the Shareholders at the 2024 AGM.

Besides, in accordance with the Company’s bye-law 91,
Mr. Xu Jinli, duly appointed as an independent non-
executive Director by the Board with the recommendation
from NC to fill the causal vacancy on 9 June 2023, will also
retire from the Board as Director at the 2024 AGM, who
being eligible, offer himself for re-election as Director by a
separate resolution to be passed by the Shareholders at
the 2024 AGM.

The above proposed re-elections of all retiring Directors at
the 2024 AGM have been approved by the Nomination
Committee and the Board accordingly.

ESEHE

BREARBDZARMAR L EWRY =4
= HEIEF (BEUARECHZRE®
EF)ERARABERRBFAG LUES
ERERT HEEFAARLARARTR
BRAEEELAEERELIB=ZF—ANK
RAIRRBFREEREHERT(A2E
EX(BREIFVTESR)ZEHER LA =
F) MEBEFSRENVERBR ZRIEE
REUEZSESHARNRERTRETL
AR TERRBEFARG LERRERET-

AN BB IFATEFTEARARRAEERB
NF REBERABIRBRTABBKRE
RARBIBERBERE L@EE TAEE [
BRELZXMHBEEZRBRNEFTER
RRNEBBIANT Y EREREFE RN -

RIBEAR LR B 814 R A R 2 X 748 Bl
FB) R MITEEREERL BN
TEEFIMALERR T _MFNA+HE
B(EHR)BTZARABRRBEFKRE (1=
BEoMERRBFEFAG AR HRERTE
R EREELRLERIRNAREDFTAE
RABBR-_F_NFRRBFASHERB
EEBUZRZRARRERETES-

I EREREGHE BTN _FT =
FRANBERZERY N KRERIBILIEH
TEENEARRZR MREBEARF 2R
AIARRI IR AN —F _MFERREBF
ARELERTEFSEFT INAERARE
R-Z_MERRBFAS LHBRREBBE
BREREERES-

AR T -_NFERRBFASEEMER
TEFZEBCRRERRZEg R EZTSHE-

103



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED > ANNUAL REPORT 2023

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
received from each of its independent non-executive
Director, the respective written annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and the Board and the Nomination Committee has
considered and agreed all independent non-executive
Directors are independent in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
EMOLUMENT

Details of the Directors’ and senior management’s
emolument disclosed on a named basis and/or by band,
respectively, are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Company has entered into service contracts with all
of the four non-executive Directors (including three (3)
independent non-executive Directors) for a specific term
of three (3) years who are also required to retire from the
Board by rotation at the annual general meeting of the
Company and then re-election by the Shareholders in the
same meeting at least once every three years in
accordance with the Company’s bye-laws and the Listing
Rules.

No retiring Director (Mr. Yuan Zhijun, Mr. Wang Yuben and
Mr. Xu Jinli) being proposed for re-election at the 2024
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company was entered into or existed
during the year.

*  For identification purpose only
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and
their associates in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers (the “Model Code”), contained in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules were as follows:

Long Positions

Mr. Yuan Zhijun Beneficial owner

REERE ERBEAA

Mr. Ye Xiang Beneficial owner
EALE EREAA

Mr. Wei Mingfeng Beneficial owner
EREEE EREAA

Mr. Song Wei Beneficial owner (Note)
RIEEFTE BB A (M)

Note: This represents the outstanding share options held by Mr.
Song Wei, the chief executive officer of the Company,
under the Share Option Scheme (as defined below), which
details are described in the section “Share Option Scheme”
below.

* The percentage has been adjusted (if any) based on
the total number of Shares in issue as at 31
December 2023 (i.e. 3,298,161,332 Shares).

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any other interests or short positions in any
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations as at 31 December
2023 which had been entered in the register kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the number of outstanding share
options granted by the Company to the Directors under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme (defined below) to
subscribe for Shares, as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” of this report of Directors.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year
ended 31 December 2023 was the Company, its
subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTEREST IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the section headed “CONNECTED
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS” in this
Report of the Directors from pages 112 to 132, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies was a party or were parties and in which
Director(s), their associates or any entities connected with
a Director or their associates had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or any time during the year.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has a share option scheme which was
adopted on 10 November 2021 (“Adoption Date”) (“Share
Option Scheme”) whereby the directors of the Company
are authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of
the Group, including directors of any company in the
Group, but exclusive of any independent non-executive
director, external director and any shareholder (or
beneficial owner) holding 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company, or the spouse, any parent, child
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or other associate of such shareholder (or beneficial
owner) to take up options at nil consideration to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The purpose of the scheme
are (i) to recognize and acknowledge the contributions or
potential contributions made or to be made by the
participants to the Group; (ii) to motivate the participants
to optimize their performance and efficiency for the
benefit of the Group; (iii)) to maintain or attract business
relationship with the participants whose contributions are
or may be beneficial to the growth of the Group; and (iv)
to establish a benefit sharing and risk sharing mechanism
among the shareholders, the Company and the
participants to all together pay more attention to long
term development of the Company.

The terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme and
the granting of share options of the Company (“Share
Options”) under the Share Option Scheme are more fully
described in the circular of the Company dated 21
October 2021 and a summary of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme and its movement for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out below and in note 31 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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Number of Share Options
BlREXNE
Name and Outstanding Outstanding
category of Exercise Price asat Lapsed/ asat Exercise
option holders Date of grant per Share 01/01/2023 Granted  Cancelled 31/12/2023 Period
R-B-= R-B==

BRESEA —-B-H BX¥/ +=B=+-8
HERER RiHAH BRITEE KT 2 Bt KT (i
Employees
E&
Under continuous ~ 10/12/2021 HKD1.93 18,454,170 - (18,454,170) - A

contracts ZZZ-F+tZA+A  1938%n
REBEAY 10/12/2021 HKD1.93 24,605,560 - (17279200 22,877,640 B

ZEZ-51ZATH 193

Total 43,059,730 - (20,182,090) 22,877,640
@t

*  For identification purpose only
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Exercise period:

A.

From the first trading day after the third-year
anniversary (36-month) of the Grant Date to the last
trading day within the fourth-year anniversary
(48-month) of the date of completion of registration,
30% of the total number of Share Options granted to
each grantee shall be vested and exercisable
(excluding the Share Options which have already
been vested and exercised).

From the first trading day after the fourth-year
anniversary (48-month) of the Grant Date to the last
trading day within the fifth-year anniversary
(60-month) of the date of completion of registration,
40% of the total number of Share Options granted to
each grantee shall be vested and exercisable
(excluding the Share Options which have already
been vested and exercised).

Notes:
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On 10 December 2021, a total number of 86,425,300 Share
Options, representing approximately 2.26% of the issued
share capital of the Company on the date of grant (“Grant
Date”) were granted to the executive Director, Mr. Wei
Mingfeng and a nhumber of 834 employees of the Group, in
which a number of 83,473,600 Share Options were
subsequently accepted by the grantees during the period
from 14 December 2021 to 7 January 2022, and a number
of 2,951,700 Share Options were not accepted and
deemed to be cancelled.

The Share Options were granted at an exercise price of
HK$1.93 per Share, which was determined with reference to
the highest of: (i) HK$1.93, being the closing price of the
Shares on the date of grant (“Grant Date”); and (ii) HK$1.814,
being the average closing price of the Shares on the five (5)
trading days prior to the Grant Date.

The closing price of the Shares immediately before the
Grant Date was HK$1.93.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, no Share
Options were being granted or exercised and a total
number of 20,182,090 Share Options were lapsed or
cancelled, in which (i) 1,727,920 Share Options were due to
resignation and/or redesignation of employment, and (ii)
18,454,170 Share Options, were due to the failure of meeting
the specific performance by the Group.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

RARIRBEFERF R EENIEIB6KTFEZE
ZRRECMBER R_ZE=-=Z=F+=A
Zt+—H THBRERERAQRFTMEHEER

The register of substantial Shareholders maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows that,
as at 31 December 2023, the following Shareholders had

notified the Company of their relevant interests in the

issued share capital of the Company:

Long positions

"R

ARRBHTRAR 2 BRI

Approximate % of

Nature of Number of  the total number
Name of Shareholder Capacity interest Shares  of Shares in issue*
LERTRIBEH
BREE 2E 513 REME G E ZBAR AL
Dragon Hill (Vo) Beneficial owner o€ ) Corporate 356,622,914 10.81%
1) () B2 E NE AT
Mr. Lee Shing Interest in controlled Corporate 356,622,914 10.81%
(deceased) (“Mr Lee”) corporation e
FRAERH)((Z%E]) REHIA R 2 e NS
Beneficial owner o2 Personal 4,636,350 0.14%
Eamfa N A
Interest held by spouse ®€2  Family 2,472,720 0.08%
TSy Sl BN
Sub-total 363,731,984 11.03%
it
Ms. Kwan To Yin (e Interest in controlled Corporate 356,622,914 10.81%
corporation 4
FIEf S et et VNG £l N
Beneficial owner o9 Personal 2,472,720 0.08%
Eamfa N EA
Interest held by spouse ™8 Family 4,636,350 0.14%
Be B s A o) BN
Sub-total 363,731,984 11.03%
It
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Nature of
Name of Shareholder Capacity interest
BRRESR£H EanE
Wuling Motors (Hong Kong) Beneficial owner Corporate
Holdings Limited
(“Wuling HK")ote 7
TE (BB BERERDA ERBEBA NG
(EEER )7
Wuling Motors (Hong Kong) Interest in controlled Corporate
Company Limited corporation
(“Wuling Motors")Nete?)
nERE(BE)BRRAR REHAR R NG
([RERE|)W=7
BREAEREBRATF Interest in controlled Corporate
Guangxi Automobile corporation
Holdings Limited *
(“Guangxi Automobile”)™oe )
ERAEERARAF REHIRR R NGl
([EFERE]) W=7

Notes: Mt

1. The late Mr. Lee Shing was a former executive Director and 1.
was beneficially interested in 356,622,914 Shares, whose
interests were held by Dragon Hill Development Limited
(“Dragon Hill”), a company wholly owned by the late Mr.

Lee Shing. The late Mr. Lee Shing was also the sole director
of Dragon Hill.

2. These represent the Shares held by the late Mr. Lee Shing 2.
and his spouse, Ms. Kwan To Yin, as beneficial owners,
respectively.

3. Ms. Kwan To Yin, spouse of the late Mr. Lee Shing, reported 3.
as having interests in the Shares held by Dragon Hill and the
late Mr. Lee Shing, as being herself appointed as
administratrix of the estate of the late Mr. Lee pursuant to
the Letters of Administration Ad Colligenda Bona granted
on 4 August 2022.

4. This represents the same parcel of Shares held by Dragon 4.
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Hill as referred in Note 1 above.

Approximate % of

Number of  the total number
Shares  of Shares in issue*
HERTRAEE

RHEE ZHHF R
1,864,698,780 56.54%
1,864,698,780 56.54%
1,864,698,780 56.54%
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5.  This represents the same parcel of Shares held by Ms.
Kwan To Yin as referred in Note 2 above.

6. This represents the same parcel of Shares held by the
late Mr. Lee Shing as referred in Note 2 above.

7. The entire issued share capital of Wuling HK is
currently held by Wuling Motors, whereas the entire
issued share capital of Wuling Motors is currently held
by Guangxi Automobile. Accordingly, Wuling Motors
and Guangxi Automobile are deemed to be
interested in the Shares in which Wuling HK is
interested under the SFO. Mr. Yuan Zhijun and Mr.
Yang Jianyong, both of them executive Director, are
also directors of Wuling HK, Wuling Motors and
Guangxi Automobile. Mr. Wei Minfeng, an executive
Director, is also a senior executive of Guangxi
Automobile.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023,
the Company has not been notified of any other relevant
interests and short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporation, which had been recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted its own code of conduct
regarding directors’ dealings in the Company’s securities
(the "Own Code”) on terms no less exacting than the
Model Code, The Directors have confirmed they have
complied with the Own Code and the Model Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Yuan Zhijun, the chairman of the Board and an
executive Director, is also a director of SGMW. SGMW,
which is a joint venture formed among Shanghai
Automobile Industry (Group) Company Limited, GM
(China) Investment Company Limited and Guangxi
Automobile and is the Group’s largest customer and
largest supplier for the year, is principally engaged in the
manufacturing and trading businesses of motor vehicles
and engines (the “Excluded Business”), which may have
direct or indirect competition to the businesses of the
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Group. Although Mr. Yuan is taken to have competing
interests in SGMW by virtue of his common directorships,
he currently fulfills his fiduciary duty in order to ensure that
he acts in the best interest of the Shareholders and the
Company as a whole at all times. Besides, as SGMW is
operated and managed under a publicly listed company
with independent management and administration, the
Board are satisfied that the Group is capable of carrying
its businesses independently of, and at arm’s length basis
from, the Excluded Businesses.

All Directors, including those interested in the Excluded
Business, did and would, as and when required under the
Bye-laws and/or the Listing Rules, disclose to the Board
and then abstain from voting on any resolution of the
Board in respect of any contract, arrangement or proposal
in which he or any of his associates has material interest.

Save as disclosed above, during the year and up to the
date of this report, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates has interests in a business, apart from the
business of the Group, which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of
the Group pursuant to the Listing Rules.

CONNECTED AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

In order to ensure that the business and operation of
Wuling Industrial and/or its associates (the “Wuling
Industrial Group”) Wuling Industrial entered into the
following agreements with Guangxi Automobile and/or its
associates (the “Guangxi Automobile Group”), which are
in effect during and/or subsequent to the year:

(1) Acquisition of Right-of-Use Asset under the
2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement

On 29 December 2021, Wuling Industrial (as tenant)
and Guangxi Automobile (as landlord) entered into
a new master tenancy agreement to renew the
tenancy of certain properties under the former
master agreement which was expired on 31
December 2021 (the “2019-2021 Master Tenancy
Agreement”), and to set out a framework of terms
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governing the leases of the Revised Additional
Properties (defined below) by Wuling Industrial from
Guangxi Automobile for a term of three years from 1
January 2022 to 31 December 2024 and to adopt
new annual caps for the renewed tenancy (the
“2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement”). The Revised
Liuzhou Leased Properties (as defined below) are
important for the Wuling Industrial Group in carrying
out its businesses, being the manufacturing of
vehicle’ s power supply systems, automotive
components and accessories, commercial vehicles
assembly and other related business. The entering
into the 2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement would
ensure that the business and operation of the Wuling
Industrial Group will not be affected upon the
expiration of the 2019-2021 Master Tenancy
Agreement on 31 December 2021. Under the 2022-
2024 Master Tenancy Agreement, the properties to
be leased include (a) eight parcels of land and 42
buildings, all of which are located in Liuzhou, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC and with a
total site area and floor area of approximately
482,082.41 square meters and 149,455.62 square
meters respectively (the “Revised Liuzhou Leased
Properties”) and (b) the other properties including but
not limited to those adjacent to the Revised Liuzhou
Leased Properties owned by Guangxi Automobile
(the “Revised Additional Properties”) to cater for
possible further business development of the Wuling
Industrial Group, to the extent that the aggregated
annual rentals for the Revised Liuzhou Leased
Properties and the Revised Additional Properties will
not exceed the proposed new annual caps for each
of the three years ending 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 which are being fixed at RMB36,530,000 per
annum.
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In accordance to the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (the “HKFRS”) 16 “Leases” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
the Group, as the lessee, shall recognize a lease as a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the
Group. As such, the transactions contemplated
under the 2022-2024 Master Tenancy Agreement
would be regarded as an acquisition of asset under
the definition of transaction set out in Rule 14A.24(1)
of the Listing Rules. In this connection, the value of
the right-of-use asset to be recognized under these
transactions is RMB82,352,157, and the corresponding
amount of lease liability to be recognized shall be
the same as the aforesaid value of the right-of-use
asset recognized, of which the value of the right-of-
use asset of RMB82,352,157 will be amortized over the
lease period. Details of 2022-2024 Master Tenancy
Agreement were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 December 2021 and 4
January 2022.

As the highest applicable ratio for the value of the
right-of-use asset in respect of the connected
transaction contemplated under the 2022-2024
Master Agreement exceeded 0.1% but was less than
5%, the transaction was subject only to the reporting
and announcement requirements but exempted
from circular and the Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

Trans

actions which were in effect during the year ended

31 December 2023

1)

114

2022-2024 Loan Agreement

On 16 November 2021, Wuling Industrial, as borrower,
and Guangxi Automobile, as lender, entered into a
new loan agreement to renew the loan facility
granted under the loan agreements entered into on
23 November 2018 between each of Wuling Industrial
and Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors Company Limited
(“Wuling Liuji”), both of them subsidiaries of the
Company, as borrowers, and Guangxi Automobile,
as lender (the “2019-2021 Loan Agreements”) by
Guangxi Automobile to Wuling Industrial Group for
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the provision of general working capital for the daily
operations of Wuling Industrial Group (the “Facility”),
of which the maximum limits of the facility granted to
Wuling Industrial are amounting to RMB5,800,000,000,
RMB6,700,000,000 and RMB7,500,000,000 respectively
for the three years ending 31 December 2022, 2023
and 2024 (the “2022-2024 Loan Agreement”). The
term of the Facility is not more than six (6) months
from the date of each drawdown, and the
drawdown amount to Wuling Industrial will be
secured by the same amount of bill receivables of
the respective borrowing subsidiary in the Wuling
Industrial Group to be assighed to Guangxi
Automobile. The interest rates to be charged under
the Facility will be the lowest interest rate offered by
banks as obtained by Wuling Industrial Group for
similar type of facilities pledged with bill receivables
at the time of drawdown. The maximum amount
of aggregate interest payment to be made to
Guangxi Automobile for the three years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 in respect of the
Facility will be RMB123,453,000, RMB142,610,000 and
RMB159,638,000 respectively. The Facility will be used
by Wuling Industrial Group as general working
capital. Details of the 2022-2024 Loan Agreement
were described in the Company’s announcements
dated 16 November 2021 and 12 January 2022 and
the circular dated 21 December 2021.

As certain of the applicable percentage ratios (as
defined under the Listing Rules) in respect of the
provision of the Facility exceed 5%, the provision of
the Facility, which were secured by the bill
receivables of Wuling Industrial, constituted non-
exempt continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
which was subject to the reporting, announcement,
circular and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements. In this regard, the Independent
Shareholders’ approval for the 2022-2024 Loan
Agreement was obtained in the special general
meeting of the Company held on 12 January 2022.
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The actual amount of the Facility granted from
Guangxi Automobile to Wuling Industrial Group for
the year ended 31 December 2023 was
RMB1,724,412,000 (2022: RMB921,854,000), whereas,
the aggregate amount of interest paid to Guangxi
Automobile for the year ended 31 December 2023
was RMB1,942,000 (2022:6,434,000), which amounts
were all within the respective annual caps under the
2022-2024 Loan Agreement.

Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement

On 13 May 2021, Wuling Industrial and #1H L 2 /%

A R A &l (Liuzhou Wuling Automotive Technology
Limited*) (“Wuling Auto Tech”) entered into a new
equipment purchase framework agreement in
relation to the continued transactions of Liuzhou
Equipment Purchase Transactions (defined below)
under an equipment purchase framework
agreement entered into between Wuling Industrial
and Wuling Auto Tech on 28 April 2020 (2020
Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement”) and to
adopt new annual caps for the period commencing
from 13 May 2021 to 31 December 2023 for the new
agreement (“2021-2023 Equipment Purchase
Framework Agreement”) in governing the purchase
of equipment, machineries and/or toolings by the
Wuling Industrial Group for the production and testing
processes of its engines products, automotive
components products and specialized vehicles in
accordance with the standard tender process of the
Group whether by public tender or private tender
pursuant to the respective terms of the 2021-2023
Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement (the
“Liuzhou Equipment Purchase Transactions”). Wuling
Auto Tech had been selected as the successful
bidder for the supply of various equipment,
machineries and/or toolings to the Wuling Industrial
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020. It was
expected that Wuling Auto Tech may participate in
bidding for tenders for the supply of Equipment to be
published by the Wuling Industrial Group during each
of the three years ended 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023. It was also considered that Wuling Auto
Tech, being a fellow subsidiary of Wuling Industrial,
would have an advantage with a familiarity to the
standards and specifications of the product and
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service requirements set by the Wuling Industrial
Group. Details of the 2021-2023 Equipment Purchase
Framework Agreement were disclosed in the
Company’s announcement dated 13 May 2021.

The approved annual caps for the Liuzhou Equipment
Purchase Transactions as stipulated in the 2021-2023
Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement for each
of the three years ended 31 December 2021, 2022
and 2023 were RMB41,000,000, RMB46,000,000 and
RMB49,000,000, respectively.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as set
out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the
annual caps of the Liuzhou Equipment Purchase
Transactions under the 2021-2023 Equipment
Purchase Framework Agreement, on an annual basis,
was more than 0.1% and less than 5%, the entering
into the 2021-2023 Equipment Purchase Framework
Agreement together with the transactions
contemplated thereunder (including but not limit to
the annual caps) constituted continuing connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting,
annual review and announcement requirements
under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing Rules, but exempted
from the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The actual amount of the Liuzhou Equipment
Purchase Transactions under the 2021-2023
Equipment Purchase Framework Agreement for the
year ended 31 December 2021, 2022 and 2023 were
RMB8,057,000, RMB44,042,000 and RMB47,297,000
respectively, which were all within the annual caps
under the 2021-2023 Equipment Purchase Framework
Agreement.
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2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement

In connection with the investments by the Company
and Wuling Industrial in Wuling New Energy took
place during the year ended 31 December 2022
(“Capital Increase Exercise”), on 31 March 2022,
Wuling Industrial and Wuling New Energy entered into
a framework agreement for a term of three financial
years ending 31 December 2024 (“2022-2024 New
Energy Framework Agreement”) to govern certain
continuing connected transactions, which included
(i) NE Sale Transactions (as defined below); (ii) NE
Modification Services (as defined below); (iii) NE
Purchase (Materials and Parts) Transactions (as
defined below); (iv) NE Purchase (Finished Products)
Transactions (as defined below); and (v) NE Technical
Support Services (as defined below) to be carried out
between the Wuling Industrial Group and Wuling
New Energy in consequence of the Capital Increase
and Restructure. Details of the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement were more fully described in
the Company’s announcement dated 31 March 2022
and the Company’s circular dated 7 June 2022.

Pursuant to the 2022-2024 New Energy Framework
Agreement, the Wuling Industrial Group has
conditionally agreed to (i) supply certain automotive
components and related accessories for production
and trading purposes (including various types of
power supply system products, various types of
automotive parts and accessories, raw materials
(including steel) and other consumables and
materials) to Wuling New Energy (the “NE Sale
Transactions”); (ii) provide vehicles modification
services (including installation and assembly of floor
board, vehicle lamps and accessories) to Wuling
New Energy (the “NE Modification Services”); (iii)
purchase certain consumables, raw materials and
automotive components for production and trading
purposes (including various types of automotive parts
and accessories, moulds and toolings, scrap
materials, and accessories) from Wuling New Energy
(the “NE Purchase (Materials and Parts) Transactions”);
(iv) purchase vehicles and related products from
Wuling New Energy for trading purpose (the “NE
Purchase (Finished Products) Transactions”)
(collectively “NE Purchase Transactions”) together
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with NE Purchase (Materials and Parts) Transactions);
and (v) acquire technical support service in relation
to the production of vehicles from Wuling New
Energy (the “NE Technical Support Services”).

Accordingly, (i) the proposed annual caps of the
NE Sale Transactions for the three years ended
31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB268,200,000, RMB830,000,000 and
RMB1,148,000,000 respectively; (ii) the proposed
annual caps of the NE Modification Services for the
three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024
were RMB10,500,000, RMB13,200,000 and
RMB15,200,000 respectively; (iii) the proposed annual
caps for the NE Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions for the three years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 were RMB44,000,000,
RMB88,000,000 and RMB132,000,000 respectively; (iv)
the proposed annual caps of the NE Purchase
(Finished Products) Transactions for the three years
ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and 2024 were
RMB423,000,000, RMB550,000,000 and
RMB770,000,000 respectively; and (v) the proposed
annual caps of the NE Technical Support Services for
the three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024 were RMB62,000,000, RMB23,000,000 and
RMB6,900,000 respectively.

Since Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
centralized procurement services to its group
companies, customers, and suppliers, including the
Guangxi Automobile Group, for the supply of raw
materials, mainly steels, and utilities services, which
include water and electricity suppliers, such
centralized procurement function, to cope with the
Group’s strategy to forge its new energy vehicles
business segment under the Capital Increase and
Restructure, can (i) strengthen the business
relationship with Wuling New Energy; (ii) facilitate the
procurement process of Wuling New Energy; and (iii)
enhance the efficiency and productivity of Wuling
New Energy through the benefits of bulk purchases.
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In addition, Wuling Industrial Group has been actively
promoting its automotive components business to
the electric vehicles segment and will serve as the
strategic key supplier by supplying automotive
components and parts to Wuling New Energy for its
production of new energy vehicles following
completion of the Capital Increase. Under these
circumstances, the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement, were being entered into in
setting out the principal terms and condition of the
transactions to be carried out between the parties.
Besides, it is considered the continuous expansion in
the production of electric vehicles of Wuling New
Energy in consequence of the Capital Increase
Exercise would provide increasing business
opportunities to the automotive components and
other industrial services division of Wuling Industrial
Group from which the benefits of scale operation
and further business diversification would gradually
be crystalized and that Wuling Industrial Group will
maintain and enhance its diversified revenue stream
by supplying products and services to Wuling New
Energy by capturing the business opportunity in new
energy vehicles industry.

Furthermore, in consideration of the cost and
efficiency in the production and marketing of certain
specialized new energy vehicles, such as the
sanitation vehicle, where the production processes
involved and technical standards applied are similar
on both traditional petrol and new energy vehicles
and the existing sale and distribution of Wuling
Industrial could be effectively utilized, it is planned
that Wuling Industrial will continue to manufacture
the refitted vehicle for of new energy sanitation
vehicle following the completion of the Capital
Increase Exercise. Meanwhile, in consideration of the
cost and efficiency in the marketing of new energy
vehicles to the overseas markets by the Group,
where the existing sale and distribution of Wuling
Industrial (the overseas sale department) could be
effectively utilized, it is also planned that Wuling
Industrial will continue to act as the main marketing
arm of the new energy vehicles for overseas markets
of the Group in the near future.
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As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the NE Sale
Transactions and the NE Purchase Transactions
contemplated under the 2022-2024 New Energy
Framework Agreement, on annual basis, was higher
than 5% and such proposed annual caps were more
than HK$10 million, the NE Sale Transactions and the
NE Purchase Transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions for the Company and were
subject to the reporting, announcement, annual
review and Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
In this regard, the Independent Shareholders’
approval for the NE Sale Transactions and the NE
Purchase Transactions contemplated under the
2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement,
including their respective annual caps was obtained
in the special general meeting of the Company held
on 29 June 2022.

As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
for the proposed annual caps for each of the NE
Modification Services and the NE Technical Support
Services contemplated under the 2022-2024 New
Energy Framework Agreement, on annual basis, was
more than 0.1% but less than 5%, the NE Modification
Services and the NE Technical Support Services
constituted continuing connected transactions which
were subject to the announcement, reporting and
annual review requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules, but exempted from the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Listed below are the approved annual caps under
the 2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement for
the three years ended 31 December 2022, 2023 and
2024 and the respective actual amount of
transactions carried out during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2023, which actual amounts
were all within the respective annual caps under the
2022-2024 New Energy Framework Agreement:

NE Sale Transactions HMELREER 5 211,217

NE Modification Services #Te&REEE IR 10,481

NE Purchase (Materials ¥ RiEE (£ 810
and Parts) Transactions NMZ) %5

NE Purchase (Finished — #TeERRE (M) 389
Products) Transactions %5

NE Technical Support ¥ aLRET 3 7,504
Services A%

On 29 July 2022, Wuling Industrial entered into a
consignment framework agreement with #i 1 Iz &
¥ B AR A 7l (Liuzhou Wuling Real Estate Limited*)
(“Wuling Real Estate”) (“Consignment Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Wuling Industrial may
make consignment arrangements with Wuling Real
Estate in relation to the sales of the scrap materials
arisen from the manufacturing processes which have
been processed under the necessary screening,
processing and recycling procedures which would
have monetary value on sale and/or disposal
(“Processed Scrap Materials”), whereby Wuling Real
Estate will provide the required services, including but
not limited to the collecting, screening, processing,
recycling and storing of the scrap materials arisen
from the manufacturing processes and the
subsequent sale and disposal of the Processed Scarp
Materials, by way of tender and/or other appropriate
marketing processes in accordance with the general
industry practices (“Consignment Services”) and may
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268,200 122,688 830,000 1,148,000

10,500 9,699 13,200 15,200
44,000 5,003 88,000 132,000
423,000 40,877 550,000 770,000
62,000 1,984 23,000 6,900
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sell the Processed Scrap Materials to its own
customers, the sales price of which shall be
determined by Wuling Real Estate at its own
discretion and confirmed by Wuling Industrial.

According to the Consignment Framework
Agreement, when the consigned Processed Scrap
Materials are sold to its customers by Wuling Real
Estate, Wuling Industrial shall pay Wuling Real Estate
the consignment fee for the provision of
Consignment Services, of which the proposed annual
caps of the value of transactions contemplated
thereunder for the three years ended 31 December
2022, 2023 and 2024 were RMB9,580,000,
RMB18,500,000 and RMB18,500,000 respectively.

Wuling Industrial is engaged in the manufacturing of
automotive components, vehicles’ power supply
systems and commercial vehicles assembly. It is
commonly known in the automotive industry that
certain industrial scraps and wastes will be inevitably
originated from the manufacturing processes of the
automotive products. Given that, subject to
appropriate procedures of screening, processing
and recycling, these industrial scraps and wastes
would have monetary value, the management of
Wuling Industrial used to perform these procedures
(i.e., by transforming the industrial scraps and wastes
into Processed Scrap Materials) in house at its own
cost, as well as approach suitable ultimate customers
in marketing and selling the Processed Scrap
Materials themselves by way of tender and/or other
appropriate marketing processes, so as to generate
additional revenue for its manufacturing operation.

As (i) it would be time-consuming for the
management of Wuling Industrial to seek ultimate
customers for the marketing and sale of the
Processed Scrap Materials and to coordinate the
transfer of the Processed Scrap Materials to ultimate
customers; and (ii) the management of Wuling
Industrial intended to focus on the main business
including manufacturing and trading of automotive
components, vehicles’ power supply systems and
commercial vehicles assembly, the management of
Wuling Industrial decided to consign the operation in
relation to the sales of the Processed Scrap Materials
to the recyclers.
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In light of the above, Wuling Industrial has considered
Wuling Real Estate, which is engaged in recycling of
productive scrap metal, processing of recycled
resources, sale of recycled resources and recycling
of recycled resources, and one other recycler
independent of the Group in Liuzhou City, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region, where Wuling Industrial
is located. After consideration, Wuling Industrial
decided to consign the operation in relation to the
sales of the Processed Scrap Materials to Wuling Real
Estate due to (i) the close proximity between the
Group and Guangxi Automobile, Wuling Industrial
would be able to (a) obtain a prompt response from
Wuling Real Estate during the Consignment Sale
Transactions; and (b) reduce the operation risks of
any default in the respective transactions and
achieve economic benefits through the respective
transactions; and (ii) the consignment commission
rate charged by Wuling Real Estate is no less
favorable to Wuling Industrial than that charged by
the recycler independent of the Group.

As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in
relation to the annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under the Consignment
Framework Agreement exceeded 0.1% but was less
than 5% on an annual basis, the Consignment
Framework Agreement, including the respective
annual caps were subject to reporting and
announcement requirements but were exempted
from circular and the Independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

The actual amount of the transactions under the
Consignment Framework Agreement for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2023 were
RMB6,367,000 and RMB16,569,000 respectively, which
were within the respective annual cap under the
Consignment Framework Agreement.
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(5) 2023-2025 Master Agreement

Wuling Industrial and Guangxi Automobile entered
into a master agreement on 17 November 2022 (the
“2023-2025 Master Agreement”) to govern the
continuing connected transactions (i.e., the Sale
Transactions (as defined below); the Purchase
(Materials and Parts) Transactions (as defined below),
the Utility Supply Transactions (as defined below),
and the IT Service Transactions (as defined below))
between the Wuling Industrial Group and the
Guangxi Automobile Group for a term of three years
from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025. The 2023-
2025 Master Agreement served as a renewal
arrangement for the respective continuing
connected transactions of similar nature carried out
between the Wuling Industrial Group and the
Guangxi Automobile Group in prior years. Details of
the 2023-2025 Master Agreement were disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 17 November
2022 and the Company’s circular dated 22
December 2022.

Pursuant to the 2023-2025 Master Agreement, the
Wuling Industrial Group has conditionally agreed to (i)
supply certain automotive components and
materials for production and trading purposes
(including engines, various types of automotive parts
and accessories, raw materials (including steel) and
other consumables and materials) to the Guangxi
Automobile Group (the “Sale Transactions”), (ii)
purchase certain automotive components and
related products for production and trading purposes
(including various types of automotive parts and
accessories, moulds and tooling, automotive air-
conditioner-related parts and accessories) from the
Guangxi Automobile Group (the “Purchase (Materials
and Parts) Transactions”); (iii) provide water and
power supply services to the Guangxi Automobile
Group (the “Utility Supply Transactions”); and (iv)
procure IT development, operation and
maintenance service from the Guangxi Automobile
Group (the “IT Service Transactions”).
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Accordingly, (i) the proposed annual caps of the
Sale Transactions for the three years ended 31
December 2023, 2024 and 2025 were
RMB310,000,000, RMB325,000,000 and
RMB329,000,000 respectively; (ii) the proposed annual
caps of the Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions for the three years ended 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 were RMB182,000,000,
RMB182,500,000 and RMB186,300,000 respectively; (iii)
the proposed annual caps of the Utility Supply
Transactions for the three years ended 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 were RMB19,615,000,
RMB20,503,000 and RMB21,597,000 respectively; and
(iv) the proposed annual caps of the IT Service
Transactions for the three years ended 31 December
2023, 2024 and 2025 were RMB10,000,000,
RMB15,000,000 and RMB16,800,000 respectively.

The Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
centralized procurement services to its group
companies, customers and suppliers, such as
supplying raw materials. Such centralized
procurement mechanism strengthens the business
relationships among the entities involved by
enhancing their operation efficiency and
productivity through the benefits of bulk purchases.
In addition, the Wuling Industrial Group will continue
to maintain a diversified revenue stream by supplying
products to the Guangxi Automobile Group. The
Wuling Industrial Group therefore would maintain the
Sale Transactions to the Guangxi Automobile Group
for another three-year term upon expiry of the
existing terms of the relevant transactions on 31
December 2022.

The Wuling Industrial Group has been procuring from
the Guangxi Automobile Group certain parts and
components, as well as services, for the manufacture
of products for a number of years. As a result of such
long-term business relationship, the two groups have
been familiar with the standards and specifications
of products and services set by each other and have
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been able to respond quickly in a cost-efficient
manner to any new requirements that the other
group may request. In view of the above, the Wuling
Industrial Group considers that it would be in its
interests and benefits to secure a stable and reliable
supply of materials for its production from the
Guangxi Automobile Group under the 2023-2025
Master Agreement.

The Wuling Industrial Group has been providing
utilities services, such as the provision of water and
electricity, to the Guangxi Automobile Group. Such
centralized procurement mechanism strengthens the
business relationships among the entities involved by
enhancing their operation efficiency and
productivity through the benefits of scale operation.
In addition, the Wuling Industrial Group will continue
to maintain a diversified revenue stream by providing
utility services to the Guangxi Automobile Group. The
Wuling Industrial Group therefore would maintain the
Utility Supply Transactions for provision of utility
services to the Guangxi Automobile Group for
another three-year term upon expiry of the existing
terms of the relevant transactions on 31 December
2022.

Besides, due to the reorganization of the
departments between the Company and Guangxi
Automobile and the intention to cut the
administrative cost of the Company, the staffs under
the IT department of the Company have been
transferred from the Company to Guangxi
Automobile. Given that (i) the Company still requires
IT service, including but not limited to (a) the
maintenance on the network and server; and (b) the
provision of daily maintenance, optimization, and
upgrading services to the systems, during its daily
operation; and (i) Guangxi Automobile has been
familiar with the IT operation of the Company and is
able to fulfill the IT requirements raised by the
Company in a cost-effective manner, the Wuling
Industrial Group would request the Guangxi
Automobile Group to provide IT Service Transactions
for three years ending 31 December 2025.
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As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the Sale
Transactions and the Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions contemplated under the 2023-2025
Master Agreement, on annual basis, exceeded 5%
but was less than 25% and such proposed annual
caps were more than HK$10 million, the Sale
Transactions and the Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions constituted continuing connected
transactions of the Company and were subject to
the reporting, announcement, annual review and
Independent Shareholders’ approval requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In this regard,
the Independent Shareholders’ approval for the Sale
Transactions and the Purchase (Materials and Parts)
Transactions contemplated under the 2023-2025
Master Agreement, including their respective annual
caps was obtained in the special general meeting of
the Company held on 16 January 2023.

As the highest of the applicable percentage ratios
(as set out in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) for the
proposed annual caps for each of the Utility Supply
Transactions and the IT Service Transactions
contemplated under the 2023-2025 Master
Agreement, on annual basis, exceeded 0.1% but was
less than 5%, the Utility Supply Transactions and the IT
Service Transactions constituted continuing
connected transactions of the Company which were
subject to the announcement, reporting and annual
review requirements under Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules, but exempted from the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.
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Listed below are the approved annual caps under
the 2023-2025 Master Agreement for the three years
ended 31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 and the
respective actual amount of transactions carried out
during the year ended 31 December 2023, which
actual amounts were all within the respective annual
caps under the 2023-2025 Master Agreement:

Sale Transactions HERS 180,577

Purchase (Materials and K8 (MR R Z14F) 76,916
Parts) Transactions 5

Utility Supply Transactions ARG HER S 9,973

IT Service Transactions FEERMRERZ 4,683

On 27 June 2023, Wuling Industrial and Wuling New
Energy entered into an agreement in relation to
subcontracting of the after-sale services by Wuling
Industrial to Wuling New Energy for the new energy
vehicles sold by Wuling Industrial during the period
from 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2022, which vehicles’
warranty period would be expired within the period
from 27 June 2023 (i.e. the date of the agreement) to
31 December 2025 (the “After-sale Services
Subcontracting Agreement”).

Pursuant to the After-sale Services Subcontracting
Agreement, Wuling New Energy will provide after-
sale services for the said new energy vehicles on
behalf of Wuling Industrial, whereas, Wuling Industrial
will pay the expenses included for the provision of the
after-sale services and the respective subcontracting
fees to Wuling New Energy. In relation to the after-
sale service expenses incurred, Wuling New Energy
would make a claim against the suppliers of the
components directly in the event the expense for the
provision of after-sale service is incurred due to the
defects of such components. Otherwise, Wuling New
Energy will charge Wuling Industrial the expense
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incurred for the provision of after-sale services for the
New Energy Vehicles. Meanwhile, Wuling Industrial is
required to pay subcontracting fees to Wuling New
Energy on a monthly basis. Such subcontracting fees
are determined with reference to the expense
incurred for the provision of after-sale service and
charged to Wuling Industrial multiplied by 19% with
reference to the market price.

The proposed annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under After-sale Services
Subcontracting Agreement for the three years ended
31 December 2023, 2024 and 2025 were
RMB7,500,000, RMB2,500,000 and RMB1,100,000
respectively.

In response to the market development and the
competition of new energy vehicles, Guangxi
Automobile has reorganized the Group’s new energy
vehicle related assets and businesses which were
transferred to Wuling New Energy. In consequences
of this reorganisation, Wuling New Energy would
focus on the business activities relating to trading and
manufacturing of new energy vehicles, whereas
Wuling Industrial Group would serve as the strategic
key supplier by supplying automotive components
and parts to Wuling New Energy for its production of
new energy vehicles. Moreover, prior to the
abovementioned reorganisation, Wuling Industrial
had sold certain number of New Energy Vehicles to
the market which required the after-sale services as
part of the warranty conditions. The subcontracting
of the after-sales services to Wuling Energy will enable
Wuling Industrial to shift the administrative and
supporting work and effort associated with these
warranty services to a capable and reliable service
provider, while Wuling Industrial could focus more on
its core businesses of the manufacturing and trading
of automotive components. In addition, due to the
long-term business relationship between Wuling
Industrial and Wuling New Energy, Wuling New Energy
is familiar with Wuling Industrial’s standards of new
energy vehicle business including the requirements
for the provision of after-sale services. As such, the
entering into the After-sale Services Subcontracting
Agreement will ensure the provision of quality after-
sales services to its customers.
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As the highest applicable percentage ratio (as
defined under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in
relation to the annual caps of the value of
transactions contemplated under the After-sale
Services Subcontracting Agreement exceeded 0.1%
but was less than 5% on an annual basis, the After-
sale Services Subcontracting Agreement, including
the respective annual caps were subject to reporting
and announcement requirements but were
exempted from circular and the Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The actual amount of the transactions under the
After-sale Services Subcontracting Agreement for the
years ended 31 December 2023 was RMB2,007,000
respectively, which was within the respective annual
cap under the After-sale Services Subcontracting
Agreement.

Parties to the Continuing Connected Transactions

Wuling Industrial is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company which is owned as to 60.9% by the
Company and 39.1% by Guangxi Automobile. Wuling
New Energy is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of
Guangxi Automobile. Wuling Auto Tech is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Guangxi Automobile. Wuling
Real Estate is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangxi
Automobile. Meanwhile, Guangxi Automobile is the
ultimate controlling Shareholder. Thus Guangxi
Automobile, Wuling New Energy, Wuling Auto Tech
and Wuling Real Estate are regarded as connected
persons of the Company under Rule 14A.07 of the
Listing Rules and therefore the transactions
contemplated under the above mentioned
agreements constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

Mr. Yuan Zhijun (chairman of the Board), Mr. Yang
Jianyong and Mr. Wei Mingfeng, present executive
Directors, being also the directors and/or senior
executives of Guangxi Automobile, the ultimate
controlling Shareholder, had disclosed their interest
and then abstained from voting on the Board
resolutions in relation to all of the above continuing
connected transactions.
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The aggregate amounts of the abovementioned
continuing connected transactions for the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 36 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

Pursuant to rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the
Directors engaged the auditors of the Company to
report on the Group’ s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or
Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter of
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong
Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and the auditors
have issued an unqualified letter containing their
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions as disclosed by the Group in
this report in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter will be
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

Pursuant to rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the
independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
all the above continuing connected transactions
and confirmed that these transactions entered into
by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) either on normal commercial terms or better;
and

(i) according to the respective agreements
governing the transactions on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Save as disclosed herein, there were no transactions
which need to be disclosed as connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure
adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations in
particular, those have significant impact on the Group.
The Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements on a regular basis. Any changes in the
applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought to the
attention of relevant employees and relevant operation
units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, save
as certain deviations from the CG Code as contained in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, the Company has
complied with the requirements under the bye-laws of the
Company, the Listing Rules, the SFO and the Bermuda
Companies Act., and all the applicable laws, as amended
from time to time. Details of the Company’s compliance
with and the deviations from the code provisions set out in
the CG Code are provided in the “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 95 of this annual
report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and the
Shareholders and to safeguard the interests of its
employees and the Shareholders, the Group has complied
with the requirements of the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance, and the Ordinances relating to
disability, sex, family status, race discrimination and
occupational safety through established internal policies
and/or procedures during the year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee, which has been
established in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules, for the purpose of, inter alia, reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination of
the annual remuneration packages of the executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company
and other related matters, currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Xu Jinli
(Chairman of the Remuneration Committee, who was
appointed on 9 June 2023 in replacement of Mr. Mi
Jianguo), Mr. Ye Xiang and Mr. Wang Yuben, as well as
non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng. Details of the duty
and responsibility of the Remuneration Committee, as well
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as its work done during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT”
from pages 57 to 95 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee, which has been established in
compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the
purposes of, inter alia, reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group’ s financial reporting system, risk
management system and internal control system, currently
comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Ye Xiang (chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli (appointed on 9 June
2023 in replacement of Mr. Mi Jianguo), as well as non-
executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng, in which one of them
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise.

The audited consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023 have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee. Details of the duty and responsibility of
the Audit Committee, as well as its work done during the
year ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the
“CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 95
of this annual report.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee, which has been established
in compliance with the Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules, for
the purpose of, inter alia, reviewing the composition and
effectiveness of the Board functioning, as well as to
assessing or making recommending on relevant matters
relating to the appointment and/or re-election of the
Directors, currently comprises Mr. Yuan Zhijun, (chairman
of the Board and the Nomination Committee), three
independent non-executive Directors including Mr. Ye
Xiang, Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli (appointed on 9
June 2023 in replacement of Mr. Mi Jianguo), as well as
non-executive Director, Mr. Li Zheng. Details of the duty
and responsibility of the Nomination Committee, as well as
its work done during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in the “CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT"
from pages 57 to 95 of this annual report.
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ESG COMMITTEE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Committee
("ESG Committee”) was established on 30 December 2020
for the principal objectives of monitoring the formulation
and reporting work of the Group’s strategies in relation to
the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”) issues,
as well as assessing and defining the Group'’s risks in the
aspects of ESG, so as to ensure the establishment of
appropriate and effective ESG risk management measures
and an internal control system. Through the internal
reviewing procedures, the Board, with the assistance of
the ESG Committee regularly arranges independent
assessments and analyses the effectiveness and
comprehensiveness of the related systems and
procedures, so as to enhance the Group’ s ESG
governance. It currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors including Mr. Ye Xiang (chairman
of the ESG Committee), Mr. Wang Yuben and Mr. Xu Jinli
(appointed on 9 June 2023), as well as Mr. Yuan Zhijun,
chairman of the Board and Mr. Li Zheng, non-executive
Director. Details of the duty and responsibility of the ESG
Committee, as well as its work done during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in the “CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT” from pages 57 to 95 of this annual
report.

The respective terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee as amended from time to time, are set out in
the websites of the Company (www.wuling.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s bye-laws, the Directors shall be
indemnified against all losses and liabilities which they may
incur in connection with their duties. The Company has
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group.

STAFFS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had approximately
8,700 employees. Total staff costs for the year ended 31
December 2023 were approximately RMB750,952,000
which details were set out in note 6(b) to the consolidated
financial statements of this annual report.
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Salaries of employees and directors are determined with
reference to their duties and responsibilities in the Group
and are maintained at competitive levels and bonus are
granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits
include provident fund, insurance medical cover,
subsidised educational and training programmes as well
as the Share Option Scheme.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company maintained
sufficient public float, being not less than 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital as required under
the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

KPMG, being the auditor of the Company, will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment in the
2024 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2024
AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Zhijun
Chairman

27 March 2024
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KPMG

To The Shareholders Of WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 146 to 294,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial

FARBASHERBRMNEXAE  RA
HARGEMBREANBTRASEENEH-
ELEREERMBTEREOUBHRENK
HABRBETREN -RMATSHELSE
iR EBNER -

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Refer to note 12 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 221 to 223 and the accounting

policies on pages 167 to 168.
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As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
the property, plant and equipment amounted
to RMB2,807 million.
RZZBZ=F+_A=+—8 9% BEEXED
IR 1B A A R %2,807,000,0007T ©

In view of the continuing decline of segment
revenue and underachieving expected
performance of certain operating segments of
the Group in the past few years, management
considered that impairment indicators of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment existed
at the reporting date.
ENBERFEERE TRED D RN FFE
TR - AEREHARGE EEERAREEEVE K
FMRERRE B FERETR-

The management of the Group performed
impairment assessment by comparing the
carrying amounts and the recoverable amounts
of the property, plant and equipment that has
impairment indicators. For the year ended 31
December 2023, the management of the Group
determined that there is no further impairment
loss required in respect of the property, plant
and equipment.
EEEEEERBLULRARRETRNOYE BFE
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Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
included the following:

BPARFEYE BERRENREFEOHEFT
BEEEATRE:

= evaluating management’s process and
procedures for the identification of indicators
of potential impairment of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment with
reference to the requirements of prevailing
accounting standards;

- Z2BBITSHENNER FHEEENBMNE
SEYE BEMKRENELRMETR IR
BNIER

= assessing management’s identification of
CGUs and the allocation of assets and
liabilities to these CGUs with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards;

- Z2RBTEHEANER FEEEEHREE
EBEMRNHBIAREENEBRTZERESEMN
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e obtaining and inspecting the valuation
reports prepared by the external valuer
engaged by management;
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The estimate of recoverable amounts was based
on the value in use of cash-generating units
(“CGUs”) to which the property, plant and
equipment belong. The management of the
Group engaged an external valuer to carry out
the impairment assessment which adopted
discounted cash flow forecasts to estimate the
value in use of CGUs.

Al EEEOETEERYE BERREMBEH
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Key assumptions used in the discounted cash
flow forecasts included discount rates, sales
growth rates and gross profit margins.
FHRERERATFRANFTERRBERT X
HERREMEMNE-

We identified impairment assessment of
property, plant and equipment as a key audit
matter because the determination of the
recoverable amount of each CGU involves
significant management judgement which is
inherently uncertain and could be subject to
management bias.

BPEME BERREHOREN GEESBEE
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evaluating the competence, capabilities
and objectivity of the external valuer;
FHESNER R ERTE B E ) - BE M B EIE

involving our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the methodology used
by external valuer in the preparation of the
discounted cash flow forecast for each CGU
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards and
assessing whether the discount rates applied
in the discounted cash flow forecasts were
within the range adopted by other
comparable companies in the same industry;
EFEEMAABGEZERBRM2RIBITEE
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challenging the key assumptions adopted in
the discounted cash flow forecasts, in
particular with respect to the sales growth
rates and gross profit margins, by comparing
these with historical performance, budget,
future business plan of the Group and our
understanding of the Group’s business and
available market data;
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performing a retrospective review by
comparing prior year cash flows forecasts
with the actual results in the current year and
making enquiries of management as to the
reasons for any significant variations identified
to assess whether this is any indication of
management bias;
HRTEFENRERERAERNFENERES
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= evaluating the sensitivity analyses of key
assumptions prepared by the external valuer
engaged by management and considering
the resulting impact on the conclusion reached
by management and whether there were any
indicators of management bias; and

- FMEEBEZEMIINBENAEEEBRRAMED
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e assessing the reasonableness of the
disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment
with reference to the requirements of the
prevailing accounting standards.
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Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 237 to 238 and the accounting

policies on pages 175 to 183.
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At 31 December 2023, the Group had a
significant balance of gross trade receivables
which amounted to RMB2,838 million,
representing approximately 19% of the Group’s
total assets at that date, against which an
allowance of RMB101 million for expected credit
losses (“ECLs”) was recorded.
RN_ZE_=ZF+_RA=+—H BESEEKERR
BEHBERA A ARK2838,000,0007T  #UhEEE
% B4 E EM19% & Itk 518 A K %101,000,0007T
IR EEBEREE-

Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance
for trade receivables included the following:
BT EEEERAEREBENEAEFBEATE
=Y

= obtaining an understanding of and assessing
the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls relating
to credit control, debt collection and
estimating the credit loss allowance;

- BBMEEHEEEES  BRERKAEFEEES
BREFBENEIZANMBERNORT B EE
PR

= evaluating the Group’s policy for estimating
the credit loss allowance with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

- Z2RBTEFENENR THEEERFEE
BEEBEEDUE



The Group measures the loss allowance at an
amount equal to the lifetime ECL of the trade
receivables. The Group estimates the ECL by
using a provision matrix which is based on the
Group'’s historical default rates, and takes into
consideration of current economic conditions
and forward-looking information that is
reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. In addition, trade
receivables from related parties and credit-
impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL
individually.
EEERBERERUERZHRBEEBENSHE
ATEEEREG - EAERARGERHENRGEES
BETHT ZBEEREERESBENELENE
I B E RSB RIA R EF AR UE R AR
L MAI RS IE B A SRR £ &L - thoh
18] 1) 5T 1t FE LT [ 388 7 BR SR AN {5 B RL (B FE R AR 3K

We identified the loss allowance for trade
receivables as a key audit matter because
determining the level of loss allowance is
inherently subjective which requires significant
management judgement.
BPSEKER s BEREERI RERETFE R
RAEETEEREKTIAFAGETENE TEEE
[& 1 H B K IR
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assessing whether items were correctly
categorised in the trade receivables ageing
report by comparing individual items therein
with sales invoices and other relevant
underlying documentation, on a sample
basis; and

VAT 75 301 FE Us AR SR BR e ¥ 5 B L 1) 78 B B
HERREREMABR X ETHER U EZE
HERGERSHE : &

assessing the reasonableness of management’s
estimates of loss allowance for trade
receivables, including those from related
parties and credit-impaired debtors, by
examining the information used by
management to derive such estimates,
including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data and evaluating
whether the historical default rates are
appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking
information, the financial condition of the
related parties and credit-impaired debtors,
and relevant information obtained from other
audit procedures.

AHEREEHEKER (REXREWAES REA
RREHBANBURER) EEBREBNEARES
B HEREEEEERUNGLZEMHNER
BEASAELEZEOER O ERIL WA HELE
WEREBREBATHNKBERR RATELEER
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The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in
the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

EEAEREZRARAT > —F-=FFH
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- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group'’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them alll
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Liu Hin Pan.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8™ Floor, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

27 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

= A1
RelEER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE T -_=Ff+_HA=+—HIFZF

2023
—E=-=
RMB’000
AR#¥Fr
Revenue LON 4
Goods and services 725 o S AR 75 10,448,024 12,563,268
Rental itk 35,909 32,339
Total revenue A 10,483,933 12,595,607
Cost of sales and services HE R R (9,446,934) (11,687,119)
Gross profit EX 1,036,999 908,488
Other income E g A 5(a) 214,407 214,760
Other gains and losses E e RS E 5(b) 5,095 (10,724)
Impairment losses under expected FEHIEEEEEXT 2
credit loss model, net of reversals BEEE -
of impairment losses HERBEE B E 38(b) (28,878) (18,931)
Selling and distribution costs SHE R A A (139,653) (116,342)
General and administrative —MRITBAX
expenses (498,263) (488,015)
Research and development HEERAY
expenses (306,556) (319,465)
Share of results of associates JEIRERE N R 2 4R 15 (82,066) (2,546)
Share of results of joint ventures EIEEERRIZH4E 16 (3,116) (3,788)
Finance costs B R AN 6(a) (120,508) (116,840)
Profit before taxation BB AR R 6 77,461 46,597
Income tax expense Fri®if 7 (8,005) (6,559)
Profit for the year FERER 69,456 40,038
Profit for the year attributable to: T & FEEFERRER :
Owners of the Company ZAN/NETEZ 2= DN 23,477 22,611
Non-controlling interests FEIE R A = 45,979 17,427
Total HET 69,456 40,038
Earnings per share BREF 11
ferdie HAK RMBO0.71 cent RMBO0.69 cent
AR®O71Z  AR¥069%
Diluted g RMBO.71 cent  RMBO0.69 cent
AR®O71Z  AR¥069%

The notes on pages 154 to 294 form part of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity
shareholders of the Company are set out in note 10.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meRmkEMEERER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T-_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023
—EB==
RMB’000
AR®TFT
Profit for the year FREF 69,456 40,038
Other comprehensive income (expense) FREMEEKZE (FX)
for the year (after tax) (Bi&)
Iltems that will not be reclassified to profit # T @B EFHEZERZ
or loss: HH
Revaluation surplus resulting from the EWZE - BB REEA K
change from property, plant and FRAEEEEE RKRE
equipment and right-of-use assets to MEELENEGRLR
investment properties 3,608 6,059
Fair value loss on equity instrument at fair &2 F(EF A E 2 E
value through other comprehensive @ ([ AT EFAEM
income (“FVTOCI") EHEHAEDOEETA
2 ANFEEE - (106)
ltems that may be reclassified HiZn[fEEHFFEE B
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEE
Exchange differences on translation of ¥ e B K e A IR & 3
operations outside Mainland China BREEZERZRR 3,071 4,058
Fair value gain on bills receivable BRATERT AR M 2 E K
at FVTOCI HEEWREZ N FE
e 25 4,323 2,439
Other comprehensive income FREMEZEKE
for the year 11,002 12,450
Total comprehensive income FAZEKZERE
for the year 80,458 52,488
Total comprehensive income UT&EFEEERNZE
for the year attributable to: W40 EE
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZZE DN 31,378 31,779
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR M 2 49,080 20,709
Total Bt 80,458 52,488

The notes on pages 154 to 294 form part of these financial £154%294 5 2 i s AN 53k < 57 °
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AREBIEIR R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
RZFEZ=F+=A=+—H

2023
—E-=
RMB’000
AR¥TFor
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ) E Y 12 2,806,820 2,910,411
Right-of-use assets FREEE 13 224,074 272,539
Intangible assets mEE 95,552 60,942
Investment properties KEWE 14 436,351 441,915
Interests in associates i d X 15 770,360 854,226
Interests in joint ventures RAEE QR ZERS 16 120,440 102,056
Deposits paid for acquisition of WHEIZ - BB K&
property, plant and equipment BEfiize 5,824 19,874
Equity instrument at FVTOCI BAHETAEREMEE
WaeEm T A 17 42,765 44,707
4,502,186 4,706,670
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 806,403 1,250,225
Trade and other receivables FEWARR R B I 19 2,926,814 2,481,201
Bills receivable at FVTOCI BEAFEGARMEE
Wk pEd = 20 3,669,416 4,508,147
Financial assets at fair value AT A AERE
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") (MR AFEFFAEE])
ZEMEE 28 - 13,661
Prepaid tax TN 163 2,819
Pledged bank deposits EERRITER 22 528,997 608,076
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 22 2,616,795 1,974,617
10,548,588 10,838,746
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and other payables ENERR R EMESRIE 23 6,169,357 6,659,530
Contract liabilities EXON=RET 24 143,368 147,413
Lease liabilities HEAR 25 57,183 54,884
Provision for warranty RERE 26 105,481 87,152
Bank borrowings RITERE 27 1,276,201 1,426,451
Advances drawn on bills Ffi8 R 2 B RA IR FE UL
receivable discounted with ZIEFTHRER R K
recourse 27 3,274,069 3,395,997
11,025,659 11,771,427
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE (477,071) (932,681)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBDEMR
LIABILITIES 4,025,115 3,773,989
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BN R

AT 31 DECEMBER 2023
RZFZ=F+=A=+—H

2023 2022
—E-= —ZE-——
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
HtaE AR¥TFr ARBTFT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FERBASE
Contract liabilities AHaE 24 6,540 8,006
Lease liabilities HEBRE 25 103 33,638
Bank borrowings RITEE 27 1,034,598 822,329
Deferred tax liabilities BELEFIEAE 29 33,167 30,135
1,074,408 894,108
NET ASSETS EETFHE 2,950,707 2,879,881
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EARRHE
Share capital [N 30 11,782 11,782
Reserves (G 1,923,076 1,901,330
Equity attributable to owners of the AR EHHE A FEIGH#EZS
Company 1,934,858 1,913,112
Non-controlling interests JEIE R 2 1,015,849 966,769
2,950,707 2,879,881

The consolidated financial statements on pages 146 to 294 #H N F 14652048 7 A B REKE N ==
were approved and authorized for issue by the board of —pU&E=F -+t AEE= i EREET
directors on 27 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf 2% Wi NI ATREKEE

by:

Mr. Yuan Zhijun Mr. Yang Jianyong
REERE BRIBLE
CHAIRMAN EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

FE HITEE

The notes on page 154 to 294 form part of these financial  5154%2948 M sE A AN B %Rk 2 265 °
statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FaESEER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T_=#+_H=1+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRTAREAEL

Del Equity
instruments  instruments  Share-based  Property Non-
Share Share  Exchange Contributed ~ Stafutory ~ Capital  atFVIOCI  atFVIOCI compensaion revaluation  Retained controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus reseve  Reseve reseve  Reserve fesenve reserve profits  Sub-total  interests

BOFE ROV

AR EARE  MRR

REbEN REAEN  ARRN 0
B RBEE EXRE REER fREE  A%NE REIRGE MNTRRE  FHAE MR REN Mt FERER
RMBUOO  RMBOOD  AMBUOD  RMBUO0  RMBUXD  AMBU0  RMBOX0  AMBUK0  AMBUDD  RMBUW  AMBUW  AMBUDO  AMBUW

At1January 2022 H=%=2%-5-8 1178 1,078,500 (2830) 35763 438723 18505 (20828) (19952 563 2748 31641 1860635 952535 2833170

Proftfor the year i - - . - - . - - - - mel men n 40
Other comprehensve ~ £RE {2 ENE

income (expense) (@)

for the year - - 4,058 - - - 1485 (65) - 3690 - 9,168 3282 12450
Totalcomprehensve  ER2ENE(FR)

income (expense) 4%

for the year - - 4,058 - - - 1485 (65) - 3,690 2611 3,719 20709 52,488

Dividends approvedin ~ WEIEEHENRS
tespectof the previous (4210

year (note 10) - - - - - - - - - - (8451) (8:451) - (8451)
Dividend recognized as ~ BRAMET AR

distioution to BRRE

non-controling

interests - - - - - - - - - - - - (6475) (6475)
Equiy setted sharebased  EREE NG AER

transactions %5 - - - - - - - - 9,149 - - 9,149 - 9149
Subtotal g - - - - - - - - 9,149 = (8.451) 698 (6475 (577)
At1January 2023 R-B==%-f-8 11,782 1,078,500 1428 35,763 438723 18,505 (19.343) (20017) 9,732 21438 330601 1913112 966,769 2,879,881
Proft for the year Efg R B B B - E E - - - B4 BT BIY 69456
Other comprehensve  FAEf2ENE

income for the year - - 3071 - - - 2,633 - - 2197 - 7,901 3101 11,002
Totalcomprehensve M2 ENELE

income for the year - - 3011 - - - 2633 - - 2197 2417 31,378 49,080 80458
Transfer g2 - - - - 2,822 - - - - - (21822 - - -

Dividends approvedin ~ WEIEEHENRS
respectof the previows  (#10)

year (note 10) - - - - - - - - - e A I R} -1
Equiy setted sharebased  EEEE N AR
transactions 255 - - - - - - - - (456) - - (456) - (456)
Subtotal It - - - - um - - - (456) - (0% (96 - (9632)
At3lDecember203  RW-B==f
+2Bz1-8 178 1078500 4499 3763 40545 18505 (16710)  (0017) 9276 29635 33080 1934858 1015849 295007
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

notes:

@

(ii)

(iil)

The Group’s (as defined in note 1) contributed surplus
represents (a) the difference between the nominal value of
the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a group
reorganization on 30 October 1992, over the nominal value
of the Company’s (as defined in note 1) shares issued in
exchange therefore; (b) the transfer of the credit arising
from a capital reduction on 19 June 2006; and (c) the
transfer of the share premium and the absorption of
accumulated losses on 27 May 2011.

According to the relevant requirement in the memorandum
of association of the subsidiaries established in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"), a portion of their profits after
taxation, as determined by the board of directors of those
subsidiaries, is transferred to the PRC general reserve, with
certain PRC subsidiaries may stop such transfer when the
reserve balance reaches 50% of their registered capital. The
transfer to the reserve must be made before the distribution
of a dividend to equity owners. The general reserve fund
can be used to offset the losses of the previous years, if any.

The capital reserve represents the deemed capital
contribution arising on acquisition of a subsidiary, Liuzhou
Wuling Motors Industrial Company Limited (“Wuling
Industrial”), from Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited
(“Guangxi Automobile”), which is the ultimate holding
company of the Company by virtue of its 100% equity
interest in Wuling (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (“Wuling
HK”).

The notes on pages 154 to 294 form part of these financial
statements.

st

0)

(ii)

(iil)

= A\ b 3£ 454
RS EEHR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HRE— T =—F+-A=1+—HIFE

AEE (EEALMEL 2 BEHAEBIE @) RE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= A e~ — |
FEEERER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE T -—=F+-A=1—HIFE

2023
—EC-=
RMB’000
AR® T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES gere
Profit before taxation BRE AT A 77,461 46,597
Adjustments for: FTFIEIE 2 FHE -
Write-down of inventories, net FEMRZE 18 5,056 1,295
Bank interest income RITHBHA 5(a) (105,784) (100,413)
Depreciation of property, plant and WE - BERRENR
equipment and right-of-use assets CRREERE 1213 410,198 435,874
Foreign exchange loss, net SMERE - FE 5(b) 1,087 16,199
Finance costs BERA 6(a) 120,508 116,840
Fair value change of financial assets BATFEFAER SR
at FVTPL BE2 AT EEE 5(b) (2,819) (13,661)
Fair value change of investment REMEZ ATEED
properties 5(b) 6,144 1,745
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, REVE BERREZ
plant and equipment B8 (Yeas) 5(b) 883 (15,919)
Equity settled share based payment PR B LARR D RERER
(credit) expense ()% 6(b) (456) 9,149
Impairment losses under expected BHEEEBEEE T 2RE
credit loss model, net B8 - 3 38(b) 28,878 18,931
Impairment loss on property, W BERRE2HME
plant and equipment &8 5(b) - 22,000
Income from the transfer of patents ERERIBIRA 5(a) (10,258) (51,572)
Share of results of associates JE(REEE ARl 2 8 15 82,066 2,546
Share of results of joint ventures EEEERRICEE 16 3,116 3,788
Operating cash flows before movements ZEE&EHF 2 E2H S
in working capital mE 616,080 493,399
Decrease in inventories FERD 438,766 494,003
(Increase) decrease in trade and JE WO BR 70 L LU 5008
other receivables (S 0) > (476,020) 155,852
Increase in bills receivable at FVTOCI BAHES AR EZEKAZ
(note) JENRE L0 (ffat) (6,084,698) (9,151,252)
Decrease in trade and other payables 14 BR 0 2 Lt B A< FRIE R (487,102) (689,432)
Decrease in contract liabilities BHAERD (5,511) (49,713)
Increase (decrease) in provision RERAE ()R
for warranty 18,329 (7,871)
Cash used in operations memARe (5,980,156) (8,755,014)
Income tax paid BIPIEH (2,954) (5,583)
NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITES ~ & (BFfARLFE (5,983,110) (8,760,597)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEH
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREERBITER (1,399,826) (1,871,611)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment K% - BiE K&k (263,304) (323,154)
Development expenditure FERX (34,610) (60,791)
Disposal of an equity insttument at FVTOCI &R AFEFALMEE
s EmT A 1,942 -
Disposal of a joint venture HE—HAERA - 22,521
Investments in an associate REEE R R 2R E - (520,734)
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REBERBITER 1,478,905 1,907,468
Proceeds from the transfer of patents ERENREH0E 10,258 51,572
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant ~ HEWE - BE k& EHE
and equipment HR 28,627 106,150
Proceeds from government grant KIS B ET{S 50A 633 27,831
Dividend received from a joint venture B—RH& &R EMERE 3,500 3,500
Dividend received from an associate B — R R R EURE 1,800 -
Bank interest income received BEUERTTA B A 105,784 100,413
Investments in a joint venture R—HEERAIZRE (25,000) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ~ REEEMARLEE (91,291) (556,835)
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2023
—E2-C
RMB’000
ARB%®TFr
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEH
Advances drawn on bills U I AT IR ER B3R
receivable (note) (Hzz) 6,750,188 8,891,060
Bank borrowings raised IEIRITIEE 1,567,808 2,006,122
Repayment to Guangxi BEEMTEEEHNE
Automobile Group - (11,398)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITEE (1,488,867) (1,332,752)
Interest paid BRFE (62,386) (50,717)
Dividend paid BEARE (9,176) (8,451)
Dividend paid to non-controlling B IR R R
interests - (6,475)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBERNT (40,956) (31,511)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM METHELE 2R FHE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 6,716,611 9,455,878
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND e kBEEEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS BInFEE 642,210 138,446
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R—A—-HZREeREELEE
AT 1 JANUARY HE 1,974,617 1,835,735
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE SIEEZSE 2 HE  FHE
RATE CHANGES, NET (32) 436
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTSAT R+=ZA=+—-HAzEBEE£KE
31 DECEMBER, represented by ©ZEER B |T4%
bank balances and cash kEE 2,616,795 1,974,617

note: An increase in bills receivable at FVTOCI of RMB6,084,698,000  ff#f -

(2022: RMB9,151,252,000) and advance drawn on bills
receivable of RMB6,750,188,000 (2022: RMB8,891,060,000)
were included in operating activities and financing activities,
respectively upon discounting these bills receivables.

The notes on pages 154 to 294 form part of these financial
statements.

BEAFEFAEMEERAZEKRZ KL
hnA K #6,084,698,0007T (—Z — —4F: A
R #9,151,252,0007T ) & & W Z 4% Fr HR ER 24
KA R #6,750,188,0007C (—F — —F: A
R #8,891,060,0007T ) J5 A BA IR 72 55 B WK =2
BED R AKEEBRBEES -

F 15452948 7 M sEBA A 5k 2 35 ©
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Wuling Motors Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
public limited company incorporated in Bermuda as
an exempted company with limited liability and its
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its immediate parent is Wuling HK and its
ultimate parent is Guangxi Automobile.

The Company acts as an investment holding
company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) are engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of vehicles’ power supply systems,
automotive components and accessories and
commercial vehicles assembly, trading of steels, and
provision of water and power supply. The details of its
principal subsidiaries are disclosed in note 41.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

These consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. These consolidated
financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Material
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
set out below.
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The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for
early adoption for the current accounting
period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides
information on any changes in accounting
policies resulting from initial application of these
developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current
accounting periods reflected in these financial
statements.

In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors of the Company have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity
and going concern of the Group in light of the
Group'’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately RMB477 million (2022:
approximately RMB933 million). The directors of
the Company are of the opinion that, after due
and careful enquiry taking into account the
continuous financial support provided from
Guangxi Automobile Holdings Limited (“Guangxi
Automobile”), which is a state-controlled
company established in the PRC with the State-
owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (& 7 At i
BERRARRANEREEEEEREEZE®) and
having a long standing reputation in the
automobile industry in the PRC, and the
financial resources available to the Group,
including internally generated funds, the
available banking facilities for issuance of bills
payable and bank borrowings and assets
available to pledge for obtaining further
banking facilities, the Group has, in the absence
of unforeseeable circumstances, sufficient
financial resources to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due for the foreseeable
future.
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Accordingly, the directors of the Company
believe that it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis without including any
adjustments that would be required should the
Group fail to continue as a going concern.

The consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for investment properties and certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair
values at the end of the reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

The preparation of the consolidated financial
statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors
that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the
period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period
of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant
effect on the financial statements and major
sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed
in note 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following new and
amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these
financial statements for the current accounting
period:

HKFRS 17, Insurance contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8, Accounting
policies, changes in accounting estimates
and errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentation of
financial statements and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2,Making materiality
judgements: Disclosure of accounting
policies

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform — Pillar Two model
rules

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the
current accounting period. Save for the
disclosure below, none of the remaining new
and amended HKFRs have a material impact
on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

SR SRR M EE

n‘l-.ﬁ

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE—F_ZF+-_A=1—HIFE
2. BEXEFBER @

(C) Elu‘l’lBZkkiﬁ*‘Eb
AEBERUTHEESFMA
Aﬁﬁﬁzéﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂ LR

BELAEANAS [ Z %
%Eﬁ%i&?ﬁ-
- i?/%ﬁﬁ%i&i'ﬁﬁu 175%
- ZFRBETEAFR (1E7F]
w) (BB B A
BERER: A HE
# |
- FBEEAFLN (EF

) THBEHRXNEZHRI R
BEMBREEAEL TR
ERELHEBEXMLHE - &
AR B R )

- & AéJrVEE“J%lZ%ﬁ(ﬂ%}ET
) W E—XFE
EZEER R &8 AL
HHE]

- FAGERFEL2% (BF]
) TH R BB B /2K
F— X AER]

REEY EREAERN A S H
B e R A 2 AT B Sl 1 - B
AT HEERIN - 81T #ET R &
AIEBMBREERGREAE

BHGEN B RRELEATE -

157



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED > ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B I ERaR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE T -—=F+-A=1—HIFE

2.

158

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
Deferred tax related to assets and liabilities
arising from a single transaction

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption such that it does not
apply to transactions that give rise to equal and
offsetting temporary differences on initial
recognition such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. For leases and decommissioning
liabilities, the associated deferred tax assets and
liabilities are required to be recognised from the
beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect
recognised as an adjustment to retained
earnings or other components of equity at that
date. For all other transactions, the
amendments are applied to those transactions
that occur after the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

Prior to the amendments, the Group did not apply
the initial recognition exemption to lease
transactions and had recognised the related
deferred tax, except that the Group previously
determined the temporary difference arising from
a right-of-use asset and the related lease liability on
a net basis on the basis they arise from a single
transaction. Following the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences in
relation to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
separately. The change primarily impacts
disclosures of components of deferred tax assets
and liabilities in the annual financial statements,
but does not impact the overall deferred tax
balances presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position as the related deferred tax
balances qualify for offsetting under HKAS 12.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2.
(Continued)

BEXEHHE @

(c) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) S BE2E (&)

©

Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes:
International tax reform Pillar Two model
rules

The amendments introduce a temporary
mandatory exception from deferred tax
accounting for the income tax arising from tax
laws enacted or substantively enacted to
implement the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (“OECD”) (income tax arising
from such tax laws is hereafter referred to as
“Pillar Two income taxes”), including tax laws
that implement qualified domestic minimum
top-up taxes described in those rules. The
amendments also introduce disclosure
requirements about such tax. The amendments
are immediately effective upon issuance and
require retrospective application. As the new
tax laws are not yet effective, the Group does
not expect any current tax impact for the year
ending 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).
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Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over
the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated
into the consolidated financial statements from
the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Intra-group balances,
transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in
the same way as unrealised gains but only to
the extent that there is no evidence of
impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
a subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly
to the Company, and in respect of which the
Group has not agreed any additional terms with
the holders of those interests which would result
in the Group as a whole having a contractual
obligation in respect of those interests that
meets the definition of a financial liability. For
each business combination, the Group can
elect to measure any non-controlling interests
either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s
net identifiable assets.

MEBAREANEEAEER-
MAEEAZNERE2RE]
EXBMEEAEMEH WA
EREHRERNRNITEZS
E#FH MAEEEZERESE
HHE - ERFAAREE D AER
EEERASENEMETT R
BEIRER -

23

kol

NS

KRB AR NIRE b2
EREFAGEMBHRR BEE
ERZEGEKRLIEARL-&H
NARBHERER S ARE
BEARFRRENRZAMEELERER
ERERARER G N E R RRAER
EMBHREATEEEE SERX
RAFANR ZREEREREE
AEEYBEEBRBE NS HRAE
BRT T AERER K =48R
B77F LA

IR EREYFAARRARER
BANEESISINE PNCIY K= Fi
RASEY REZEFEaNTH
ANZERAERBRIMET - <A
SEEER T HZSTRaELT
EERABNERMNSOMRE-
IEXBAFME AKEAR
BIR N P E SR IR B 25 OB
EPNCIEIE § 06 3=§:pdk =P gl
AT E (T JFfE LS -



Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position
within equity, separately from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the
Group are presented on the face of the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation
of the total profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the owners of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling
interests and other contractual obligations
towards these holders are presented as financial
liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with notes 2(u)
or (v) depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in
relative interests, but no adjustments are made
to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it
is accounted for as a disposal of the entire
interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or
loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the
date when control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition of a financial asset
(see note 2(f)) or, when appropriate, the cost
on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).
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An associate is an entity in which the Group or
Company has significant influence, but not
control or joint control, over its management,
including participation in the financial and
operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the
Group or Company and other parties
contractually agree to share control of the
arrangement, and have rights to the net assets
of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture
is accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements under the equity method. Under the
equity method, the investment is initially
recorded at cost, adjusted for any excess of the
Group'’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the
cost of the investment (if any). The cost of the
investment includes purchase price, other costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the
investment, and any direct investment into the
associate or joint venture that forms part of the
Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the
investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s
net assets and any impairment loss relating to
the investment (see note 2(l)(ii)). At each
reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there is any objective evidence that the
investment is impaired. Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-
acquisition, post-tax results of the investees and
any impairment losses for the year are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of the
post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees’
other comprehensive income is recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition
of further losses is discontinued except to the
extent that the Group has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the investee. For this purpose, the
Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the
investment under the equity method, together
with any other long-term interests that in
substance form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate or the joint venture,
after applying the ECL model to such other
long-term interests where applicable (see note

2((@)-

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee,
except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred, in which case they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for
under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to
have significant influence over an associate or
joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former investee at the date when
significant influence or joint control is lost is
recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
of a financial asset (see note 2(f)).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e) Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

(®

In the Company’s consolidated statement of
financial position, investments in associates and
joint venture are stated at cost less impairment
losses (see note 2(l)).

Other investments in debt and equity
securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and
equity securities, other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are
set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are
recognised/derecognised on the date the
Group commits to purchase/sell the investment.
The investments are initially stated at fair value
plus directly attributable transaction costs,
except for those investments measured at fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) for which
transaction costs are recognised directly in
profit or loss. For an explanation of how the
Group determines fair value of financial
instruments, see note 38(c). These investments
are subsequently accounted for as follows,
depending on their classification.

() Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group
are classified into one of the following
measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is
held for the collection of contractual
cash flows which represent solely
payments of principal and interest.
Interest income from the investment is
calculated using the effective interest
method (see note 2(x)(b)(iii)).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXEEE®
(Continued)
() Other investments in debt and equity 0] E"Taﬁ&&ﬂxzﬁ g5 2 HMRE

securities (Continued) (#&

() Investments other than equity investments () MBRAREAIGIZRE (8)

(Continued)

fair value through other comprehensive
income (FVTOCI) — recycling, if the
contractual cash flows of the
investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the
investment is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual
cash flows and sale. Changes in fair
value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for
the recognition in profit or loss of
expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and
foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised,
the amount accumulated in other
comprehensive income is recycled
from equity to profit or loss.

fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

— EBRAFEFAHME
mWA (MERQFEF
AEMEEmERAL) —
AEE HRENEYN
BeEnsEZeElrse
RF B W HIZE
ZhakE4HRER
ERHEZEBER
BERE - AFHEZE
HREMEERAR
R OEEHEES
BAMEKRA(ZRER
FEREFTE) RE KK
¥&J§§T‘%E'J ME R
R MR IEFERZIZE
B REMEEKRAA
itz ERESS
Az

— BRAFEFAEZ M
BRE D& R HK
REERNFETAR
fib 2 T W A (AT &%)
FAECER-KREZAR
FEZH (BRFEMNB)
RIEBRER -

165



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED > ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR I HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
SFTZA=tTHILFE

n‘l-.ﬁ

BE—F_=

2.

166

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Other investments in debt and equity
securities (Continued)

(ii)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is
classified as FVTPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes
and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election
to designate the investment at FVTOCI
(non-recycling) such that subsequent
changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Such elections are made on an instrument-
by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of
equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve
(non-recycling) until the investment is
disposed of. At the time of disposal, the
amount accumulated in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled
through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective
of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other
income in accordance with the policy set
out in note 2(x)(b)(ii).

(g) Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are recognised
at fair value. At the end of each reporting period
the fair value is remeasured. The gain or loss on
remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, except where the
derivatives qualify for cash flow hedge
accounting or hedges of net investment in a
foreign operation, in which case recognition of
any resultant gain or loss depends on the nature
of the item being hedged.
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

The cost of self-constructed items of property,
plant and equipment includes the cost of
materials, direct labour, the initial estimate,
where relevant, of the costs of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the site on
which they are located, and an appropriate
proportion of production overheads and
borrowing costs (see note 2(n)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or
disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of
retirement or disposal.

When the use of a property changes from
owner-occupied to investment property, the
property is remeasured to fair value and
reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on this
remeasurement is recognised in profit or loss to
the extent that it reverses a previous impairment
loss on the specific property, with any remaining
gain recognised in OCI| and presented in the
revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognised in
profit or loss. However, to the extent that an
amount is included in the revaluation surplus for
that property, the loss is recognised in OCI and
reduces the revaluation surplus within equity.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of the
asset, the relevant revaluation reserve will be
transferred directly to retained profits.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

0)

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method as follows:

Buildings Over the shorter of 30
years or the remaining
lease terms

Leasehold Over the shorter of the

improvements lease terms and the

useful life of 5 years
7% — 10%
15% — 33%

Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures
and equipment

Computers

Transmission system
and equipment
(including motor
vehicles)

10% - 33%
16% — 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the
cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are
reviewed annually.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings
which are owned or held under a leasehold
interest (see note 2(k)) to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future
use and property that is being constructed or
developed for future use as investment

property.
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Investment properties are stated at fair value,
unless they are still in the course of construction
or development at the end of the reporting
period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising
from a change in fair value or from the
retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income
from investment properties is accounted for as
described in note 2(x)(b)(i).

Expenditure on research activities is recognised
as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred. Expenditure on development activities
is capitalised if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible and the
Group has sufficient resources and the intention
to complete development. The expenditure
capitalised includes the costs of materials,
direct labour, and an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs, where
applicable (see note 2(n)). Capitalised
development costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses (see note 2(l)). Other development
expenditure is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the
Group are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation (where the estimated useful life is
finite) and impairment losses (see note 2(1)).

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill
and brands is recognised as an expense in the
period in which it is incurred.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

(k)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful
lives is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the assets’ estimated useful lives.
Capitalised development costs are amortised
from the date they are available for use.

Both the period and method of amortisation are
reviewed annually.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A
contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use
of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from
that use.

(i) Asalessee

At the lease commencement date, the
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and
a lease liability, except for leases of low-
value assets. When the Group enters into a
lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised
as an expense on a systematic basis over
the lease term.
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Where the lease is capitalised, the lease
liability is initially recognised at the present
value of the lease payments payable over
the lease term, discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using
a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is
measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate
are not included in the measurement of
the lease liability and hence are charged
to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a
lease is capitalised is initially measured at
cost, which comprises the initial amount of
the lease liability plus any lease payments
made at or before the commencement
date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of
costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value,
less any lease incentives received. The
right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see notes 2(h) and 2(l)
(ii)), except for right-of-use assets that
meet the definition of investment property
are carried at fair value in accordance
with note 2(i).
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Leases (Continued)

0]

As a lessee (Continued)

The initial fair value of refundable rental
deposits is accounted for separately from
the right-of-use assets in accordance with
the accounting policy applicable to
investments in debt securities carried at
amortised cost (see notes 2(f)(i), 2(x)(b)(iii)
and 2(1)(i)). Any difference between the
initial fair value and the nominal value of
the deposits is accounted for as additional
lease payments made and is included in
the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there
is a change in future lease payments
arising from a change in an index or rate,
or there is a change in the Group’s
estimate of the amount expected to be
payable under a residual value guarantee,
or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase,
extension or termination option. When the
lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been
reduced to zero.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Leases (Continued)

0)

As a lessee (Continued)

The lease liability is also remeasured when
there is a change in the scope of a lease
or the consideration for a lease that is not
originally provided for in the lease contract
(“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this
case the lease liability is remeasured
based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are rent concessions that
occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and met the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of
HKFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the Group
has taken advantage of the practical
expedient not to assess whether the rent
concessions are lease modifications, and
recognised the change in consideration as
negative variable lease payments in profit
or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the rent concessions
occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the current portion of long-term
lease liabilities is determined as the present
value of contractual payments that are
due to be settled within twelve months
after the reporting period.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k) Leases (Continued)

(ii)

174

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it
determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to the
ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-
lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from
operating leases is recognised in
accordance with note 2(x)(b)(i).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor,
the sub-leases are classified as a finance
lease or as an operating lease with
reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease. If the head lease is a
short-term lease to which the Group
applies the exemption described in note
2(k)(i), then the Group classifies the sub-
lease as an operating lease.

(ii)
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets

0)

Credit losses from financial instruments

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (ECLs) on the
following items:

— financial assets measured at
amortised cost (including cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables
and other receivables),

— debt securities measured at FVTOCI
(recycling).

Other financial assets measured at fair
value, including equity securities
designated at FVTOCI (non-recycling) and
derivative financial assets, are not subject
to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate
of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the
cash flows due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the
cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are
discounted using the following discount
rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

— fixed-rate financial assets, trade and
other receivables: effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition
or an approximation thereof;

— variable-rate financial assets: current
effective interest rate.

n‘l-.ﬁ

SR SRR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE—F-=F+=A=+—HIFE
2. BEXREFEE
() EEEBEREERE
() =RIEMEEEIE

AEEB TS ENAHE
EER ([BHREEBR])H®
RERBHE

— REERAFEND
REE(RRASME
TFEER BUER
RE M EUEKIA) -

— BRAFEFAHME
EW A ENERE
7 (AT &) -

HiBRAFEAENSRE
E BREERAFEFA
Hip 2EBWARBRAESR (5
AEE)MTEEREE #
ETRBEEERNG-

B
HE]

BREEERREEEEN
BEMERT - EEEBRR
%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%%%(ﬂﬁﬁ
BHRNAKERERE
$E@ﬁ%Wﬂﬁ%mgz
RHZR) WIREF & -

AR F EE A BFAHR
SEFER NIIRLIREAEIR -

— BEEFELBEE
M B 3K T i U 3
A ) TR
0 B e ) o 23
bR

— BRAECRMEE ¥
IEE LU

175



WULING MOTORS HOLDINGS LIMITED > ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SR I HRRMEE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
SFTZA=tTHILFE

n‘l-.ﬁ

BE—F_=

2.

176

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

0

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into
account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue
cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that
are expected to result from possible
default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible
default events over the expected
lives of the items to which the ECL
model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are
always measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial assets
are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors and an assessment
of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting
date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

0)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

For all other financial instruments (including
loan commitments issued), the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to
12-month ECLs unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk of the
financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs.

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a
financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that
assessed at the date of initial recognition.
In making this reassessment, the Group
considers that a default event occurs
when (i) the borrower is unlikely to pay its
credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or
(ii) the financial asset is 90 days past due.
The Group considers both quantitative and
qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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(Continued)

0

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

@

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing
whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— failure to make payments of principal
or interest on their contractually due
dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial
instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor; and

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the
debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either
an individual basis or a collective basis.
When the assessment is performed on a
collective basis, the financial instruments
are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics, such as past due status
and credit risk ratings.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

0)

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting
date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial
recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for
all financial instruments with a
corresponding adjustment to their carrying
amount through a loss allowance account,
except for investments in debt securities
that are measured at FVTOCI (recycling),
for which the loss allowance is recognised
in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the fair value reserve
(recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance
with note 2(x)(b)(iii) is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on the amortised cost
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group
assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-
impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

@

180

Credit losses from financial instruments
(Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income
(Continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes the following observable
events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a
default or past due event;

— it becoming probable that the
borrower will enter into bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the
technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have an
adverse effect on the debtor; or

— the disappearance of an active
market for a security because of
financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial
asset is written off (either partially or in full)
to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised
as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss
in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of
information are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period to identify
indications that the following assets may
be impaired or an impairment loss
previously recognised no longer exists or
may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

— right-of-use assets;

— intangible assets, and;

— investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures in the Company’s

statement of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

0

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(Continued)

(ii)

Impairment of other non-current assets
(Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset
is the greater of its fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the
asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (for
example, head office building) is
allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if the allocation can
be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. EXEHEE®
(Continued)
() Credit losses and impairment of assets () EEEBEREEREE)
(Continued)
(i) Impairment of other non-current assets (i) HtIERBEERE (E)
(Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment |loss is recognised in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of
an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount.

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a favourable change in the
estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is
limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to
profit or loss in the year in which the
reversals are recognised.
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Foreign currency transactions during the year
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-
monetary assets or liabilities. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are
translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated
into Renminbi at the exchange rates
approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions.
Consolidated statement of financial position
items are translated into Renminbi at the closing
foreign exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated
separately in equity in the exchange reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount of the exchange
differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the
profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(0)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of an
asset which necessarily takes a substantial
period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that
asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of
the cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred,
borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the
asset for its intended use or sale are in progress.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended
or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its
intended use or sale are interrupted or
complete.

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual
leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost
of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services
are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the
effect would be material, these amounts
are stated at their present values.
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The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee
cost with a corresponding increase in a
capital reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the
binomial lattice model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where
the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming
unconditionally entitled to the options, the
total estimated fair value of the options is
spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the options
will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of
share options that is expected to vest is
reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior
years is charged/credited to the profit or
loss for the year of the review, unless the
original employee expenses qualify for
recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount
recognised as an expense is adjusted to
reflect the actual number of options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to
the capital reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market
price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve
until either the option is exercised (when it
is included in the amount recognised in
share capital for the shares issued) or the
option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEXEFHBE®
(Continued)

(o) BERF (&)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination
benefits.

(p) Taxation

Income tax expense comprises current tax and
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that it relates to a business
combination, or items recognised directly in
equity or in OCI.

Current tax comprises the estimated tax
payable or receivable on the taxable income
or loss for the year and any adjustments to the
tax payable or receivable in respect of previous
years. The amount of current tax payable or
receivable is the best estimate of the tax
amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income
taxes. It is measured using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Current tax also includes any tax arising from
dividends.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if
certain criteria are met.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of
temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not
recognised for:

— temporary differences on the initial
recognition of assets or liabilities in a
transaction that is not a business
combination and that affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences;

— temporary differences related to
investment in subsidiaries, associates and
joint venture to the extent that the group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences and it is
probable that they will not reverse in the
foreseeable future;

— taxable temporary differences arising on
the initial recognition of goodwill; and

— those related to the income taxes arising
from tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted to implement the Pillar Two model
rules published by the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and
Development.
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The group recognised deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused
tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Future taxable profits are determined based on
the reversal of relevant taxable temporary
differences. If the amount of taxable temporary
differences is insufficient to recognise a deferred
tax asset in full, then future taxable profits,
adjusted for reversals of existing temporary
differences, are considered, based on the
business plans for individual subsidiaries in the
group. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that the
related tax benefit will be realised; such
reductions are reversed when the probability of
future taxable profits improves.

Where investment properties are carried at their
fair value in accordance with note 2(j), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
using the tax rates that would apply on sale of
those assets at their carrying value at the
reporting date, unless the property is
depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the
property over time, rather than through sale. In
all other cases, the measurement of deferred
tax reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the group
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only
if certain criteria are met.
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Inventories are assets which are held for sale in
the ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of
materials or supplies to be consumed in the
production process or in the rendering of
services.

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realizable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted-average method and comprises all
costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition. Net realizable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount
of those inventories is recognised as an expense
in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of
inventories to net realisable value and all losses
of inventories are recognised as an expense in
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of
inventories is recognised as a reduction in the
amount of inventories recognised as an
expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

A contract liability is recognised when the
customer pays non-refundable consideration
before the Group recognises the related
revenue (see note 2(x)(a)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised (see note

2(9)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s)

®

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration.
A right to receive consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due.

Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component are initially
measured at their transaction price. Trade
receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially
measured at fair value plus transaction costs. All
receivables are subsequently stated at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
method and including an allowance for credit
losses (see note 2(1)(i)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at
bank and on hand, demand deposits with
banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for
the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in
accordance with the policy set out in note 2(I)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(u)

V)

(w)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially
recognised at fair value. Subsequent to initial
recognition, trade and other payables are
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at invoice amounts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured
initially at fair value less transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-
bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method. Interest
expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(n)).

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a legal or constructive obligation arising as a
result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(w) Provisions (Continued)

)

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be
reimbursed by another party, a separate asset is
recognised for any expected reimbursement
that would be virtually certain. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue
when it arises from the sale of goods, the
provision of services or the use by others of the
Group’s assets under leases in the ordinary
course of the Group’s business.

In determining whether the Group acts as a
principal or as an agent, it considers whether it
obtains control of the products before they are
transferred to the customers. Control refers to
the Group’s ability to direct the use of and
obtain substantially all of the remaining benefits
from the products.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is recognised when control over
a product or service is transferred to the
customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the Group is
expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third

parties such as value added tax or other
sales taxes.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BEXEHHEE ®

(Continued)

) BWAREMBA (E)

(X) Revenue and other income (Continued)

194

are rendered. The Group bills an
amount for each month of services

(a) Revenue from contracts with customers @ EFAEHUWA (&)

(Continued)

()  Revenue from sales of goods and )
trading of steels
Revenue from the sales of engines HEBEHEREIK
and engine related parts, automotive RS TEE M
components and accessories and MERHFARERRE
specialized vehicles, and trading of BE#M 2 BWARE
steels are recognized based upon /W A R R
goods/steels delivered, which is the EPFPERNEER
point in time when the customer has A&, REEZ
the ability to direct the use of the 7] Gm, S A 1R ) 4 2 B
goods/steels and obtain the control ] B BF T AT SR ©
of the goods/steels.

(i)  Revenue from provision of services (i) FERARFEZ KA
Revenue from provision of water and RIEAKRE IHE
power supply services is recognized PR %5 2 WA B 12 AR
over the period in which the services TEEAR MR - A&

R BB 4 £t AR 75 U BR
B URASEARE

provided and recognizes as revenue MEZERWEELHE
in the amount to which the Group REeTKBELHOEER
has a right to invoice and BFRERERWA

corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed.

Revenue from other sources and other

(b)  Ho A AR U a5 B2 E b Y A

income
()  Rental income from operating leases () KEZEHEZMHD
WA
Rental income receivable under LR EIE T & FE IR
operating leases is recognised in 2 U A B T EA PR

profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease

ENHEUNEES B
FARBRER KHIE

term, except where an alternative —BEETERE
basis is more representative of the FRAEEEEMEL
pattern of benefits to be derived from B Al E = o

the use of the leased asset.
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2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(X) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(b)

Revenue from other sources and other
income (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted
investments is recognised when the
shareholder’s right to receive
payment is established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it
accrues under the effective interest
method using the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to the gross
carrying amount of the financial
asset. For financial assets measured
at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-
impaired, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount
of the asset. For credit-impaired
financial assets, the effective interest
rate is applied to the amortised cost
(i.e. gross carrying amount net of loss
allowance) of the asset (see note 2(l)
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(X) Revenue and other income (Continued)

(b) Revenue from other sources and other
income (Continued)

(lv) Government grants

Government grants are recognised in
the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received
and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them.
Grants that compensate the Group
for expenses incurred are recognised
as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods
in which the expenses are incurred.
Grants that compensate the Group
for the cost of an asset are
recognized as a deduction from the
carrying amount of the relevant asset
in the consolidated statement of
financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of
the related assets.

(y) Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that
person’s family, is related to the Group if
that person:

0)

(i)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the
Group;

has significant influence over the
Group; or

is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group'’s
parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of
the following conditions applies:

0]

(ii)

(iif)

(v)

W)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members
of the same group (which means that
each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in

(a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(y) Related parties (Continued)

)

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected to
influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group'’s
various lines of business and geographical
locations.

Individually material operating segments are
not aggregated for financial reporting purposes
unless the segments have similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the
nature of products and services, the nature of
production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material
may be aggregated if they share a majority of
these criteria.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Estimated impairment of property, plant and
equipment that has indication of impairment loss

Determining whether property, plant and equipment
that has indication of impairment loss is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs”) to which the property,
plant and equipment that has indication of
impairment loss has been allocated. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the
present value of the future cash flows expected to
arise from the CGUs containing the property, plant
and equipment using suitable discount rates. Key
assumptions in estimating the value in use of the
CGUs included discount rates, sales growth rates and
gross profit margins and their related cash inflow and
outflow patterns of the respective CGUs. Where the
expected future cash flows arising from the relevant
CGUs differ from the original estimation, an
impairment loss may arise. The management of the
Group also engage an independent valuer to carry
out valuation of the value in use of the CGUs. Details
of the recoverable amount calculation are disclosed
in note 12.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment is RMB2,806,820,000
(2022: RMB2,910,411,000), after taking into the
account the impairment of RMB263,979,000 (2022:
RMB264,705,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group uses provision matrix to calculate ECL for
the trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on internal credit ratings as groupings of various
debtors that have similar loss patterns. The provision
matrix is based on the Group’s historical default rates
taking into consideration of forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable
available without undue cost or effort. At every
reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking
information are considered. In addition, trade
receivables from related parties and credit-impaired
trade receivables are assessed for ECL individually.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s trade receivables are disclosed in notes 19
and 38(b).

As at 31 December 2023, the gross carrying amount
of trade receivables is RMB2,838,376,000 (2022:
RMB2,342,367,000) and allowance for credit losses of
RMB100,843,000 (2022: RMB78,486,000).
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AIEMEE B E Lt REEEH
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TEHEEEEBNBEEETNE(ELER
BRER-BEHEHEEREULREAEE
FEUWBR R m B k5 B 3R M sE19 &
38(b) °

R-E-_=F+_A=+—8 EWKE
R RERERARK%2,838,376,0007T
(ZZT=——%: AR#¥2,342,367,0007T)
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IEREEEZERERAT > —F=FFH

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(a) Revenue

The principal activities of the Group are the
manufacturing and sale of engines, engines
related parts, other power supply products,
automotive components and accessories, steels
and specialized vehicles (including new energy
vehicles), as well as provision of water and
power supply to customers.

Disaggregation of revenue

Types of goods and services B R RHFER
Sales of engines and related  $5 &3 B [ 1E RS0

4.

AR e B IS R MY RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =+ —_F=1—HIFFE

WAR S ERE R
@ WA

AEBENTEREEIE/EP
SUEM K EH B - S EHHARRAED
H EMBHERER TETE
HRES WM RERAE (B
R ) A RRHAKEEN
e

WAl

2023
—E=

RMB’000
ARMTFT

parts and other power 4 R B A E) ) 748

supply products En @) 2,479,958 2,896,038
Sales of automotive HERETHMHR

components and Bt 4

accessories (b) 5,246,576 5,122,212
Sales of specialized vehicles 4EHAAE (B

(including new energy aLRE)

vehicles) (c) 1,838,271 3,619,542
Trading of steels B S (b) 764,260 819,545
Provision of water and power 247K N3 fE

supply (b) 118,959 105,931
Revenue from contracts with B A& HWA (FH

customers within scope of B 7% & 2 Rl

HKFRS 15 F155REEN) 10,448,024 12,563,268
Revenue from gross rental WA BE 2 WA

income 35,909 32,339

10,483,933 12,595,607

Timing of revenue recognition YA 7 52 B& &
A point in time N 10,329,065 12,457,337
Over time BE e 154,868 138,270
Total #Et 10,483,933 12,595,607
Geographical markets i @ T %
Mainland China 1GNNS 10,323,953 12,428,920
Others HAh 159,980 166,687
Tl gt 10,483,933 12,595,607
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n‘l-.F

SR ISR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

e ——

Fr-_A=+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

@

(b)

202

Revenue (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue (Continued)

Notes:

(a) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under the vehicles’ power supply systems
segment in the segment information.

(b) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under automotive components and other
industrial services segment in the segment
information.

(c) These revenue has been classified as revenue
under the commercial vehicles assembly
segment in the segment information.

Segment Information

Information reported to the executive directors
of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on types of goods or
services delivered or provided. This is also the
basis upon which the Group is organized. No
operating segments identified by the chief
operating decision maker have been
aggregated in arriving at the reportable
segments of the Group.

BARSEHER (&)

@

(b)

LBZA /4#\

(@ ZFRADRS
RNEE N EL

DR E R A DR
BT ZHA -

b) ZEWAERDIERAD

E/m$7u51¢&ﬁi\‘r&1¥}%&7}%
DETZHA -

() BRFBAERDHEHAD
RERBESIH T ZWA-

2 PR

RAARRFRMITES (AIEBEER
RE)EBMARDEER LT HD
MRRZEBERRARN A
RHEZBREMBEEE - IR AR
o B R AR L Y U o T fE B AT
EBRREFMPBBEDTNE
BAKEZ A HmE D BE R G
5I8R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

(b)

Segment information (Continued)

The Group’s reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are as
follows:

Vehicles’ power supply systems

AR e B IS R MY RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE—F_ZF+-_A=1—HIFE

AR S EBEHR ()

*Eﬁéﬁf’%ﬁﬁ‘“q&&i_‘éﬁlj 585 [ 45
LD REBZAIREREE

— Manufacture and sale of engines and engine

related parts and other power supply products

b /‘Lﬁgﬂj]/\,/b

= Automotive components and
other industrial services

— SUENMHEREE AR R E B ) RREM

— Manufacture and sale of automotive components
and accessories, trading of steels, and provision of

water and power supply services

- RETEMHREAM T ERE

= Commercial vehicles assembly

— BUERHERET
K@ ORI

BB R BCHE - S E 5 DA MR A K

— Manufacture and sale of specialized vehicles

(including new energy vehicles)

- BRAEE

e Others
- Hfth

Segment revenues and results

The measure used for reporting segment profit
or loss is “adjusted EBIT” i.e. “adjusted earnings
before interest and taxes”, where “interest” is
regarded as finance income/costs. To arrive at
adjusted EBIT, the Group’s earnings are further
adjusted for items not specifically attributed to
individual segments, such as bank interest
income, net exchange loss, share of results of
associates and joint ventures, fair value change
of financial instruments at FVTPL, finance costs
and other head office or corporate
administration costs.

— BUENMHEE MR (BREHERITE)

— Property investment and others

— MERERHEM

9
LH

PN ET

HEDEEBMANTET LB
[ EEBIT] - B [ AR B
RAEF| HEAR[E|E@EK
AN Bt B FAEEBIT A
&= B/ & A& IR E B E B
D EBEYIE B i — R - FIanIRTT
TR A - FE 5 5 18F 58~ 2 (b B
BRARIRAEARERE RAFE
ABREZEMTAZAFES
B AR U REMAISSEA
AITTERBC A ©
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RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T_=#+_H=1+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WMARDEBER &)

(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER (&)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEUA R ELE (B)
The following is an analysis of the Group’s AEERBAREREESH 2
revenue and results from reportable and WAREESIFTAT :

operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-_ZE-_=%+=-A=+—H
IHEE

Automotive
Vehicles' - components
power  andother Commercial
supply industrial vehicles

systems services  assembly Others  Elimination Consolidated
RE RETPER
$h%4 HIXRE  BREE At g &8
RMBO0O0  RMB000 RMB'000 RMBO0O0  RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETT ARETT ARBTT AREFT ARETR

Revenue fiom external RENDEF ZHA

customers 2,479,958 6,129,795 1,838,271 35,909 - 10483933
Inter-segment revenue ABERA 18,719 101,117 6,392 - (12628) -
Total & 2,498,677 6,230,912 1,844,663 35,909 (126,228) 10,483,933
Segment profit (acjusted EBT) 7 4FiF| (12:3% EBrT) 25,686 91,444 62,762 21972 207,884
Bankinterest income RAMSHA 105,784
Change in fair value of financial %A F(E:F A BE 245

assets at FVTPL BEIDTEEY 2819
Net exchange loss EABBEE (1,087)
Central administrative costs P RFTHAR (32,249)
Share of results of associates ~ EEBENFAzEE (82,066)
Share of results of joint ventures  EEASAE 2 %8 (3.116)
Finance costs HENA (120508)
Profit before taxation B anaH 17461
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AR e B IS SRR b EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WMARDEEN (@)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) HEER (58)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEWARFEE (B)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_f+=-A=+-—H

EFE

Automotive
Vehicles' components
power  andother Commercial
supply industrial vehicles

systems services  assembly Others  Elimination Consolidated
FE REEHHR
YNEG HIXRE 2 EREE iff g 58
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NEETT  AEEFT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT

Revenue from external RESNIRE ZIA
customers 2,896,038 6,047,688 3,619,542 32,339 - 12,595,607
Inter-segment revenue LN 9,207 164,257 2953 - (176417 =
Total et 2,905,245 6,211,945 3,622,495 32,339 (176,417) 12,595,607
Segment profit (ajusted EBIT) 2 80H| (4B:25keBIT) 30155 52,742 21950 23375 128222
Bankinterest income RITHERA 100413
Change in fair value of financial  AFEF ABE 2R
assets at FVTPL BE/NTERY 13,661
Net exchange loss EXBETE (16,199)
Central administiative costs ~ PRITHAA (56,326)
Share of results of associates  EEBEA AT £ (2.546)
Share of results of joint ventures  EFAEAAIZ £ (3789)
Finance costs BARA (116,840)
Profit before taxation RRATRH 46,597
The accounting policies of the operating 4Ry =R 7 @ =t T 58 BR K &2 [ E [
segments are the same as the Group’s FE2RTI A 2 ETBUR MR o

accounting policies described in note 2.
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RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T_=#+_H=1+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, WMARDEBER &)

(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) ZEER (&)
Other segment information H fth 5 #p & £}
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=5+=-A=+-—H

IEFRE

Automotive

Vehicles' components
power and other Commercial
supply  industrial vehicles

systems services  assembly Others Consolidated
RE RERP4R
BH7S EMIXRE HREE Hitr G
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ABRBTE ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT

Amounts included in the STATREAHER
measure of reportable FTENSE:

segment profit or loss:
Depreciation of property, plant %% » Bz kA ENE

and equipment 71,891 245,519 42,346 - 359,756
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ HFREEENE

assets 22,042 23,486 4914 - 50,442
Loss (gain) on disposal of HENE  BEREEL

property, plant and BE (&)

equipment 1,122 (80) (159) - 883
Write-down (reversal of FEMOR (AR F 8

write-down) of

inventories, net 603 (89) 4542 - 5,056
Impaimment losses ontrade  [EMERFUAERE

receivables 4513 16,837 2,724 - 24,074
Reversal of impaimentlosson  EUERSUREEERE

trade receivables (170) (1,111) (30) - (1,311)
Research and development  HIERY

expenses 198,814 80,346 27,396 - 306,556
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. WMARDEER (@)
(Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued) (b) HEER (58)
Other segment information (Continued) Hih oy HER (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE-_—_f+=-A=+-—H
LEE

Automotive
Vehicles' components
power  andother Commercial
supply industrial vehicles

systems services  assembly Others Consolidated
AE RETHHR
PhEG HuIfRE  AREE Eft e
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
NEETT ANEETT ARETT ARETT AREFR

Amounts included in the STATRENPER
measure of reportable FENGE:

segment profit or loss:
Depreciation of property, plant  #% - Rk AENE

and equipment 99,441 211,973 70,095 - 381,509
Impairment loss on property, 9% - R R&ELZ

plant and equipment HEBE - = 22,000 = 22,000
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREZENE

assets 22,240 23,021 9,104 - 54,365
Loss (gain) on disposal of LENE  BEREELZ

property, plant and B (&)

equipment 2,831 (7,213) (12,477 - (15,919
(Reversal of write-down) & (KRB ) R

write-down of inventories, net ¥ (6,093) 9,911 (2523) - 1,295
Impairment losses on trade R ERE

receivables 7,215 4,459 23,616 - 35,290
Reversal of impaiment losson MR FRERERE

trade receivables (12,816) (2,041) (22) - (14,879)
Research and development  FEFx

expenses 48,591 208,256 62,618 - 319,465
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A B IR RMTRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T_=#+_H=1+—HIFE

4. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) Segment information (Continued)

Non-current assets

Information about the Group’s non-current
assets is presented based on the geographical
location of the assets.

4., WMARDEEHR &)

(b)

DEWER (E)
FRBEE

AEBFRDEEZERTIRE
BEMEMES-

2023 2022

—E=HF —=-—
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T ARSFr
Mainland China B A B 4,445,736 4,646,280
Hong Kong aBH 6,275 5,003
Indonesia ENEfEPhan 3,041 8,837
India N 4,369 1,843
4,459,421 4,661,963
Note: Non-current assets excluded financial Wtat: FRBEETBRIESMIA:

instruments.

Information about a major customer

Revenue derived from sales to a single
customer, which contributed over 10% of the
Group’s total revenue, in respect of the
following operating segments, is as follows:

BR—2IB2EPZEH

IWREEsHEANR—BE—FF
EITHERBWA ((EAREEZI
AFBi810% )0

2023 2022
—E=F S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEB#¥Fr ARMTFT
Engines and related parts BB R ARRA L1 1,342,526 1,798,265
Automotive components and  JREZEF & H b 2idE 5k
other modification or industrial T 3 AR7%
services services 3,829,303 4,236,817
5,171,829 6,035,082
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RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

5. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 5. Hitlg A Hittu =R &8
LOSSES
(a) Details of other income are as follows: (a) EHMWAZFBEHOT:
2023 2022
=== —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEB#¥TT ARBTFT
Bank interestincome RITH WA 105,784 100,413
Government grants (note i) BT B (FraEi) 32,843 15,709
Sales of scrap materials, parts ~ $HEEER « BEIBF R EA
and others 39,696 14,152
Machinery and other property  # i R H ¥R KA
rental income (note i) (Kraxii) 1,819 3,501
Service income on repairs and  #E MR E Z IRFGUA
maintenance 7,458 15,061
Income on use of technology 7| FB B i &0 2 WA
knowhow 1,466 1,466
Income from the transfer of HEER WA
patents 10,258 51,572
Others Hi 15,083 12,886
214,407 214,760

Notes: HteE -

(i) Government grants mainly represent various () BNEBETEEBAKEART
industry-specific subsidies granted by the 2 EEITESER B LASEE AR
government authorities to reward the Group’s SER/BMAIFTNE ) - B &
effort for technological innovation with no future 15 T EE A 2 AR RAE A AR AN o 37 4%
related costs to be incurred. There are no HZECHABN AR
unfulfilled conditions relating to such AR R o

government subsidies recognized.

(i) Machinery and other property rental income (i) HWHMREMDEHRBALE
are fixed lease payments. ERERNK
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A B IR RMTRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—F_=—F1-A=+—HIFE

5. OTHER INCOME/OTHER GAINS AND 5. H{ttlr A Hitrlrzs R &8
LOSSES (Continued) (#)
(b) Details of other gains and losses are as follows: (b) HiWmEBRZFBWT:

2023
—F-=F

RMB’000
ARETT

Impairment loss on property, M - B R 2RE

2022
===

RMB’000

AREFIT

plant and equipment Jiagi] - (22,000)
Net exchange loss P& 5 B 18R 5 (1,087) (16,199)
Fair value change of financial 2 AF(EF AR Z S/

assets at FVTPL BEZAFEES 2,819 13,661
(Loss) gain on disposal of HEME BERZBEZ

property, plant and (BE) W=

equipment (883) 15,919
Decrease in fair value of BEYE 2 N FERD

investment properties (6,144) (1,745)
Debt forgiveness B E 10,353 =
Others Hh 37 (360)

5,095 (10,724)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 6. BRFRATEF
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging: BREADRFTDENBRATSEEE D
(a) Finance costs (a) MEHE
2023 2022
—E—= —E-_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETT
Interests on: THSEZAE -
— Bank borrowings — RITEE 62,386 50,717
— Advances drawn on bills — FEWE IR FTHR BV R
receivable 55,636 63,376
— Lease liabilities —HEGE 2,486 2,747
120,508 116,840
(b) Staff costs (b) BIRHA
2023 2022
=== —E=-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fr ARET T
Salaries, wages and other e TENEMBR
benefits 665,723 700,615
Contributions to defined AT HRFERRET B
contribution retirement plans 85,685 77,595
Equity-settled share-based LARE 2 45 AR 1) A ELRE
payment (credit) expense BT () A (456) 9,149

750,952 787,359
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RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE—T_=#+_H=1+—HIFE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued) 6. BR¥EIEF (&)
(c) Other items (c) HER

AOYK] 2022

—Egq-= —=FE-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT

Depreciation charges: FEMRX :
— Property, plant and — BAYE - BER

equipment for own use B 359,756 381,509
— Right-of-use assets — EREEE 50,442 54,365

Impairment losses on property,  #% - BE k& ERE

plant and machinery &5 18 - 22,000
Write-down of inventories, net 77 &R /F58 5,056 1,295
Auditor's remuneration 1% S5 R 5 A

— audit services — TR 2,166 1,979
Cost of inventories* FEMA* 9,341,009 11,577,961

note: During the year ended 31 December 2023, et BEZT-_=F+=A=+—
interest of RMB1,843,000 (2022: RMB6,434,000) HIEFE BAmERTELR
were paid to Guangxi Automobile in respect EEmAEASBELFFEA
of bills discounted to Guangxi Automobile. K #1,843,000C (=T ==
Details of provision of the bill discounting F: AR #6,434,000T) ° EiE
facilities are set out in note 36(v). BB ENFEHRNMKE
36(v) ©
# Cost of inventories includes RMB551,908,000 & FERABEEBE TN AR
(2022: RMB670,189,000) relating to staff costs ER S M AR %551,908,000
and depreciation expenses, which amount is T(ZTEZZF: AR
also included in the respective total amounts 670,189,0007T ) ' % & &t A
disclosed separately above. EXEBRBENEBLESE
Ao
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

RIS R RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HEr—F =+ _A=+1+—HItFEF

7. FA8HIRAX

2023 2022
t T
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®ETT AR#BTFT
Tax expense represents: MIERXIE :
Current tax BNERTRIE
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“CIT") # lm%ﬁﬁ S ([R5
and income taxes of other tax 1§85 1) REA TS
jurisdictions i%ln—_nﬁ’lﬁfr S 7,181 4,187
Withholding tax on dividend M B IR TR
distribution - 436
(Over) under provision in prior years B FE (EBFEEE)
BBt (1,571) 1,110
5,610 5,733
Deferred tax (note 29) RIETIIE (f17E29)
Origination and reversal of ERERNESMED
temporary differences 2,395 826
8,005 6,559
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HE T -—=F+-A=1—HIFE

In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate
income tax laws, implementation regulations and
guidance notes, certain subsidiaries in Mainland
China are entitled to tax concessions whereby the
profits of the subsidiaries are taxed at a preferential
income tax rate. Liuzhou Wuling Liuji Motors Company
Limited (“Wuling Liuji”) and Wuling Liuji Foundry
Company Limited (“Liuji Foundry”) are approved as
enterprises that satisfied as a High-New Technology
Enterprises and entitled the preferential tax rate of
15% in 2021, 2022 and 2023. Liuzhou Zhuotong Motors
Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Liuzhou Zhuotong”) and
Chongging Zhuotong Motors Industrial Co., Ltd.
(“Chongqing Zhuotong”) were applicable to the tax
concession of the Western Development in PRC and
entitled the preferential tax rate of 15% in 2023.
Taxation of the Group’s other subsidiaries in Mainland
China are calculated using the applicable income
tax rates of 25%.

The CIT Law also requires withholding tax of 5% upon
distribution of profits by the PRC subsidiaries since 1
January 2008 to its overseas (including Hong Kong)
shareholders.

During the year, deferred tax of RMB3,787,000 has
been provided (2022: RMB1,524,000) in respect of the
undistributed earnings of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries
and charged to profit or loss accordingly.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for taxation in Indonesia has been made
as the subsidiaries in this jurisdiction does not have
any assessable profit for both years.

R YR FE B R B 1 PR 1S F% « EHEAE DI
KIS BETHRRAENNBARIZA
BIERR ZEWBRAZaFIZER
FISfF = - HINAZENEE HER
AR (TRZEMHDEAZNHEESR
BRAR ([MHEE )R =_—F =
TR B —FERUESHR
fir % ] Z H15% 2 B B H K - g
FRABEZHHERAT ([HIMNEE])
PEEEBAETIXERAF([EE
2B ) E BT OK R R B R
R RIE=FZHI% 2 BEHE -
AEERPRKREREMHTE AT 2
TR E AT S R 25% 5t & ©

CEMSRENRE BT N\F—
A—RE PENBRREEEN (B
BEE ) R 2 K T 72 $25% 4 4 TR+
i

RAFEERAEEFENBE AR ZE
DIREF] 2 FEIERIE A R ¥3,787,0007T
AREBEHE(ZDZE-_F: AR
1,524,0007T ) + WA 18 2 A AR EHIBR o

BB MEHIIRE M @5 G ERR
NIRRT K 16.5% 5t &

RREER - i3 AV AHEE B 2
) ] PSR B R B A0 ED R
BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B I ERaR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—F_=F+A=1—HILFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 7. FEHRAX )

Taxation for subsidiary in other tax jurisdictions REMIGREEROME R RABIE
amounting to RMB5,041,000 (2022: RMB3,251,000) was = AR 5,041,000 (ZZF =4 : A
charged at the appropriate current rates under the X #53,251,0007T ) - JH 1R 1% 48 B B 75 15
relevant taxation rulings. Bl & IR 1T R R U o

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled FHNFGHREATEGEEE MR
to the loss before taxation per the consolidated HW R RIS EERAT

statement of profit or loss as follows:

2023
—E==

RMB’000
ARETFT

Profit before taxation B B B ) 77,461 46,597

Notional tax on profit before taxation %iEHANA Bl AR 2
calculated at the rates applicable =l G R b

in the jurisdictions concerned ZHBEHIA 19,365 11,649
Tax effect of share of results of FEIEEEE AR 2 B2
associates M E 17,157 577
Tax effect of share of results of joint ~ E{EE & RAIZEEZ
ventures M E 778 947
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~A] 1T 5 2 2 T 7% 5/ 2
for tax purposes 1,654 6,489
Tax effect of deductible temporary — RIERAI IR LR =582
differences not recognized MG & 5,880 10,508
Tax effect of income not taxable for HERFWA Z TS 2
tax purposes (1,325) (875)
Tax effect of utilization of tax losses  Zhf LA ?‘Eﬂiﬁﬁ? TiIEE 1A
previously not recognized 2B (8,906) (30,647)
Tax effect of tax losses not RIERRIBEE 2R
recognized o 25,936 6,402
Tax effect of undistributed profits of A Bl /& A &) & 2K 4
the PRC subsidiaries 2B 3,787 1,524
Tax effect of subsidiaries using B AREATRBE
different tax rates Hig B (6,755) (1,125)
(Over) under provision in prior years  @{EFE (FBEREME) B
2 (1,571) 1,110
Extra deduction of research and T 2% B S INET 00
development expense (47.995) -
Income tax expense for the year FRASH 8,005 6,559
Details of movements in deferred tax liabilities are set BELERBRE 2 BB FBEHNMIE29 -

out in note 29.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EENSRITHAEZHME
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the ENHENEEZ RS RITHRA S KB
directors and the chief executive are as follows: ST
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND NON-EXECUTIVE (a) HITESRIHNTES
DIRECTORS
2023 —E-=fF

Non-
Executive
Executive Directors Director

BOES FUTES
Yuan Yang Wei Li

Zhijun  Jianyong  Mingfeng Zheng
REE BEE  2HE £
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ARETT ARBFT AREFT
(note2)  (note2)  (note2)  (note3)
(Wit2)  (Wit2)  (W#2)  (W&3)

Fees %ﬂﬁ - - - 131 131
Salaries and other benefits & REMET - - - - -
Contributions to retirement RINENET IR

benefit schemes - - - - -
Equity settled share-based payment  BIEZSEE MR ALHER)

transaction DEST) - - - - -
Total b - - - 131 131

2022 —B-CF

Non-
Executive
Executive Directors Director

HiTEE FHTES

Yuan Lee Yang Wei Li

Zhijun Shing  Jianyong Mingfeng Zheng
REE 0 HEE 2HR ZIE
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
AREFT AREFT ARETT AREFT AREFI
(note2)  (notel)  (note2) (note2)  (note3)
(Wit2)  (WiF1)  (W#2)  (Ke2)  (33)

Fees ik - 112 - - 45 157
Salaries and other benefits Fe REMRERN - 439 - 616 - 1,055
Contributions to retirement RINERET B
benefit schemes - 6 - 55 - 61
Equity settled share-based INEREEURN B
payment transaction HRENAFR S - - - - - -
Total @it = 557 = 671 45 1,273
The executive and non-executive directors’ FRATATEERIERITES
emoluments shown above were for their ZHeDEREREBRRAR
services in connection with the management of AEBEBZREEH -

the affairs of the Company and the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RS B I BRI EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

8. EERARITHRAEZEHS
(%)

(b) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (b) BYFHITES
2023 —E-=HF
Ye Xiang Wang Yuben Mi Jianguo XU Jinli Total
o) E®/A KiEE #®3H @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥Tr ARETn ARETT AREFrT
(note 4) (note 4)
(Matq)  (Hfzi4)
Fees ik 185 131 58 73 447
Salaries and other benefits %4 & E 157 - - - - -
Contributions to retirement £ @RI+ 21 4tk
benefit schemes - - - - -
Total Foy 185 131 58 73 447
2022 —%==
Ye Xiang Wang Yuben  MilJianguo
) /A KizH
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFIL
Fees e 178 126 126 430
Salaries and other benefits e REMEF - = = =
Contributions to retirement RN BN
benefit schemes - - - -
Total Bar 178 126 126 430

The independent non-executive directors’
emoluments shown above were for the services
as directors of the Company.

note 1: On 23 January 2022, Mr. Lee Shing, the former
chief executive officer and executive
director passed away.

The emoluments of the directors or former
directors who were directors and/or senior
management of Guangxi Automobile were
paid and borne by Guangxi Automobile.

note 2:

note 3: Mr. Li Zheng was appointed as an non-
executive Director, a member of each of the
audit committee, nomination committee,
remuneration committee and environmental,
social and governance committee of the
Company on 24 August 2022.

note 4: Mr. Mi Jianguo resigned on 9 June 2023 and
Mr. Xu Jinli was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with
effect from 9 June 2023.

ERATBLFATESTZHE
DEREFETARFESTMEH
ZRIGERE -

Kl R—B__—_F—A—_+=H"
RTHRARRAITEEFTH
TEHR-

BREOAFEERKE
BEBENESHAMESH
P <& 75 e B P T B 32 A Rk
o

HtaE2 -

M3 ZEXRER=_ZT=_=F/\A
“t+HBEZTAEARDA
HITEEZ BERELET RE
ZES FMEEERIEE
HERERZEEKE -

KEHRLER T _=ZF X
BNBET %9 HEEHE
ZEBARNRRBYIENITE
= /AT =-_=FXANA
HBAE R o

Hiata -
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9. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS 9. EEE=
(a) Five highest paid individuals (a) AEEREHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest AEBRAEGZRFATHIE (=
emoluments in the Group, none (2022: nil) was T oF BIARAEERITH
the director and also the chief executive officer wE - HEMe B SR EXHiEsz
of the Company whose emolument is included FRERN - ZAXRAEESRE
in the disclosure in note 8 above. The BEZMESHT

emoluments of these five individuals who were
senior management of the Group, are as

follows:
2023 2022
—Egq=-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®FT ARSFT
Salaries and other benefits e RHEMER 4,034 4,627
Bonus TEAL - -
Contributions to retirement RIRBAFT B FR
benefit schemes 465 55
Equity settled share-based LARE &5 45 S DA RR (D 7 B
payment transaction KRR S 108 229
Total emoluments <& @58 4,607 4,911
The emoluments of the above highest paid ATALNG JE R A R E 5 A &% = 5 B
employees who are not the directors of the BEFHMN T

Company were within the following bands:
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9. EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9. EEM= »
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) @ hEEREFHFALT(E)

2023 ALY
—=— = e —

—_—— = —

Number of Number of

employees employees

EEA& BAZ

Nil to Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) == 1,000,000/5 7T

1,000,000 (ETD 4 4
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 /8L E
1,500,000 7 7T
5
No emoluments were paid by the Group to the REBIWERAARNARESH L
directors of the Company or the above ALTEZAEAME  (ERIMARSE
individuals as an inducement to join or upon EMARER R 2ESHIER
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of BEREE - AE T _=FK_F
office. None of the directors waived any ZF+ZA=+—RIEFE -#
emoluments during the years ended 31 mEEWEETAME -

December 2023 and 2022.
10. DIVIDEND 10. g2

2023 2022
—=— = e —

—_—<—— — = =

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFT

Dividends recognized as distribution ~ #ERAF AN IR Z IS -
during the year:

2022 Final dividend of HKD0.3 cents —Z — —FRHIRESEK
(2022: 2021final dividend of 0. 3,%11JJ (ZZ==%:
HKDO.3cents) per share T —FRERE
0.37%1l) 9,176 8,451

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final RMEBRRE EEERREBEEZT
dividend of HKDO0.5 cent per share amounting to =+ A=t+—HILEFESTIRKRH
approximately HKD16,491,000 (or equivalent to B% 2.3 1%0.5/%8 (Il + & 3£ 4916,491,000/%
RMB15,180,000) in respect of the year ended 31 JC (k4 & W A R #£15,180,0007T) -
December 2023 has been proposed by the directors ARERRREERRBFRSHERT
and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the TEE -

forthcoming annual general meeting.
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11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

220

(@)

(b)

Basic earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary
equity shareholders of the Company of
RMB23,477,000 (2022: RMB22,611,000) and the
weighted average of 3,298,161,000 ordinary
shares (2022: 3,298,161,000 shares) in issue during
the year, calculated as follows:

11. SREF

(@)

BREXNER

FRERZR THIRA R B = &
HE 5% FI A R #23,477,0007C
(ZZ==—=—4F: AR ®¥22,611,000
T0) R FANE BT E B INREF
#)$43,298,161,000% (=& — —
£F : 3,298,161,0000% ) st & 40°F :

Weighted average number of  ZERINEFLHH
ordinary shares

Issued ordinary shares at R—A—AK
1 January and 31 December TZA=T—BETH
EBR 3,298,161 3,298,161
Diluted earnings per share (b) BREBEER

There were no dilutive potential ordinary shares
during each of the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022, and therefore, diluted earnings
per share is the same as the basic earnings per
share.

HE-_T_ZFfK-_ZT-—
+-A=t+—HLFEHETH
BEEEE @R WEREERF
ENERELET -
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

v',R

BE—T—

12. W% -BERRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
ZFEF A=t HIFE

Furniture, Transmission
Leasehold Plantand fixtures and systemand  Construction
Buildings improvements  machinery  equipment  Computers  equipment  in progress Total
Bl BB Eazs
By HENEEE BERHB E i e ERIR A
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ANEEKTT  AEEFT  ARETT  ARETT  ARBTT  AREKFT  AREFT  ARETR
ATCOST REAE
At 1 January 2022 RZE-ZE-A-B 1239655 1,212 2,289,841 1,353,314 203,564 231,087 235,045 5,553,718
Exchange adjustments EfAE (40) ® (12) (13) @) (20) - 97
Additions AE 5406 445 26,063 17412 9,719 28298 202,486 289,889
Disposals i (289) = @2200) (1969  (27314) (5579) - (195114)
Transfer g5 11,099 - 79,113 90,749 4025 15,192 (200,178) -
Transfer to investment properies #ZZHR 4% (14,004) - - - - - = (14,004)
Transfer from investment RENFER
properties 20935 - - - - - - 20935
At31 December 2022 RZE--%
E+-A=1-R 1,262,762 1,649 2,352,765 1,341,770 190,050 268,978 237,353 5,655,327
Exchange adjustments ]S 3 13 14 8 4 16 - 88
Additions RE 416 1321 7867 28 5843 148 261,092 216,721
Disposals LE (435) (568)  (50320)  (12090) (439) (550) (20934 (9433)
Transfer it 16,171 - 100,553 169,216 5221 25,935 (317,096) -
Transfer to investment properties  EEZREANE (1,125) - - - - - - (1,125)
Transfer from investment trEnEER
properties 9917 - - - - - - 9,917
At31 December 2023 RZBZZ%
+=B=+-A 1,287,739 2421 2,410,878 1,498,931 196,726 289,487 160,415 5,846,597
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ E3tHTBAIHfE
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2022 R-E--5-f-A 403,909 1,106 1,092,887 627,808 147,623 130,730 - 2,404,063
Exchange adjustments EfAE 3 6 il 6 2 13 - 73
Depreciation for the year ERAE 31,219 266 198,321 100,994 5,963 38,740 - 381,509
Eiminated on disposals i ER A S (255) = (12,229) (37573) (7,106) (2943) - (60,106)
Impaiment lossrecognizedin -~ REZEZNEESE
profit orloss 10,260 - 10,938 490 152 160 - 22,000
Eimination on transer to ERERENEREY
investment properties (2,623) - - - - - - (2,623)
At 31 December 2022 S
T-A=1-A 448,545 1318 1,289,934 691,725 146,634 166,700 - 2,744,916
Exchange adjustments LS u 8 12 5 3 8 - 63
Depreciation for the year FRAE 37,861 480 155,249 124,468 19,480 2218 - 359,756
Eliminated on disposals nERER (198) (568) (44.426) (11,026) (3,8%) (4,708) - (64,821)
Impaimentlossrecognizedin -~ REEEZNEESE
profit or loss - - - - - - - -
Elimination on transfer to ERERANERAY
investment properties (137) - - - - - - (137)
At31 December 2023 RZBZZ%
T-A=1-A 486,098 1,298 1,400,769 805,172 162,222 184,218 - 3,039,777
CARRYING VALUE R
At 31 December 2023 RIB2=F
TZA=1-A 801,641 1123 1,010,109 693,759 34,504 105,269 160,415 2,806,820
At31 December 2022 RZFz=
tZA=t-A 814217 7 1062831 650045 B46 1028 2813 2910411
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T _=F+_FA=1+—HIFE

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
received government subsidy of RMB633,000 (2022:
RMB27,831,000 as a result of its expansion of
production capacity) as a result of its investment in
equipment upgrade. The subsidy was deducted from
the costs of relevant items of property, plant and
equipment.

The Group leases out machinery and other property
(mainly warehouses which are classified as buildings)
under operating leases with rentals payable monthly.
The leases run for a period of less than 3 years. None
of the leases includes variable lease payments.

The carrying amount of property, plant and
equipment have been allocated to following units of
groups of CGUs:

BT =F+_A=1+—HIFE"
7N 2 (8] R 45 B A AR 8 T A% T U R B T #
A A R #633,000T (— T = —F: FAiE
K RE T U EX A R #527,831,0007T) ° &
?fjimmﬁﬁ%% B MR TE B A

Nk o

AEBERBEEEEHHERSE RE MY
%(Exﬁ"*ﬁ%%?ﬁ’]?@) I fE#%
A HEKLZNHR B =FIA
N-HEHER S #EENRK-

ME BEERXE2ERASEE SRR
THREELEEMAS:

Vehicles’ power supply systems TEB RS

(“Unit A”) (Fﬁ{j Al) 614,562
Automotive components and other  JTEZ 2R K H b T 3

industrial services (“Unit B”): Hlﬁx(fﬁu B

— in the PRC operations — R EEE 2,163,967

— in Indonesia operations — RENE&E 47,816
Commercial vehicles assembly PR E®H ([Efic))

(“Unit C”) 348,771
Less: impairment B RE (264,705)

2,910,411

In view of the losses incurred by the Group over the
past few years, the management of the Group has
identified certain property, plant and equipment has
an indication of impairment loss. For the purposes of
impairment assessment, the management of the
Group estimated the recoverable amounts for
property, plant and equipment that has indication of
impairment loss with carrying amounts of
RMB597,976,000, RMB2,221,886,000, RMB41,805,000,
and RMB209,132,000 that have been allocated to
Unit A, Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia
operations and Unit C, respectively (2022:
RMB614,562,000, RMB2,163,967,000, RMB47,816,000,
and RMB348,771,000 for Unit A, Unit B in the PRC
operations, Unit B in Indonesia operations and Unit C,
respectively). The basis of the recoverable amounts
of these property, plant and equipment and their
principal underlying assumptions are summarized
below.

ERAEEBEHFESRIEE A5H
EEEBEHANEE TYE BEMRE
GERESETR REMEmE
AEEEREE AT FERESETR
ZYWE-BEERZREzTRESRE  H
FOBREENMA $uB<Wtﬂla@>~
BUB(REEZEE) REMC ZEAEE
oA A AR #597,976,0000T « A REE
2,221,886,0007T * A X #41,805,0007T
& AR #209,132,0000T (—Z T = — 4 :
BRIA ?ﬁﬁB(EAEPI’“” )~ BB (R
EEE)REUNCHRNABARE
614,562,000 * A K #2,163,967,000
7T ARMA47,816,0007T & A R
348,771,0007T) * ZEWE - HWE K&
ke eRE s AEREF ZRBRK
Bt an s o



The estimation of recoverable amounts was based
on the value in use of CGUs to which the property,
plant and equipment belong. The value in use
calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the management
covering an eight to ten years period, and discount
rates of 12.01%, 12.33%, 18.48% and 13.78% for Unit A,
Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia
operations and Unit C, respectively (2022: 12.34%,
13.02%, 16.03% and 13.87% for Unit A, Unit B in the
PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia operations and
Unit C, respectively), determined using Capital Asset
Pricing Model. The value in use calculations were
carried out by an independent valuer. The cash flows
for the next five years are extrapolated using sales
growth rate of -7.6% to 18.09%, 3.00% to 8.93%, 5.00%
to 8.00% and -53.88% to 12.94% for Unit A, Unit B in the
PRC operations, Unit B in Indonesia operations and
Unit C, respectively (2022: 3%, 3% to 14%, -10% to 11%
and 3% for Unit A, Unit B in the PRC operations, Unit B
in Indonesia operations and Unit C, respectively) per
annum, while cash flows beyond the five-year period
are all using a 3% or 5% (2022: 3% or 5%) sales growth
rate. These sales growth rates are based on the
Group’s budget, future business plan and the
forecasts of the relevant industries and do not
exceed the average long-term sales growth rate for
the relevant industries. Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculations included gross profit margins
estimated based on the units’ historical performance
and management’s expectation of the market
development.

Based on the result of the assessment, the
management of the Group determined that the
recoverable amounts of all units are higher than their
carrying amount. Based on the value in use
calculation, there is no need for further impairment
to be recognized in 2023. In 2022, the impairment of
RMB22,000,000 has been recognized against the
carrying amount of property plant and equipment
on Unit C.

EREEEZERARAT > —F=FFH

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—F_=F+A=1—HILFE

ARESENGHTRERYE BEK
REMBNRSELEMNERER-
FZRtE A AERREEERIEREN
E+EHEC U REEHE EH RS
NERFRErNEECERABEE S
A BMB(RAEZE) BB (R
ELE)REMCHH A12.01%
12.33% 18.48% #113.78% ( =& — —
FBUA BAB(RPEZE) B
B(REHEZEE)REBEAMCH A A
12.34% - 13.02% * 16.03% #113.87% ) 2
%ﬁfuﬂ»ﬁ%ﬁﬁ HTh BB
@%ﬂﬁ BRA BB (RPEE
B) BUB(RHEZEE)REBEMNCZ
BRAFZHEEREDNATF-76% 2
18.09% - 3.00% Z%8.93% - 5.00% Z8.00%
ﬂSS%%iugm 7777@ BAI
MB<W$I E) BB (RED
B)NMEMCHD R NA3% 3% =
4% -10% £11% 3% ) 2 4 & 18 K R
HE - mAFTHMER RS RERIGE
FA3% k5% ( =& = — 4 : 3% k5% ) $H
EREREEEH ZFHEEREULRE
B/ TEH « RIR ST AT & A48 BE 17 3508
RIBAAEE WABBHEBITECT
HRHAHEEERE -FHEENE R
ZHMEERZVEENE MG
IRENBERAREEBEMSEE
ZIERIED -

ERNFHER ASEEREREME
B2 AR El 2B RN RS 2 REE -
$E%Fﬁﬁﬁﬁ1ﬁu+%; BEAR-_ZT =%
E—IHRRE- R_T_—_F B
CZW¥ - BE RFEHE 2 EAERERR
& A R #22,000,0007T °
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13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 13. FRHEEE

Leasehold
lands Buildings Equipment Total

HELit BF R 5t

RMB'000 ~ RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETE ARBTT ARETT

Net book value: R E FHE ¢
As at 31 December 2021 RZ-ZB=—f
and 1 January 2022 +=-A=+—-Hk
—E-__%—H-—H 208,961 10,541 - 219,502
Additions NE - 92,978 13,520 106,498
Transfer from investment B SR &Y%
properties 4,664 - - 4,664
Depreciation change for FRTEE (L
the year (8,774)  (38,831) (6,760)  (54,365)
Transfer to investment EREREYE
properties (3,760) - - (3,760)
As at 31 December 2022 RZ-ZZE=-—f
and 1 January 2023 +=A=+—-HEK
—E-=f—-—HA—H 201,091 64,688 6,760 272,539
Additions NE - 7,234 - 7,234
Transfer from investment & BIREME
properties 3,492 - - 3,492
Depreciation change for ~ FRITE &1L
the year (4,646) (39,036) (6,760) (50,442)
Transfer to investment BREREYE
properties (8,749) - - (8,749)
As at 31 December 2023 RZ-ZZE==%f
+=A=+-—-8H 191,188 32,886 - 224,074
2023 2022
—EB= =B
RMB’000 RMB’000
AT AREFIT
Expense relating to leases of EHHEREEEERN
low-value assets (note) Fx (K1zF) 109 107
Total cash outflow for leases HER ST 40,956 31,511
Note: The Group applies the recognition exemption of Wit AEBEHEKEEEEHERRBER
right-of-use assets for lease of low-value assets. Lease BEERRHBE - KEEEAEHEDN
payments on leases of low value assets are ME MR EREERH RN HER
recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over RFX -

the lease term.
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13. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Leasehold lands and buildings are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the term of the leases.

For both years, the Group leases leasehold lands and
buildings for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 5 years for
buildings, and 45 to 50 years for leasehold lands.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and
assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and
determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

D FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B I ERaR M EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—F_=F+A=1—HILFE

13. EAEEE (@)

HETMEBFUEREINEANET
FeE-

RMEFE AEEHRE L METH
REE -BFHES K AL12(8 A £55 1
BEEMTZL MEELTHOEESH
Al /345 504F 78 & 551 J5 7 8 Bl Z
LR BEREBRTREGR RS-
EE RS N A A N AT RH R R S
AEEEBAONERLEBTES AR
BT B -

14. IREWE

FAIR VALUE DFE
1 January 2022 RN-ZTE-_—_F—H—H 452,093
Transfer to property, plant and equipment and EREYE - HEREHLR
right-of-use assets, net FREEE(F5E) (10,458)
Disposal of investment properties HEREYHE (5,560)
Increase in fair value recognized in other EE@%EH&Z SR TER 2
comprehensive income NSRRI 7,128
Decrease in fair value recognized in profit or loss  PAEZEFER 2 A FER D (1,745)
Exchange adjustments b 5B 457
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZEFZZF+=-A=+—H
R_Z_=F—H—H 441,915
Transfer to property, plant and equipment and EREYE - HEREHELR
right-of-use assets, net FEREEE(CFHE) (3,672)
Increase in fair value recognized in other EE@%EHQ?&J ®R.Z
comprehensive income AEE 4,245
Decrease in fair value recognized in profit or loss ~ AI83FHER 2 AFER D (6,144)
Exchange adjustments M 5, 8 B 7
At 31 December 2023 RZB_=F+-_A=+—H 436,351
2023
—g=-=
RMB’000
AR¥ETT
Investment properties located in: IR A T H 5 R B W5 -
Mainland China AR B K e 431,630 437,300
Hong Kong B 4,721 4,615
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i ——

=F+-_A=1+—HIFE

notes:

0)

(i)

All of the Group’s investment property interests held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are
classified and accounted for as investment properties.
The Group’s investment properties are situated in
Hong Kong and the Mainland China, and held under
medium-term lease.

The Group leases out industrial and residential
properties under operating leases with rentals payable
monthly. The leases typically run for an initial period of
1 to 3 years.

The Group is not exposed to foreign currency risk as a
result of the lease arrangements, as all leases are
denominated in the respective functional currencies of
the Group entities. The lease contracts do not contain
residual value guarantee and/or lessee’s option to
purchase the property at the end of lease term.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as
at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on the respective dates by Jones Lang LaSalle, an
independent qualified professional valuer not
connected to the Group.

For the investment properties in Hong Kong, the
valuation was arrived at by reference to market
evidence of transaction prices for similar properties in
the similar locations and conditions. There has been
no change from the valuation technique used for the
investment properties situated in Hong Kong in prior
year. For the investment properties in the Mainland
China, the valuation was made with reference to
depreciated replacement cost approach.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current
use.

One of the key inputs used in valuing the investment
properties in Hong Kong was the price per square
feet. For the investment properties situated in Hong
Kong, they ranged from RMB4,872 to RMB5,923 (2022:
RMB3,896 to RMB6,895). A slight increase in the price
per square feet used would results in significant
increase in fair value adjustment of the respective
investment properties and vice versa.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HEr—F =+ _A=+1+—HItFEF

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. REWE (#)
notes: (Continued) Hifat - (48)
(i)  (Continued) () (&)
For the investment properties situated in the Mainland MAURPRERENREYENS &
China, details of significant unobservable input are as AN R @ ABIRFIFOT
follows:
Range of
unobservable Relationship of unobservable
Unobservable inputs inputs inputs to fair value
THEERA FTUEERRARE
THEERARMER BREE HEHATEMBERE
Construction cost per square meter From RMB1,260 The higher the construction
— Based on the type of building structure and to RMB2,890 cost per square meter, the
taking into account market data on current higher-the fair value

construction costs for similar properties
located in nearby cities

FF 7 REERA ARM1,260tE  BFFREERAES RTE
— BBEFEBREE ST R AR BB T 2 FE L AR¥2890 #E
Y B RIS A 2 HI5E R
Economic life of buildings Over the The longer the useful life, the
— Taking into account the estimated useful remaining higher the fair value
life of buildings depending on the building lease terms
structure
BT TSN  AERAFHER ATEES
— T RARBEF AR AR 2 BT E AR A F A
The fair value hierarchy of the Group’s investment RZZBZ=F+=-A=+—8H K&
properties as at 31 December 2023 are categorized EREME I NTFERNBE= -
as Level 3.
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during FAN - PEE=REALE L -
the year.
15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 15. RS R F 2=
Interests in associates REE QT 2w
2023 2022
—E=F —E_—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARKFT
Cost of unlisted investments in BrE NEl 2 IEETRE
associates BXAR 867,786 867,786
Share of post-acquisition loss and FEAG W B 1 B 18 I E At
other comprehensive expense 2HEMAX (95,626) (13,560)
Dividend received from an associate J&UgH# & A &) 2 %8 (1,800) =

770,360 854,226
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15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15. REFE R T 2= (90)
Interests in associates (Continued) REE AT 2= (8)
Details of the Group’s associates at the end of the RMEHR AEE2BERAFFER
reporting period are as follows: T

Country of Proportion of Proportion of
establishment/  ownership interest voting rights held Principal
Name of entity operation held by the Group by the Group activities
B/ &E& AREFRiGREE
ERER FAEER RS LL AEEFERRAELS FEXRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=§ ZB-"E —F-=f 8-

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automotive ~ The PRC 50.00% 50.00% 42.86% 42.86% Manufacture
Seating Co., Limited (note 1) (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Seating”) accessories of

motor vehicles

HERMM) TERBERAR  FH 50.00% 50.00%  42.86% 42.86% BERHEAE
(& mER]) (Hzt1)  (Hf1) [

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Automotive  The PRC 50.00% 50.00% 40.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Interior Systems Co., Limited (note 1) (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Interior”) accessories of

motor vehicles

BET (MM AZAHERER B 50.00% 50.00% 40.00% 40.00% HERHEEAE
AR HEEAH]) (Wet1) (1) ot

Faurecia (Liuzhou) Emissions The PRC 50.00% 50.00% 40.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Control Technologies Co., Ltd. (note 1) (note 1) and sale of
(“FL Emissions”) accessories of

motor vehicles

1;#; T () ER RS RITAR hE 50.00% 50% 40.00% 40.00% EHEEREEAE

Al([fFERHER]) (Hfzt1)  (Hfz1) [

Liuzhou Leadrive Electronic The PRC 40.00% 40.00% 40.00% 40.00% Manufacture
Control Technology Co., Ltd. and sale of
(“Liuzhou Leadrive”) accessories of

motor vehicles

MNBEEERRERAR HE 40.00% 40.00%  40.00% 4000% HERFEERE
([#0ME% ) fie (4

Liuzhou Wuling New Energy The PRC 26.76% 27.2T% 28.57% 28.57% Manufacture
Motors Company Limited (note 1) (note 1) and sale of
(“Wuling New Energy”) new energy

vehicles

MNEZER R EER AR i 26.76% 27.27% 28.57% 2857% BUERHEMER
(TRZE3ER]) (Hzt1)  (Hf1) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Interests in associates (Continued)

Note 1:

In accordance with the memorandum and articles
of the entities, relevant activities of the entity
requires consent with simple majority in the board
of directors. The Group is able to appoint two out
of seven directors, three out of seven directors, two
out of five directors and two out of five directors in
the board of the Wuling New Energy, FL Seating, FL
Interior and FL Emissions, respectively, thus the
Group is only able to exercise significant influence
in the entities. As a result, Wuling New Energy, FL
Seating, FL Interior and FL Emissions are accounted
for as associates at the end of the reporting period.

Summarized financial information of the Group’s
associates

The associates are accounted for using the equity
method in the consolidated financial statements.

v',R

B IEERRMIRE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

BE—F_ZF+-_A=1—HIFE

15. RSBl 225 (&)
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE T -—=F+-A=1—HIFE

15. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 15. RBtE QT 2’E (8
Summarized financial information of the Group’s AEEBREQATMBEERBE (&)
associates (Continued)
Summarized financial information in respect of the REEEE QS HEERBEESHS AT o

Group’s associates are set out below.

230

2023
gk
8 R | Luzhou Wuling New fl fl Liuzhou - Wuling New
Seating Interior  Emissions ~ Leadive Energy © Seating Inteior ~ Emissions  Leadlive Energy
BEZER GEDAH GEDHR  WARE DENMR | GEOER GEohn GEEiR iEE iR
RMBO00  RMBUOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBUOO | RMBOOO.  RMBUOD  RMBUOO  RMBO0D. RMB'000
ABBTL ARETT ARBTT ARETL ABRTL ARETE ARETR ARETE ARNTE ARTR
(note ) (note )
(W)
Financial information of statement of profitorloss ~ B=RER2ENEHEZ
and other comprehensie income HEEy
Revenue WA 275,562 369,991 384273 67,211 785,475 309412 367,590 460512 115,740 465,561
(Loss) profitand total comprehensive (expense) £ (B AR R2E(HR)
income for the year s (36,489) 42,368 4798 (19,076)  (298,110) (L976) 19,130 2,342 9171 (30,752)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive (expense)  AEBFE(SER (HE) &
income for the year atiibutable tothe Group ~~ R27 (R s 48 (18245) 21184 2399 (1630)  (19774) (988) 9,565 1 (3908)  (83%)
Dividends received fiom associates duing the ~~ £REABIERF 28
year - (1,800) - - - = = = - =
Financialinformation of statement of francial Bt ZE1EEH
posttion
Non-curent assets FRAEE 65530 63305 5472 3I@24 202409 48530 G531 66314 3467 1633856
Current assets FHEE 290418 458,181 393071 116257 1317748 265432 3128% 216,028 147966 1745213
Curent abilties S95E (2300)  (4529)  (BU%I)  (108%31) (LIBSE) (14185 (222108  (1661%8)  (122207) (1018071)
Non-curent fabilties FiBEE (52246) (3168 (9650) - (%) (163) (920) - - (36760
Net assets of the associates BELFLFRE Q400 206 1092 45150 L7451 118150 234998 U614 B426 20423
The above amounts of assets and liabiiesinclude  Fil EZRAEEBRE
the folowing: ThIE:
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEERR H3 20484 88,014 9705 696,008 57859 152,150 24,801 16600 1192916
Cunent financial liablites (excludng tade and &4 BAE(TREENE
other payables and provisions) ARERERERER) - - - - - = = = - =
Reconcilition to the camying amounts of interests - EB# AREXETEL
in the associates: H%:
Net assets attibutable to the equity holders of the B4R FIR 24 AEf5
associates ZEEE 82,400 213,026 120942 45150 1754514 118,150 234998 116,144 64226 2,014,236
Proportion of the Group's ownemshipinterests i~ AEERBIENF 2 EAfE
the associates B 50% 50% 50% 40% 26.76% 50% 50% 50% 40% 21.21%
Net assefs of nterests n the associates attibutable  FEEE[SREART 2
to the Group EnTAE 400 136513 60471 18060 469508 5075 107499 58072 B0 549282
Fair value adjustment (note) DFEER (W) - - - () - - - (% 2w
Goodwil B - - - - 45218 = - - - 45218
Canying amounts of the Group’s nterestsinthe  AEEREE AT
associates EEE 41,200 136513 60471 14736 517,440 50,075 117499 58,072 22,366 597,214
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarized financial information of the Group’s
associates (Continued)

Note:

(i) On 30 November 2022, the Company and Wuling
Industrial completed the acquisition of 13.76% and
13.51% interests in Liuzhou Wuling New Energy Motors
Company Limited respectively, through a capital
increase agreement, pursuant to which (i) the
Company made a cash contribution of
RMB305,600,000 to Wuling New Energy and (ii) Wuling
Industrial completed the capital contribution of
RMB300,000,000 to Wuling New Energy by way of the
injection of certain related assets and equipment at
value of RMB84,866,000 and a cash contribution of
RMB215,134,000. On 28 February 2023 and 31 May
2023, the other shareholders paid up registered
capital, which caused dilution of the Group’s equity
share of Wuling New Energy.

INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

AR e B IS R MY RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

15. FAHE
AEEBRSATNNBEERHRE (&)

0)

Cost of unlisted investments in joint RELRAIMNIELTRE

BE T =+ —_F=1—HIFFE

BrE QRS ()

R-BE-_—_F+—A=+H &AAQA
MAZETEFBEEHZE D BTRK
BN AZEHERTIEERAQ A
13.76% K% 13.51% #z - IR L - () A A
AIMAEZEHERIEREARKE
305,600,0007T % (i) L2 T %5 18F A
fB{E A R #84,866,0007T H) % T 18 4
BERSZBEREIABSEARSE
215,134,0007T 52 AX [F] 71 2 37 6L TR A9 %
& A R #300,000,0007Tc R - T — =
E_A-+N \BM-_ZTZ-_=FAA
=t+—H HMBRRHARIMER B
BAEER AR R ZE e R R
PE

—8=-=
RMB’000
ARMTFT

venture [B%N 166,469 243,469
Share of post-acquisition loss and FEAE U B 14 B 1R I Eo At

other comprehensive expense 2EX M (42,529) (72,627)
Dividend received from a joint Bl EE R RIS

venture (3,500) (3,500)
Release upon disposal of a joint LEA &R aERER

venture - (22,521)
Transfer to equity instrument at RSN ER AELM

FVTOCI PHRRZERTA - (42,765)

120,440 102,056
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Details of the Group’s material joint ventures at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Country of Proportion of
establishment/
Name of entity operation
B/ &E& AREFRiGHEE
ERER FAEEXR RS LL
2023
—g==
Liuzhou AAM Automotive The PRC 50%
Driveline Systems Co., Limited
(“Liuzhou AAM")
MNEBAEEBDZRER A HE 50%
(TR )
Note:
(i) The joint ventures are jointly controlled by the Group

and other shareholders by virtue of contractual
arrangements among shareholders which requires
more than two-third shareholders’ approval for major
business decisions. Therefore, they are classified as
joint ventures of the Group.

232

ownership interest
held by the Group

et -

0)

Proportion of
voting rights held
by the Group

Principal
activities
AREF
FRHELLHI

IREY

2023 2022
—=—=

—_—r—

—E--

50% 50% Manufacture

(notej)  and sale of

automotive

components

50% 50% RERHERE
(frzi)  TEMH

SERRAAEERH KRR
Rz AR PR EX 2
EBARALBB=D 22— 2BR
HiE-FHi - BERR D BRAEE

BERA -
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 16. REEQTIZHEEZ (#)

Summarized financial information of material BEXEGEQATZHEERBME
joint ventures

All of these joint ventures are accounted for using the FIBZEEE N NIRER AR A
equity method in the consolidated financial REMBEmE -

statements.

Summarized financial information in respect of the BBEAREBERNEGE QR 2T HEREE
Group’s material joint ventures is set out below. ZHHIMT -

2023 2022
—m— = —z——

—_——

Liuzhou AAM Liuzhou AAM

LB BB
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARETFT AREFT

Financial information of statement of 1823 J¢ B i 2 E 75 #i 7

profit or loss and other L BER

comprehensive income
Revenue A 3,174 80,857
Loss and total comprehensive FHEEREERZ B

expense for the year (6,474) (19,082)
Loss and total comprehensive AEBEEFEFANEER

expense for the year, attributable to 2/ > 425

the Group (3,237) (9,541)
The above financial information LI BERBETS

include the following: FIE :
Depreciation and amortization e R (4,200) (3,763)
Interest expenses FERZ (70) (868)
Interest income FLEWA 101 683
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16. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 16. REEQBIZHEZE (»)

Summarized financial information of material BEXGELNRZUBERBE (&)
joint ventures (Continued)

2023 2022
—E-= ==
Liuzhou AAM | Liuzhou AAM

WM =AT B
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT

Financial information of statement of B 7%k 82 2 Bl i & #)

financial position
Non-current assets FERBEE 6,764 59,270
Current assets MENE E 76,623 80,005
Current liabilities mEBE (34,303) (79,766)
Non-current liabilities FRBALE - (3,951)
Net assets of the joint ventures BENRIFEE 49,084 55,558
The above amounts of assets and FHEERABESEEE

liabilities include the following: TH&IR -
Cash and cash equivalents Re KA EEEE 23,509 19,051
Current financial liabilities (excluding R#/& @& & (NEIERE

trade and other payables and BRIE I EL fth JE - 5RIB %

provisions) i) - (23,433)
Reconciliation to the carrying HAEENRREERAEY

amounts of interests in the joint R -

ventures:
Net assets attributable to the equity & & A RIIER B A&

holders of the joint ventures BEFE 49,084 55,558
Less: Capital reserve not shared by  Ji © A& B & (5B (558

the Group 2B - =
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBERAE RN A2

interests in the joint ventures AR 50% 50%
Net assets of interests in joint ventures ANEEEES 2 QA

attributable to the Group ZEERE 24,542 27,779
Carrying amounts of the Group’s AEBREGERNA 2R

interests in the joint ventures ZRmEE 24,542 27,779
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INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued) 16. REEQTIZHEEZ (#)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are ERIFEREE AT ZELER
not individually material

2023 2022
—F== —F—_—

—_——

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥Frx AE®FT
(note (i)
(Bt3E (i)

The Group’s share of profit and total 7N [ fE {5 % K &2 2

comprehensive income WS 4asE 121 5,753
Aggregate carrying amount of the ~ RNEERAZ AR Z
Group’s interests in joint ventures w2 BREARE 95,898 74,277
Note: Bt -
(i) The Group has injected cash of RMB25,000,000 () FTEESFEBRLEOMAEERES
separately as capital on a pro-rata basis into NAlZ —ERERAEMER NG ([E
one of the Group’s joint ventures, Guangxi FE M) E AH S AR 25,000,000
Weixiang Machinery Company Limited T ERBARS  LAE— S e B i
(“Guangxi Weixiang”) this year, aiming at further R o

strengthening its financial position.

EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE 17. BATFEFARMEEEA
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ZESZTH
INCOME
2023 2022
—Egq=-= —=F=——
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥EFrx AREFr
Unlisted investment: FELTIRE
— Equity security — S 42,765 44,707
On 29 August 2022, the Group sold 10% of its equity in RZE-_—_FNA-+HLB AEESH
Liuzhou Lingte Power Technology Co., Ltd. (“Liuzhou EHRNUINZESES ARIBEERE AT ([
Lingte”) at the appraised value of RMB22,521,000. No INZER ) M10% i HEAB AR
material gain or loss on such disposal of equity in 22,521,0007T ° % £ gt 1 & M0 22 05 AR
Liuzhou Lingte has been recognized. After that, the EHEAEANSZHEE B KAER
Group no longer has a joint control or material HYIMNZERTNBA LRIES s E R E -
influence on Liuzhou Lingte. The directors of the RNRREEDBEEEYIMNZEFRIeRARHE
Company have elected to designate the remaining BEABEAFEFT AH M2 R AR
interest in Liuzhou Lingte as equity instrument at mLE RAREWIFFEEER-

FVTOCI as it is not held for trading.
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17.

18.
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E-ZFF - A=F—HIFFE
EQUITY INSTRUMENT AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Continued)

On 22 February 2023, the Group sold the equity
interest in Fujian New Long Ma Automotive Co., Ltd.
(BEHFEFSAERMBBERAQF) (‘New Long Ma”) at
the appraised value of RMB1,942,000. No material
gain or loss on such disposal of equity in New Long
Ma has been recognised.

17.

BOFEGFARMEEIA
ZHE=TH®

RZBE-_=F-_A=-+=-H AEEH
EERBEFTESAERDERAQR
(FEBHEZ EFEAARE
1,942,000t BER T EHESE=
HRE AR EE -

INVENTORIES 18. #8
2023
—E=—=

RMB’000

AREFT
Raw materials R 511,979 777,649
Work in progress ERm 88,721 136,351
Finished goods LIRK oh 205,703 336,225
806,403 1,250,225

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the cost
of inventories recognized as an expense and
included in “Cost of sales and services” in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss and other
comprehensive income amounted to
RMB9,341,009,000 (2022: RMB11,577,961,000).
Included in cost of inventories recognized as a loss of
RMB5,056,000 is an allowances for inventories
recognized during the year ended 31 December
2023. (2022: RMB1,295,000).

REBE_T-_=ZF+_A=+—HLHF
B RRAAI I AGREaEm kA
EEREREERRBERAIBEE Z
FE KA A AR 19,341,009,0007T (=
T~ —4F: AR¥11,577,961,0007T) °
REBE-_ZT-_=F+-_A=+—H8LHF
ERANTFERG T AERBBENT
&k A A R #5,056,000T (ZE = =
& - B A R #51,295,0007T) ©
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Guangxi Automobile of RMB55,920,000 (2022:
RMB3,710,000). The amount is rebate compensation
for purchasing electric vehicles spare parts (e.g.
automotive battery) from Guangxi Automobile.

The Group allows credit period of 30 days to 180 days
for sales of goods to its trade customers.

BE-—F-——F+-H=+—HIFZF
19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. FE W BR IR K EL {th FE U 3K
2023
—g-=
RMB’000
ARBFT
Trade receivables: FEMERA -
— SAIC-GM-Wuling Automobile Co., = J:ﬁﬁ}ﬂ AZEERMER (a)
Limited (“SGMW") AR ERBAREZE]) 1,460,360 1,111,305
— Guangxi Automobile Group (other than — Ef/SEE£E (AEH LR (b)
Wuling New Energy) BRoM) 8,385 40,761
— Wuling New Energy — REHER (d) 97,465 57,308
— Guangxi Weixiang — EREA (c) - 4
— Liuzhou AAM — MIMER (c) - 1,271
— FL Seating — BELER (d) 1,508 3,732
— FL Interior — HE A (d) 6,829 13,020
— FL Emissions — BEEHR (d) 16,165 2,096
— Liuzhou Leadrive — W (d) 8 28
— Qingdao Lanqj Liuji Motors Technology — 5B EEs) HRl AR (c)
Company Limited (‘Qingdao Lang") AR BEBEE]) 13,833 -
— Third parties —%=h 1,233,823 1,112,842
2,838,376 2,342,367
Less: Allowance for credit losses W EEEERE (100,843) (78,486)
Subtotal et 2,737,533 2,263,881
Other receivables H AR FIE (e) 117,582 72,753
Less: Allowance for credit losses - EEBERE (6,885) (770)
Subtotal et 110,697 71,983
Prepayments BARE 62,719 139,514
Value-added tax recoverable A ER 15,865 5,823
Total trade and other receivables RS R At IR IR B8 2,926,814 2,481,201
notes: Bifa: -
(a) Guangxi Automobile has significant influence over (@ EASEHLSBERRAZEEEATE
SGMW. H o
(b) Being Guangxi Automobile and its subsidiaries and (b) BIEFEAREUAREMBARREE A
associates other than the Group and SGMW A (AREBR ERBRAZERII) (5
(collectively referred to as the “Guangxi Automobile BIEASEER]) -
Group”).
(c) Guangxi Weixiang, Qingdao Langi and Liuzhou AAM (c) BEHED SEEELIMNERBAERN
are joint ventures of the Group. EFENEE AT
(d) Wuling New Energy, FL Seating, FL Interior, FL Emissions (d HEHER HBEEEE HE2A
and Liuzhou Leadrive are associates of the Group. o E R R UMNEREAKEE
ZHEENT] o
(e) Included in other receivables are amount due from (e) EHbEIKFIEEIEEWERSEIE

AR #55920,0007T (=& — — 4
3,710,0007T) - Z & R AR ERE THE
BEEHIETRME (W FEEM)H
BRFFE -

AEEMBEEEMR THESRF,30E
180521*13%
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE—F_=F+A=1—HILFE

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Included in the trade and other receivables are
trade receivables of RMB2,737,533,000 (2022:
RMB2,263,881,000) and an ageing analysis of trade
receivables (net of allowance for credit losses)
presented based on the invoice date is as follows:

19. BEWERF R HMEYWFIE (&)

JE LS BR 3Kk K L At FE UK 3R T8 B 45 FE U BR TR
/\E%Z?S?SBSOOOE(_-\,::

A K #2263,881,0007T) © &2 E = H Hi
2z EWRE (NMREEBBERES)
BRERDITIAT -

2023
—EFE=-=

RMB’000

AR¥EFT
0-90 days 0Z90H 2,612,208 2,114,644
91-180 days 912180 H 90,662 100,833
181-365 days 181 =365 H 20,193 39,780
Over 365 days B8 365 H 14,470 8,624
2,737,533 2,263,881

As at 31 December 2023, included in the Group’s
trade receivables balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of RMB255,968,000 (2022:
RMB77,638,000) which are past due at the end of the
reporting period. Out of the past due balances,
RMB39,554,000 (2022: RMB24,207,000) has been past
due 90 days or more and is not considered as in
default since these balances could be recovered
based on the repayment history and the current
creditworthiness of these customers. The Group does

not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables for the year ended 31 December 2023

are set out in note 38(b)(iii).
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EWEEBE Rafisgagd ARK
39,554, 00075(_ S _F: AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B IS SRR b EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
HEr—F =+ _A=+1+—HItFEF

20. BILLS RECEIVABLE AT FAIR VALUE 0. EAFEFAHMBEUA

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE ZEBBRRR

INCOME

2023 2022
—Eg-=
RMB’000 RMB ‘000
AEBH¥TT ARBTF T
Bills receivable (note i): FEWEEIR (BY7Ei) -
— SGMW — PUEREZE 153,645 892,443
— Guangxi Automobile Group — BEAAREEE
(other than Wuling New Energy) (RZEFRERKRIN) 15,917 2,763
— Wuling New Energy — AZEHEER 597 6,493
— Guangxi Weixiang — BEFER - 6,500
— FL Seating — 1 oo A 13,124 -
— Third parties = A=7 222,812 215,341
406,095 1,123,540
Bills receivable discounted with FiiiE =4 2 B BRIR B
recourse (note ii) S8’ (Kai) 3,263,321 3,384,607
3,669,416 4,508,147
notes: Bt -

()  Bills receivable represent bills received from customers () FEWEREERR S ER S E R W
to settle the trade receivables. The bills receivable are BERCEB - BUEBEREZ REZE
mainly bank acceptance bills with a primary maturity B H D R180K By SR 1T & L B 5 - IR IR
period of less than 180 days. The ageing analysis WERFEEE B2 ZERES TN
based on the date of receipt of bills from customers is ™
as follow:

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fx ARETFIT
0-90 days 0Z£90H 339,641 747,938
91-180 days 91%=180H 66,454 375,503
181-365 days 181%365H - 99
406,095 1,123,540
As 31 December 2023, there was no bills payable RZEZ=F+=—A=+—H HBE
secured by pledge of bills receivable. As 31 ENEERERREERER R
December 2022, the bills payable were secured by T-_—_F+-A=+—H EFRHEEK
pledge of bills receivable with an aggregate carrying Fh BR M 42 {8 A K #5646,860,0007T K f&
value of RMB646,860,000. W R IRE AEAR
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

HE T -_=Ff+_HA=+—HIFZF
20. BILLS RECEIVABLE AT FAIR VALUE

21.

240

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (Continued)

notes: (Continued)

(i)  The amounts represent bills receivable discounted to
some banks or Guangxi Automobile with recourse
with a primary maturity period of less than 180 days.
The Group recognizes the full amount of the discount
proceeds as liabilities as set out in note 27.

The ageing analysis based on the date of receipt of
bills from customers is presented as follows:

0-90 days
91-180 days

0%90H
91%180H

20.

BATFESAEMEZEHIA
ZEWNERE &)

KiaE: (48)

(i) ZeBELATBIBRITNERIEN
BREZEHEEBREER 2R
180H A B HA - 78 & & 40 B sE 27 Fr 8K 1§
BRI RIBEEEREAEE-

BEKINEFEREB2INZEHED
M :

2023
—F-=F

RMB’000
ARETFT

1,404,202
1,859,119

1,493,382
1,891,225

3,263,321 3,384,607

Details of impairment assessment of bills receivable
at FVTOCI are set out in note 38(b)(iii).

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following are the Group’s financial assets as at 31
December 2023 and 2022 that are transferred to
banks or Guangxi Automobile by discounting those
receivables on a full recourse basis. As the Group has
not transferred the significant risks and rewards
relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognize the full carrying amount of the receivables
and has recognized the cash received on the
transfer as a secured borrowing. These financial
assets are carried at fair value in the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position.

21.

BAFESARMEEAKRSEZ BREE
BB RY fih 7 1B B P TE38(b) (i) ©

EBEpEE

LWTAREEN - -_=ZFK-_F—_—
FH+-_A=t+—HzZeMEE FBK
M 2 BB R R RN IR 2 5 G IA M)
SRBPOFERAEEZ - ARNAEER
2 R N GIAER 2 E AR
MEH EEE>BEAERRAZR
E{E - Wik A KT G S iR I
ZHRE HESRMEERATFTERESE
B BRI RS R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

22.

(Continued)

Bills receivable discounted to banks or Guangxi

Automobile with full recourse:

21.

ARE B IS SRR RE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Br—E-—=aFf+ - fA=+—HIFEF
EReMEE (o)

BN EBERREEASRRITHED
MR RRER:

2023 2022
—E-= —=E-
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥For ARETFIT
Fair value of transferred assets (note) #:# & EHAFE (ML) 3,263,321 3,384,607
Carrying amount of associated M A EREE
liabilities (3,274,069) (3,395,997)
Net position JFERANT (10,748) (11,390)
Note: The fair value of transferred assets as at 31 Wit: EBBEER_T-_=F+=A
December 2023 included an accumulated fair value =+t BZATERERFTAFE
loss of RMB21,880,000 (2022: RMB22,079,000). E18 A R 121,880,000t (— & = —
& AR #22,079,0007T) °
PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK 22. BEHRITHER RITERR

BALANCES AND CASH

The pledged bank deposits are used to secure the
bills payable and short-term bank borrowings which
are payable within one year. Accordingly, the
pledged bank deposits are classified as current
assets. Bank balances and cash comprise deposits
with banks with the original maturity of three months
or less and cash at bank and on hand.

The pledged bank deposits and bank balances
carried interest rates as follows:

Fixed/variable

B2 ER
Pledged deposits Fixed/Variable
EERTFR B2 ZE
Bank balances Fixed/Variable
RITAEER BE/ 28

Be

BEERRITEFRIDARASAR —FAE
BZRNEBRERHRITEEFEER
Bt EEHIRITERDERRDEE -
RITEHRLEACBRARIBAER=(E
H:JZLATZ&E THERERITREFRE

BB HIRIT R RARTT A SR IR A TR
A%

0.20%-1.85% 0.25%-1.95%

0.05%-6.60% 0.01%-5.55%

Details of impairment assessment of pledged bank
deposits and bank balances are set out in note
38(b).

EERRITERRRITE SRR ER
FHIEE N E38(b) °
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. B ERMR E B RIE
2023 2022
—EgE=-= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARSFT
Trade and bills payables: RN REN TR : (@)
— SGMW — btAEEAAE 101,751 151,899
— Guangxi Automobile — ERAEEE
Group 44,805 43,013
— FL Seating — o 40,875 40,485
— FL Interior — E RN 49,549 34,284
— FL Emissions — BERHER 22,778 17,832
— Liuzhou Leadrive — PN R 11,235 67,079
— Other related parties — HfEEER 11,887 7,176
— Third parties —%=75 5,389,234 5,811,682
5,672,114 6,173,450
Value added and other tax 8B T 1< SR I K E At
payables FEIBIIR 38,736 124,018
Accrued research and FERTRREE R
development expenses 148,287 104,004
Accrued staff costs fEEHE TR A 116,512 94,821
Deposits received from suppliers YZER{E FE 374 57,586 63,765
Other payables E M pE T FRIR 136,122 99,472
Total trade and other payables [& 1‘JL BR 3K I ELAtb FE 1
TIRMETE 6,169,357 6,659,530
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e B IS SRR b EE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
BE T =F+-"A=+—HItFE

Notes:

(@)

An ageing analysis of trade and bills payables based

on the invoice date is presented as follows:

Trade payables

23.

P BRFR R ELAth PB4 TR TE ()

et

(a) RHAZERHZINZEMNERRENSE

RARER DM T :

FEAY BRIE

2023 2022

—g=-= -2
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARKFIT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 2,474,464 2,347,911
91 to 180 days 91%180H 105,269 135,884
181 to 365 days 181%365H 57,051 180,263
Over 365 days B3A365H 120,195 179,077
2,756,979 2,843,135

Bills payable ENRE

2023 2022
—g=-= —E__F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFiT ARSFT
0 to 90 days 0£90H 1,315,487 1,773,920
91 to 180 days 91%180H 1,599,648 1,556,395
2,915,135 3,330,315
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24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES SHAEE
2023
—gq-=

RMB’000

AR¥FT
Sales of engines SHE B @) 21,263 11,573
Sales of specialized vehicles HEZRRE @) 122,105 135,840
Use of technology knowhow A BT AN 3 (b) 6,540 8,006
149,908 155,419
Current BIER 143,368 147,413
Non-current JEENER 6,540 8,006
149,908 155,419

Contract liabilities, that are expected to be realis